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Summary Risk Factors

Our business is subject to numerous risks and uncertainties, including those highlighted in Part I Item 1A Risk Factors of this
Report. The following is a summary of the principal risks we face:

• We are an early stage company with a history of losses, and expect to incur significant losses for the foreseeable
future.

• Our operating and financial projections rely on management assumptions and analyses. If these assumptions or
analyses prove to be incorrect, as they often have in the past, our actual operating results may be materially different
from our expected or forecasted results.

• We have yet to achieve positive operating cash flow and our ability to generate positive cash flow is uncertain.

• We have no previous history or experience with commercializing software products and may not be able to do so
efficiently, effectively or at all. We were unsuccessful in our efforts to commercialize the hardware technologies that
we and our predecessor companies developed over the past several decades.

• Successful commercialization of our AI/ML Foundational Technology and related products may be delayed beyond
our current expectations and therefore product availability to customers, customer acquisition and receipt of software
licensing revenue could be delayed.

• Our anticipated revenues are expected to be primarily derived from the licensing of our AI/ML software products for
the foreseeable future.

• Any issues in the development and use of our AI/ML Foundational Technology or related products, or issues in
products developed by others, may result in reputational harm or liability.

• Our AI/ML Foundational Technology and related products are new technologies and the timing and magnitude of
revenues from customers is uncertain. If we cannot successfully commercialize our AI/ML Foundational Technology
and related products on our expected schedule, if our technology does not offer our potential customers the features,
functionality and return on investment that they expect and/or if potential customers are not willing to pay for our
software products at the license rates that we currently expect, our ability to generate material revenues will be
materially impaired.

• If we are not able to generate material revenues from our software products before we exhaust our financial resources,
we may need to cease business operations.

• We may fail to attract or retain customers at sufficient rates or in sufficient numbers or at all.

• We have no previous history with our licensing sales model.

• Important assumptions about market demand, pricing, adoption rates and sales cycles for our software products may
be inaccurate.

• The products related to our AI/ML Foundational Technology require certain limited hardware components, and we
are dependent on our suppliers, some of which are currently single, sole or limited source suppliers. Any inability of
these suppliers to deliver necessary components of our products at prices, volumes, performance, timing and
specifications acceptable to us, could have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects, financial condition
and operating results.

• We operate in a competitive industry that is subject to rapid technological change, and we expect competition to
increase. Our products may not be competitive with other alternatives.

• We may not be able to complete or enhance our product offerings through our research and development efforts.

• Real or perceived design flaws, errors, defects, glitches, bugs or malfunctions in our AI/ML Foundational Technology
and related products, failure of our software products to perform as expected, connectivity issues or user errors can
result in lower than expected return on investment for customers, personal injury or property damage and significant
security or safety concerns, each of which could materially and adversely affect our results of operations, financial
condition or reputation.

• We use "open source" software, which could negatively affect our ability to offer our AI/ML Foundational Technology
and related products and subject us to possible litigation.
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• Our business and prospects depend significantly on our ability to build our brand. We may not succeed in establishing,
maintaining and strengthening an effective brand, and our brand and reputation could be harmed by negative publicity
regarding us or our AI/ML Foundational Technology and related products. We believe that our previous inability to
successfully commercialize our hardware products, and our resulting financial performance, damaged our prior brand.
As a result, in March 2024 we changed our name to Palladyne AI Corp. and have branded our AI/ML software products
accordingly.

• Our management team has broad discretion in making strategic decisions to execute our growth plans, and our
management's decisions have not always led to the desired result. Current and future decisions may not be successful
in achieving our business objectives or may have unintended consequences that negatively impact our growth
prospects.

• If we fail to effectively manage our business, we may not be able to design, develop, market and commercialize our
software products successfully.

• We may be unable to adequately control the costs associated with our operations in order to achieve profitability.

• We expect to incur substantial research and development costs and devote significant resources to developing and
commercializing our AI/ML Foundational Technology and related products, and we may never reach profitability
and/or achieve significant or any licensing revenue.

• Our business plans require a significant amount of capital. We may sell additional equity or debt securities to meet
capital needs or as we may otherwise determine to be advisable that may dilute our stockholders or introduce covenants
that may restrict our operations or our ability to pay dividends. If we require additional capital and are not able to
secure new funding, we may not be able to continue our business operations.

• Our financial results may vary significantly from period to period due to fluctuations in our operating costs, revenues
(including from development contracts), product demand and other factors.

• We are highly dependent on the services of our senior management and other key employees and, if we are unable to
attract, integrate and retain a sufficient number of qualified employees, our ability to design and commercialize our
AI/ML Foundational Technology and related products, operate our business and compete could be harmed.

• If we fail to maintain and strengthen effective systems of disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over
financial reporting, our ability to produce timely and accurate financial statements or comply with applicable
regulations could be adversely affected.

• We have been and may in the future be subject to risks associated with strategic relationships or transactions and may
not identify or form desired strategic relationships in the future.

• We may become subject to new or changing governmental regulations relating to the development, marketing,
licensing, distribution or use of our AI/ML Foundational Technology and related products or to the providing of
customer service, and a failure to comply with such regulations could lead to delays in launching our software products
and/or withdrawal of our software products from the market, delay our projected revenues, increase costs and/or make
our business unviable if we are unable to modify our software products to comply.
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PART I

Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

Certain statements in this Report constitute "forward-looking statements" within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities
Act of 1933, as amended (the "Securities Act") and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the
"Exchange Act"). These forward-looking statements relate to expectations for future financial performance, business strategies
or expectations for our business. Specifically, forward-looking statements may include statements relating to:

• our ability to develop and sell our full-stack, closed-loop autonomy software ("AI/ML Foundational Technology")
and related products and the capabilities and functionality of our AI/ML Foundational Technology and related
products

• our expected timeline for commercial release of our products and receipt of corresponding revenues;

• nature and size of the markets that we are targeting;

• our software product roadmaps, including expected timing of new product releases and target markets;

• our ability to respond to rapid technological changes;

• competition from existing or future businesses and technologies and the potential advantages of our products as
compared to competitors;

• our ability to manage our growth and expenses;

• our ability to comply with evolving laws and regulations applicable to our business;

• our ability to attract and retain qualified personnel with the necessary experience, including employees who are
instrumental to our new business strategy;

• our projected financial and operating information and estimates of market size and opportunities;

• our future financial performance;

• the impacts of our reductions in force on our cash usage and savings, cost structure and restructuring costs;

• our ability to implement contingency plans to further limit operations and reduce costs and/or seek additional
financing should licensing revenue not materialize in time or sufficient amount to support our operations;

• the impact of natural disasters, health epidemics and global economic and geopolitical conditions and international
conflicts on our business and the business of our customers;

• changes in the markets for our software products;

• expansion plans and opportunities;

• future capital requirements and sources and uses of cash;

• our ability to defend and the outcome of any known and unknown litigation and regulatory proceedings;

• our ability to maintain, protect and enhance our intellectual property;

• our ability to maintain and protect our brand;

• our ongoing de minimis hardware development efforts; and

• other statements preceded by, followed by or that include the words "may," "can," "should," "will," "estimate,"
"plan," "project," "forecast," "intend," "expect," "anticipate," "believe," "seek," "aim," "target" or similar
expressions.
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These forward-looking statements are based on information available as of the date of this Report and our management's current
expectations, forecasts and assumptions, and involve a number of judgments, risks and uncertainties. Accordingly, forward-
looking statements should not be relied upon as representing our views as of any subsequent date, and, in any event, you should
not place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements. We do not undertake any obligation to update forward-looking
statements to reflect events or circumstances after the date they were made, whether as a result of new information, future
events or otherwise, except as may be required under applicable securities laws.

These forward-looking statements involve a number of risks, uncertainties (some of which are beyond our control) or other
assumptions that may cause actual results or performance to be materially different from those expressed or implied by these
forward-looking statements. These risks and uncertainties include those factors described in Part I Item 1A Risk Factors of this
Report. Should one or more of these risks or uncertainties materialize, or should any of the assumptions prove incorrect, actual
results may vary in material respects from those projected in these forward-looking statements. Our Risk Factors are not
guarantees that no such conditions exist as of the date of this Report and should not be interpreted as an affirmative statement
that such risks or conditions have not materialized, in whole or in part.

In addition, statements that "we believe" and similar statements reflect our beliefs and opinions on the relevant subject. These
statements are based upon information known to us as of the date of this Report, and while we believe such information forms
a reasonable basis for such statements, such information may be limited or incomplete, and our statements should not be read
to indicate that we have conducted an exhaustive inquiry into, or review of, all potentially available relevant information. These
statements are inherently uncertain and investors are cautioned not to unduly rely upon these statements.
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Item 1. Business.

The following discussion should be read in conjunction with the information about us contained elsewhere in this Report,
including the information set forth in our consolidated financial statements and the related notes. Some of the information
contained in this section or set forth elsewhere in this Report, including information with respect to our plans and strategy for
our business, includes forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. You should read Part I Item 1A Risk
Factors and the section titled "Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements" for a discussion of important factors that
could cause actual results to differ materially from the results described in or implied by the forward-looking statements
contained in the following discussion and throughout this Report. We use the terms "Palladyne AI," "the Company," "we,"
"us," and "our" to refer to Palladyne AI Corp.

Overview

Our mission is to deliver artificial intelligence software products that enable robotic and unmanned platforms, or robotic
systems, in the industrial and defense sectors to perform complex tasks in arbitrary (i.e., unstructured and dynamic) human
environments. Our AI/ML Foundational Technology enhances the utility and functionality of third-party stationary and mobile
robotic systems by allowing these systems to quickly observe, learn, reason and act in structured and unstructured
environments. Our AI/ML Foundational Technology is designed with artificial intelligence ("AI"), and machine learning
("ML"), technologies to enable robotic systems to perceive their environment and quickly adapt to changing circumstances by
generalizing (i.e., learning) from their past experience using dynamic real-time operations "on the edge" (i.e., on the robotic
system and not in the cloud) without extensive programming, training or the latency associated with processing in the cloud.
We believe this "human-like" ability to learn, reason and adapt will be a key differentiator in assisting our customers to enhance
productivity in dynamic or unstructured environments, where human reasoning has traditionally been required to complete the
task. We designed our AI/ML Foundational Technology to be hardware agnostic, meaning that our AI/ML software products
are designed so that with a minimal integration effort they will be able to function on a wide variety of industrial robots, cobots,
unmanned aerial vehicles ("UAV"), unmanned ground vehicles ("UGV") and other remotely operated vehicles ("ROV").

We believe that our AI/ML Foundational Technology will enable autonomous functionality in challenging and arbitrary
environments for industries that can benefit from a high degree of adaptability and efficiency, such as manufacturing and the
defense sector. These industries typically encounter limitations on the tasks a robotic system can perform, while also engaging
in lengthy and costly efforts to program, manage, and modify such systems. Our AI/ML Foundational Technology is designed
to enable robotic systems to function with human-like reasoning through flexible and adaptable learning capabilities such that
a robotic system can perform a variety of tasks without the need for costly reprogramming efforts. We believe our AI/ML
Foundational Technology will expedite robotic system training, expand task capabilities, enable collaboration among robotic
systems and reduce human labor requirements all while significantly decreasing costly programming costs, leading to increased
productivity and a higher return on investment for robotic system deployments across various use-cases.

Our AI/ML Foundational Technology is the foundational technology for our two software products. The first, Palladyne IQ,
has been developed for use with industrial robots and cobots, and the second, Palladyne Pilot, is being developed for use with
unmanned platforms with our current focus being Class 1 UAVs. We released the initial commercial version of our Palladyne
IQ product in October 2024 and expect to release the initial commercial version of Palladyne Pilot by the end of the first quarter
of 2025. Our Palladyne IQ product continues to undergo reliability testing, debugging and other stabilizing improvements as
we continue internal testing and learn from customer trials.

We believe that our initial customer base will be comprised of innovators and early adopters in the industrial manufacturing,
defense, infrastructure maintenance, repair and surveillance, energy and aerospace and aviation industries. We believe that if
we are successful in demonstrating the value of our products with these early adopters, there will be many potential customers
that follow. Palladyne IQ is being offered through a term-based licensing model that would result in a recurring revenue stream.
We may also offer add-on functionality for an additional license fee. We may charge an upfront fee for the hardware associated
with Palladyne IQ or embed the cost into the license fee. We anticipate offering Palladyne Pilot through a device-based
licensing model. We expect to begin generating revenues from commercial customers of Palladyne IQ and Palladyne Pilot in
2025. The majority of our sales and marketing efforts are focused initially on U.S. markets, but we are also exploring
opportunities in select non-U.S. markets on a more limited basis.
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Industry Background

Recent efforts to use AI technologies to enable the use of robotic systems in dynamic physical environments have focused on
training foundational models residing in cloud infrastructure with enormous amounts of real-world robotic data sets collected
over extended periods of time. In these cases, training occurs by connecting to these databases, doing extensive searching to
try to find case-applicable data and models and then attempting to use the new data to recommend a viable solution. This
process requires persistent cloud connectivity, driving increased costs and time, significantly reducing the benefits of these AI
technologies.

Industrial Robotics

Industrial robots have been used in industrial and manufacturing automation for many decades, typically in the form of large,
stationary robotic arms that automate repetitive tasks in a controlled environment (e.g., a factory assembly line). These robots
are typically programmed in advance by human engineers and excel at tasks requiring consistency, speed and strength beyond
human capacity. Over time, they have become more advanced and are now widely adopted across various industries.

While industrial robots and cobots offer significant benefits, they also have limitations in that they are not capable of performing
a diverse set of complex tasks, and programming and re-programming efforts are costly, time-intensive and require highly
skilled programmers. We understand from early customer engagement that reprogramming a single robotic arm can take weeks
to months in some cases. Reprogramming thousands of robotic arms on a full assembly line to build a different product or
accommodate a new component is therefore costly and can put the line out of commission for a significant period of time,
reducing or delaying production and sales. A disruption to the controlled environment, such as the insertion of an obstacle or
the imprecise placement of parts, can result in the system shutting down until human assistance resolves the situation, resulting
in additional costs and lost production.

Unmanned Platforms

The defense sector has used unmanned platforms such as UAVs, UGVs and ROVs for many years. UAV-based missions,
particularly in tactical operations, are often personnel-intensive, requiring multiple roles and shifts to ensure continuous
situational awareness. Operators are tasked with managing the drone platforms, analyzing data streams and coordinating
between team members to maintain an effective overview of the mission. Currently, most tactical UAVs rely on manual, 1:1
platform control, where one operator controls a single drone, and one-to-many data coordination is essential for the smooth
integration of different information sources. This setup creates significant operational complexity, particularly when real-time
decision-making is required in highly variable and unpredictable conditions, where constant monitoring of diverse data streams
is crucial to making timely, accurate choices.

Moreover, tactical UAVs face a number of challenges in target detection, identification and tracking. Limited or contested
radio frequency ("RF") availability causes interruptions in communication that jeopardize persistent target tracking of moving
targets. Additionally, fast-moving targets often exit the field of view or are obstructed from the drone's line-of-sight,
complicating continuous tracking efforts. Distinguishing targets based on visual attributes—such as color, shape or markings—
can also be difficult, especially in complex and arbitrary environments. These challenges highlight the need for advanced
technologies that can enhance situational awareness, automate target detection, identification and tracking and improve the
precision of decision-making in complex, real-time scenarios.
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Our Solution: The AI/ML Foundational Technology

Our AI/ML Foundational Technology is full stack, closed-loop autonomy software designed to enable robotic systems to
observe, learn, reason and act in a manner similar to that of humans to solve tasks in arbitrary environments that have been too
complex for traditional automation. It operates on the edge by using real-time sensor inputs to adjust to a changing environment
and accomplish the assigned task without the need to connect to the cloud to try to find and process an applicable LLM.
Specifically, our AI/ML Foundational Technology incorporates internal and external environmental inputs that allow robotic
systems to comprehend their environment, determine reasonable behavior given these inputs and to act in real time to achieve
the expected task. Each newly learned task will then be incorporated and used to perform future tasks. We believe this closed-
loop autonomy approach is the key to how our software can apply human-like reasoning to arbitrary environments to expedite
robotic system training, expand the tasks that a robotic system can perform, enable collaboration and maximize capabilities.

Our AI/ML Foundational Technology addresses current challenges in automation by:

• Enabling rapid programming and reprogramming of robotic systems through intuitive, minimal training via
teleoperation or natural language instruction, allowing re-training with just a few examples, thereby reducing costly
delays associated with traditional reprogramming;

• Allowing robots to dynamically reason and adjust to environmental changes in real time, reducing the need for
constant reprogramming and making operations more flexible such that robots can switch between varying and/or
changing tasks easily, and operate in dynamic environments generally;

• Operating entirely "on the edge," providing real-time human-like reasoning and decision-making without relying
on cloud connectivity, thereby eliminating the cost, latency and dependency of cloud-based AI computing; and

• Utilizing perception functionality to assess and navigate environments, distinguishing between relevant
components, obstacles and irrelevant factors, without relying on LLMs or cloud databases.

We believe that our ability to operate "on the edge" without the need to access large data sets or connect to the cloud is a key
differentiator of our AI/ML Foundational Technology and related products. Unlike traditional LLMs, which predict outcomes
and make recommendations, our system allows robots to make real-time decisions and take action using minimal data. In many
instances, we believe our solution will be significantly more data-efficient as compared to deep learning-based methods, such
as LLMs, due to its ability to make decisions with just hundreds of parameters obtained through training and real-time sensor
inputs rather than billions obtained through the cloud as with LLMs. Without the need to use large amounts of cloud-based
computing, our AI/ML Foundational Technology can efficiently operate autonomously in dynamic environments while reacting
to new circumstances without the need to access and process new data sets, with the accompanying delays, imprecision and
costs, or be reprogrammed or retrained. In addition, our AI/ML Foundational Technology is designed to fuse multi-sensor data
inputs together to improve system situational awareness, increasing its flexibility and adaptability.

Our AI/ML Foundational Technology empowers robots with human-like reasoning, enabling them to learn multiple tasks and
handle disruptions or obstacles efficiently. Once initial training/programming is completed, our closed-loop autonomy
architecture allows robots to adapt to environmental changes without human intervention or reprogramming. After minimal
initial training, robots using our AI/ML Foundational Technology are expected to operate in a closed-loop to continuously
observe, learn, reason and act so that they can adapt and continue to complete the desired tasks in the face of a changing
environment.
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We believe that our products will enable autonomous functionality to address challenging and dynamic environments for
industries that can benefit from a high degree of adaptability and efficiency. These industries typically encounter limitations
on the tasks a robotic system can perform, while also engaging in lengthy and costly efforts to program, manage and modify
such systems. Our products are designed to enable robotic systems to function with human-like reasoning through flexible and
adaptable learning capabilities such that a robotic system can perform a variety of tasks without the need for costly
reprogramming efforts. We believe our AI/ML Foundational Technology will expedite robotic system training, expand task
capabilities, enable collaboration among robotic systems and reduce human labor requirements all while significantly
decreasing costly programming costs, leading to increased productivity and a higher return on investment for robotic system
deployments across various use-cases.

Our Products

Our AI/ML Foundational Technology is the foundation for our first two software products. The first, Palladyne IQ, has been
developed for use with industrial robots and cobots, and the second, Palladyne Pilot, is being developed for use with
unmanned platforms.

Palladyne IQ

Palladyne IQ has been developed for use with industrial robots and cobots to empower robots with human-like reasoning,
enabling them to learn multiple tasks and handle disruptions or obstacles efficiently. Potential use cases include:

• manufacturing;

• heavy material handling;

• kitting and parts sequencing;

• surface preparation; and

• quality control inspection.

Palladyne IQ enables industrial robots and cobots to do the following.

1. Observe: Advanced perception and observation to improve situational awareness. Using sensors like vision,
LiDAR, radar and acoustic devices, robots gain situational awareness to perceive a dynamic and unstructured
environment.

2. Learn: intelligent machine learning to accelerate onboarding for new and complex tasks. With Palladyne IQ,
robots typically learn a task in approximately one to five human-controlled demonstrations via a variety of methods
including, remote manipulation, virtual reality manipulation or natural language instruction. We believe our
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dynamic reasoning model requires much less training data than traditional models. Using this learning data,
Palladyne IQ creates a mathematical model of the data and stores it as a task. The model is then updated over time
as more data is obtained. Over time, each robot will create its own library of tasks (a "Task Library"). By operating
"on the edge" and not accessing external large data sets, the learning process can happen faster and cheaper and
without the need for a connection to the cloud.

3. Reason: human-like, AI-based reasoning to determine best course of action without human intervention.
When an unexpected or unknown event occurs, robots can reason using probabilistic ML techniques in a similar
manner to human logic. The software enables robots to infer how to adjust their actions to complete the task in the
changed environment.

4. Act: precise robotic control and completion of tasks. Palladyne IQ translates observations into control messages
that adjust robot behavior in a safe and controlled manner in real time, ensuring tasks continue without the need
for production stoppages. For example, in our testing lab an arm robot has continued the task of sorting items by
color even after an obstacle was placed in its way.

Palladyne IQ enables each robot to have a unique Task Library such that each robot can perform multiple tasks in a variety of
situations and switch between them quickly with no reprogramming and minimal, if any, retraining. We expect other important
future capabilities to include solving for system stability, enhanced computational efficiencies achieved through the use of our
domain-specific language models and the use of dynamic model inference methods to generalize with only a few
demonstrations.

Palladyne IQ is delivered to customers with compute hardware that houses the software. We are also developing a cloud-based
customer portal to facilitate software purchases, updates and online customer support. This customer portal will include data
analytics, operational tools and the functionality to monitor, configure and train Palladyne IQ.

Because Palladyne IQ is designed to work with most industrial robots being sold today, we expect that this product can benefit
a wide variety of industries such as industrial manufacturing, defense, infrastructure maintenance and repair, energy and
aerospace and aviation, among others. Based on product testing and trials, we expect Palladyne IQ to increase productivity
across a variety of use-cases, while significantly reducing associated costs of programming and deploying robotic systems.

We have released the initial commercial version of Palladyne IQ. We provided this version to a large global manufacturer for
trial, which has resulted in invaluable customer feedback that is currently being incorporated into the next version of the
product. We work to continuously improve our products through debugging and other reliability, stabilizing and functional
improvements to improve the customer experience, better meet customer needs and enable our products to address increasingly
complex use cases.

Palladyne Pilot

Palladyne Pilot is being developed for use with unmanned platforms with our current focus being on Class 1 UAVs to enable
persistent detection, identification, tracking and classification of objects of interest by sharing situational awareness information
across multiple drones that is derived by fusing multi-modal sensor data. Palladyne Pilot is being designed to integrate with
third-party autopilot systems thereby enhancing a network of collaborating drones and sensors that can self-orchestrate to
provide superior capabilities for applications including intelligence, surveillance and reconnaissance. While our current focus
is on developing Palladyne Pilot for Class 1 UAVs, we envision developing Palladyne Pilot for other unmanned platforms
across multiple domains in the future.

Our current Palladyne Pilot development efforts are focused on enabling UAVs to do the following.

1. Observe: advanced perception for enhanced situational awareness. Improves target detection and tracking by
adaptively controlling sensor parameters (e.g., vision, LiDAR, radar, acoustic inputs) and integrating multi-source,
multi-modal information, with one or multiple UAVs for multi-vehicle collaboration, enhancing UAV-to-target
tracking assignments even when targets are temporarily obscured.

2. Learn: dynamic learning improves detection and surveillance capabilities. Leverages edge computing to
enable real-time learning and decision-making for persistent target tracking and monitoring by integrating various
information streams into a single, coherent view, ultimately empowering a single operator - on the loop - to
simultaneously operate multiple drone platforms as a coordinated drone team.
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3. Reason: dynamic reasoning improves data sharing and collaboration. Dynamic reasoning facilitates detection
and continued tracking of targets that exhibit dynamic, changing behavior. Further, the quick processing of
contextual sensor information from individual UAVs in the network enables persistent target tracking, the
timeliness of which is critical for real-time decision making and situational awareness.

4. Act and Collaborate: transforms UAVs into an autonomously collaborating team. Intelligent coordination of
information allows UAVs to autonomously share low-bandwidth data, informing a network of collaborating drones
and sensors sufficiently to self-orchestrate and work together on mission objectives such that a single operator is
capable of managing multiple UAVs.

We expect Palladyne Pilot will be provided to customers in the form of a software download or via the purchase of our original
equipment manufacturer ("OEM") partner products that have embedded Palladyne Pilot. We are also developing a cloud-based
customer portal to facilitate software purchases, updates and online customer support.

Market Opportunity

We believe that Palladyne IQ will expand the market for industrial robotics, including cobots, by enabling industrial robotic
systems to address the desire to automate tasks in arbitrary human environments. The market for industrial robotic systems has
been experiencing, and is expected to continue to experience, significant growth. We believe this growth is driven by a desire
for more efficient and flexible manufacturing processes. Companies such as ABB, Fanuc, Kawasaki, KUKA and Universal
Robots are prominent in providing robotic systems to a wide range of industries. We believe Palladyne IQ can augment the
capabilities that these systems offer, enabling Palladyne IQ to be complementary rather than competitive to these existing
product offerings.

We believe Palladyne Pilot fills a void in current UAV capabilities by facilitating collaboration between multiple UAVs,
enhancing tracking through fusing multi-modal sensor data and enabling autonomous navigation functionality. These
capabilities have the potential to make intelligence, defense, surveillance and reconnaissance missions more effective and
efficient.

We believe that our initial customer base will be comprised of innovators and early adopters in the industrial manufacturing,
defense, infrastructure maintenance, repair and surveillance, energy and aerospace and aviation industries. We believe that if
we are successful demonstrating the value of our products with these early adopters, there will be many potential customers
that are fast followers. In the long run, we believe that our products will benefit many markets and industries. However, it is
possible that these beliefs and assumptions will prove incorrect, and, as a result, actual results and market sizes may deviate
materially from our estimates. See Part I Item 1A Risk Factors - "Our operating and financial projections rely on management
assumptions and analyses. If these assumptions or analyses prove to be incorrect, as they often have in the past, our actual
operating results may be materially different from our expected or forecasted results."

Commercialization and Growth Strategy

Continued Development of our Products

Our research and development efforts are primarily focused on the further improvement of our AI/ML Foundational
Technology and improvement and enhancement of our related software products, including the minimal hardware associated
with Palladyne IQ. We pursue continuous improvement of our AI/ML Foundational Technology and related products and to
develop additional functionalities and expand its use to increasingly complex tasks. For example, we continue to improve
product reliability and the user interface and product documentation and to create new Task Libraries for Palladyne IQ. We
believe that as we show the commercial viability and benefits of our products in our initial target markets and use-cases,
customers and potential customers will want to use our products to address other use-cases that previously have not been
conducive to automation. As our products are highly complex, we want to ensure that we continue to develop new systems and
solutions to address new markets and use-cases and thereby grow our business.

Focused Effort on Commercialization while Collaborating with Third Parties

We continue to focus on development and commercialization of our AI/ML Foundational Technology and related products
targeting specific use cases. For example, for Palladyne IQ, we are focusing on (1) sorting or kitting, (2) inspection and (3)
surface preparation, while for Palladyne Pilot we are focusing on (1) surveillance, (2) security and (3) inspection. Our growth
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strategy is to continue working with potential customers for these specific use cases and build on initial successes with potential
customers to expand our customer base and strengthen our pipeline. We expect to do so by deepening our presence in the
applications where we experience initial success and strong demand, while also expanding our offerings to address additional
unmet needs. This will help us demonstrate the value of our products, validate market demand, and drive licensing revenue
growth. As we gain traction, we plan to broaden the application of our products to other use cases.

We also intend to pursue relationships with third parties, which could include robotic system OEMs and system integrators. In
some cases, third parties may pay us to develop our products, which would allow us to reduce our net loss and net use of cash
while learning from our future customers' experience with our AI/ML Foundational Technology and related products. We
believe that working with third parties will allow us to accelerate our brand awareness within our targeted industries and develop
products that will better meet the needs of potential customers. We anticipate that these relationships will play an important
role in helping us select the markets, use-cases and product capabilities we are currently pursuing.

We released the initial commercial version of Palladyne IQ in October 2024, which continues to undergo reliability testing,
debugging and other stabilizing and functional improvements as we continue internal testing and learn from customer trials.
We expect to release the initial commercial version of Palladyne Pilot by the end of the first quarter of 2025.

Competitive Strengths

30+ Years of Robotics Experience

As a pioneer in the robotic systems industry, we benefit from lessons learned over 30-plus years and significant investment in
research and development. Through our hardware product development efforts over many years, including our related software
development efforts, we have developed a significant amount of advanced technology and understanding of robotic systems
that we are leveraging to develop and commercialize our AI/ML Foundational Technology and related products. Our extensive
robotics history gives us valuable perspective on how to use software to tackle the challenges associated with training and
managing robotic systems to solve complex tasks in arbitrary human environments.

We believe that our historical innovations in the development of our legacy hardware products and our related early AI software
development for our own hardware, including human like dexterity and immersive teleoperation technology for
natural extended reality interactions between humans and robots, have enabled us to transition our previous software
development into a hardware agnostic AI/ML Foundational Technology that has the potential for a wide range of use cases and
that is compatible with a broad base of robots and unmanned platforms such as UAVs, ROVs and UGVs.

We have spent many years working with and listening to people with experience in the industries we expect to target, including
advisors and potential customers. These early engagements have helped us form relationships with potential customers, helped
fund our development efforts and provided critical customer insight and feedback into our development plans and software
design. We believe our early efforts to get this feedback and build these relationships with potential customers situate us well
to effectively commercialize our products.

Visionary and Experienced Management

We have an experienced and talented team with deep operational expertise. Our team is led by Benjamin Wolff, our President
and Chief Executive Officer, who has served in various capacities with the Company for more than 10 years and who has many
years of executive-level, operational and corporate board experience for public and private companies. Our engineering efforts
are led by Denis Garagić, our Chief Technology Officer and a co-founder of our AI software business, with over 25 years of
experience in AI and ML. Members of our board of directors have extensive experience across a wide array of disciplines.

Competition

We believe we are redefining automation to bring human-like reasoning, intelligence and autonomy to robotics through an
innovative and distinctive application of AI and ML that will provide significant benefits to customers as compared to
alternative approaches. Our products will compete with companies that have developed or are developing both directly and
indirectly competing solutions and capabilities. Many of our competitors and potential competitors have products that are
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commercially available and/or in development. We expect some products currently in development by such competitors and
potential competitors to become commercially available in the next few years.

Palladyne IQ

While there are many automation-centric companies who are active, especially in early-adopter segments such as warehouse
and logistics and select manufacturing or assembly verticals, we believe our primary competitors for Palladyne IQ are those
who are focused on addressing key challenges in robotic deployments via autonomy or automation-enhancing software
capabilities. In the broader automation landscape, our direct and indirect competitors include companies such as Bright
Machines, Intrinsic, Liquid AI, Mujin, Physical Intelligence, Rapid Robotics and Skild AI. We believe that our competitors
generally are seeking to solve the same or similar industry challenges as we are, but that most are focused on a particular aspect
of the problem we are addressing with Palladyne IQ than a fully competitive solution.

While we view industrial robotics manufacturers, large system integrators and consulting companies such as Fanuc, KUKA,
ABB, Yasakawa, Honeywell, Reply and Rockwell Automation, as potential target customers and/or channel partners for
Palladyne IQ, we also recognize that these companies could also emerge as formidable competitors through their own internal
development efforts or future technology partnerships with and acquisitions of our direct competitors. They may bring their
robust customer relationships, channels and significant financial resources to help accelerate the market viability of their own
products or those of one or more of our direct or indirect competitors.

Palladyne Pilot

We believe that our product will face competition from a variety of other UAV software solutions currently available on the
market, which may include software developed by manufacturers for use with their proprietary UAVs. These include solutions
offered by Anduril, Shield AI and Skydio. While certain competitors offer individual functionalities similar to what Palladyne
Pilot provides, they do not deliver the full suite of features offered by our product. Some competitors sell both UAV hardware
and its corresponding software, typically at a high price point, which may appeal to customers that are also seeking a hardware
solution and do not require the full functionality of Pilot. Other competitors that sell UAV software as a standalone product
tend to focus on software functionality for larger UAVs, which may nonetheless be competitive to us for certain use cases.

While we expect that we will compete favorably against potential competitors for both of our products due to our technical
innovation and product features and performance, some of our potential competitors have greater financial, technical and other
resources than we have. Our competitors may be able to deploy greater resources to the design, development, distribution,
promotion, sales, marketing and support of competitive products than we can. Additionally, some of our competitors have
greater name recognition, longer operating histories, larger sales forces, broader customer and industry relationships and other
tangible and intangible resources than we have. These competitors also compete with us in recruiting and retaining qualified
research and development, sales, marketing and management personnel, as well as in acquiring technologies complementary
to, or necessary for, our products. Additional mergers and acquisitions by our existing or potential competitors may result in
even more resources being concentrated in our competitors. Our competitor base may change as other companies introduce
products that provide solutions to the same problems addressed by our products or we develop new functionality or products
that overlap with current or future products offered by others. Competitors may develop new technologies or products that
provide superior results to customers and/or are less expensive than our products. Our technologies and products could be
rendered obsolete by such developments. See Part I Item 1A Risk Factors - "We operate in a competitive industry that is subject
to rapid technological change, and we expect competition to increase. Our products may not be competitive with other
alternatives."

Customers and Partners

We are focused on securing our first paying customers for Palladyne IQ and Palladyne Pilot. In addition to our ongoing sales
efforts, we are actively pursuing opportunities to expand current relationships in an effort to convert those into revenue-
generating opportunities in the future. For example, we continue work to expand our relationship with the Air Force Research
Laboratory ("AFRL"), with the most recent success being a new contract to migrate Palladyne Pilot to next-generation, U.S.-
made AI computing chipsets. Separately, we continue to collaborate with Red Cat Holdings, Inc. to enhance the autonomous
capabilities of some of Red Cat's drones by enabling integration with Palladyne Pilot. We anticipate initial commercial
customers of Palladyne IQ will be in the industrial manufacturing sector, while initial customers for Palladyne Pilot will be in
the defense sector.
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Sales and Marketing

Our sales and marketing efforts include engaging with potential customers with which we built relationships through our
previous hardware efforts, contacting potential customers that we believe could benefit from our products, working with
manufacturers of robotic systems and systems integrators to offer our products along with theirs to end users, building brand
and product capability awareness through targeted activities such as attending trade shows, increasing our presence in social
media channels, increasing public relations, increasing earned media, and engaging in speakerships, blogs and white papers.
We also intend on collaborating with leading consultants such that we may offer our products as solutions to their customers.
We currently conduct sales and marketing activities primarily through our direct, internal sales and business development team
and our internal marketing team. We intend to continue investing in our sales and marketing efforts in support of the
commercialization of our products.

For Palladyne IQ, we intend to pursue strategic relationships with robotic systems manufacturers, systems integrators,
companies with complementary technologies, software application providers, distributors and consulting firms as and when we
deem appropriate to expand the channels in which Palladyne IQ is marketed. We believe working with these partners will
accelerate our brand awareness and path to market within various industries and provide complementary capabilities and
differentiation that will attract new customers. For Palladyne Pilot, we intend to continue our collaboration with Red Cat and
pursue other strategic relationships, such as with companies working with the "5 Eyes" – the militaries of the United States,
the United Kingdom, Canada, Australia and New Zealand.

We currently expect to offer Palladyne IQ through a term-based licensing model that would result in a recurring revenue stream.
We may also offer add-on functionality for an additional license fee. We may charge an upfront fee for the hardware associated
with Palladyne IQ or embed the cost into the license fee. We anticipate offering Palladyne Pilot through a device-based
licensing model. Additionally, while the initial focus of our sales and marketing efforts has been primarily on the U.S. domestic
market, we intend to explore opportunities in select non-U.S. markets as and when we deem appropriate.

Intellectual Property

Our ability to create, obtain and maintain intellectual property is important to our business. We rely upon a combination of
protections afforded to owners of patents, copyrights, trade secrets and trademarks, along with employee and third-party non-
disclosure agreements and other contractual restrictions to establish and protect our intellectual property rights.

We pursue patent protection at times when we believe we have developed a patentable invention and the benefits of obtaining
a patent outweigh the risks of making the invention public through patent filings. We are in the process of attempting to secure
patent protection for aspects of our AI/ML Foundational Technology but none of these patent applications have yet been
granted. Due to the fact that our extensive patent portfolio is expensive to maintain, we have been and continue to be in the
process of culling patents and applications from our portfolio that we do not believe are essential or likely to add value to our
ongoing business operations. Many of our previously issued patents have expired, with others set to expire on dates ranging
from 2024 to 2040, exclusive of any patent term adjustment or patent term extension. We do not know whether our pending
patent applications will result in issued patents or whether the examination process will require a narrowing of claimed subject
matter. Considering the highly active fields of technology in which we are involved, particularly the field of artificial
intelligence, our patents and pending patent applications may not provide us with broad-level protection.

To protect our brand, we also pursue the registration of our domain names and various trademarks in the United States and in
select international locations.

Suppliers

We have a limited set of suppliers for the minimal hardware components that are part of our Palladyne IQ product. We expect
most of our suppliers to be based in the United States and expect most of our supplier relationships to be purchase order based
rather than long-term supply contracts. In some cases, we have sole source (where the component is only available from a
single vendor, often as a result of customization for our use) or single source (where we purchase from a single vendor but
there are alternative sources of the component) suppliers. We seek to minimize our dependence on sole or single source
suppliers in order to reduce risk in our supply chain, including the risk of losing a sole or single source supplier due to
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bankruptcy, discontinuing production of the particular component or some other reason. For additional information related to
supply chain issues, see "Risk Factors— The products related to our AI/ML Foundational Technology require certain limited
hardware components, and we are dependent on our suppliers, some of which are currently single, sole or limited source
suppliers. Any inability of these suppliers to deliver necessary components of our products at prices, volumes, performance,
timing and specifications acceptable to us could have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects, financial condition
and operating results."

Government Regulation

We are subject to various U.S. federal, state and local laws and regulations governing the occupational health and safety of our
employees and wage regulations, including the requirements of the U.S. Occupational Safety and Health Act, as amended, and
complementary state requirements (including the Utah Occupational Safety and Health Division's Utah State Plan) that protect
and regulate employee health and safety.

We are also subject to U.S. laws and regulations that may limit and restrict the export of our products and services and may
restrict our ability to transact with certain potential customers, suppliers, business partners and other persons. These laws and
regulations include outright prohibitions on certain types of transactions and impose license or other government authorization
requirements on others. We must also comply with export restrictions and other laws affecting trade and investments imposed
by other countries to the extent applicable. We maintain export compliance controls and procedures as part of our broader
compliance efforts, but, as with any compliance program, there are risks that these controls might not prevent every instance
of non-compliance, in which case we could be exposed to legal liability. While the industry's regulatory landscape has changed,
to date, compliance with these laws has not significantly hampered our efforts to engage and transact with third parties but
could further limit them in the future. Further changes in, and responses to, U.S. trade policy could reduce the competitiveness
of our products by making it difficult or impossible to enter affected markets, which could have a material adverse effect on
our business, prospects, financial condition or results of operations.

Aspects of our use of sensors in connection with our products must comply with the rules of the Federal Communications
Commission ("FCC"), including with respect to: the use of any RF spectrum utilized for such components as the remote control
or teleoperation system; the power level and frequency of any RF energy emitted (intentionally or otherwise); and any
conditions imposed by the FCC on the device certification(s) issued to us or to third parties for any modular transmitters
installed in our products. Such rules require, among other things, specific consumer disclosures with respect to RF emissions
and proper installation and operation of the device components and any modular transmitters in our products.

Further, as a U.S. government contractor, we are subject to various government procurement and other laws, regulations and
contract requirements, including provisions and clauses of the Federal Acquisition Regulation ("FAR"), the Defense Federal
Acquisition Regulation Supplement ("DFARS") and other agency-specific regulations. These U.S. government contracting
requirements further implicate a broad variety of subjects in addition to the areas described above, including security, data
management and disclosure, cybersecurity, cost and pricing activity and finance.

Legal Proceedings

From time to time, we may be subject to legal proceedings. We are not currently a party to or aware of any proceedings that
we believe will have, individually or in the aggregate, a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, or results
of operations. Regardless of outcome, litigation can have an adverse impact on us because of defense and settlement costs,
diversion of management resources and other factors.

Human Capital

As of February 3, 2025, we had approximately 71 full-time and part-time employees, with most employees located in our Salt
Lake City, Utah office. We also engage consultants and contractors to supplement our permanent workforce on an as-needed
basis. Approximately 61% of our employees are involved in engineering functions, including research and development. To
date, we have not experienced any organized work stoppages and consider our relationship with our employees to be good.
None of our employees are subject to a collective bargaining agreement or represented by a labor union.
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Facilities

We currently operate primarily from our facilities in Salt Lake City, Utah consisting of approximately 61,000 square feet, The
lease of our Salt Lake City facility expires in May 2033 and has two options to extend the lease for a three-year period each.
We believe that should we need additional or different space, we will be able to obtain such space on commercially reasonable
terms.

History, Corporate Information and Website

Palladyne AI is the result of a decades-long effort in research and development of robotic systems and solutions. Our original
predecessor was spun-out of the University of Utah in 1983. In 2007, our predecessor was acquired by Raytheon and was
operated until 2014 as a division of Raytheon known as Raytheon Sarcos. During this period, Raytheon Sarcos was focused
primarily on developing cutting-edge technologies for use by U.S. governmental agencies. In December 2014, the assets of
Raytheon Sarcos were acquired by a consortium led by the former Raytheon Sarcos President and our current Chief Innovation
Officer, Dr. Fraser Smith, and technology and telecom entrepreneur Benjamin Wolff, our Chief Executive Officer, President
and member of the Board of Directors. This acquisition was the basis for the establishment of Sarcos Corp., a Utah corporation
("Old Sarcos"), which was incorporated in Utah in February 2015. On September 24, 2021, Old Sarcos merged with Rotor
Acquisition Corp. ("Rotor"), a Delaware corporation and Rotor changed its name to Sarcos Technology and Robotics
Corporation ("Sarcos"). In April 2022, we acquired RE2, Inc., a Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania based robotics company. On
November 14, 2023, we announced a pivot in business strategy to prioritize the development and commercialization of our
AI/ML Foundational Technology and suspend further commercialization efforts on hardware products. As part of the business
pivot and to reflect the new focus of the company, on March 18, 2024, the Company changed its name to Palladyne AI Corp.

Our principal executive offices are located at 650 South 500 West, Suite 150, Salt Lake City, Utah, 84101. Our telephone
number is 888-927-7296.

We maintain a company website with the address www.palladyneai.com. We are not including the information contained on
our website as a part of, or incorporating it by reference into, this Annual Report on Form 10-K. We make available free of
charge through the www.palladyneai.com website our Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q and
Current Reports on Form 8-K, and amendments to these reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the
Exchange Act, as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file such material with, or furnish such material to, the
SEC. These reports and other information are also available, free of charge, at www.sec.gov. In addition, our Code of Business
Conduct and Ethics is available through the www.palladyneai.com website and any amendments to or waivers of the Code of
Conduct will be disclosed on that website.
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Item 1A. Risk Factors.
You should carefully consider the following risk factors, in addition to the other information contained in this Report, including
"Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" and our audited consolidated
financial statements and related notes. If any of the events described in the following risk factors and the risks described
elsewhere in this Report occurs, our business, operating results and financial condition could be materially harmed. This
Report also contains forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. Our actual results could differ materially
from those anticipated in the forward-looking statements as a result of factors that are described below and elsewhere in this
Report or other risks that we currently deem immaterial or that may be unknown to us.

Risks Related to Our Business
We are an early stage company with a history of losses, and expect to incur significant losses for the foreseeable future.

We have incurred losses and negative cash flows from operations since inception and are likely to continue to incur losses and
negative cash flows from operations in the near term. We incurred a net loss of $72.6 million for the year ended December 31,
2024 and a net loss of $115.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2023. As of December 31, 2024, we had an accumulated
deficit of $490.8 million and working capital of $38.3 million. We expect to incur significant losses for the foreseeable future.
Our shift in product development and commercialization strategy to focus on our AI/ML Foundational Technology and related
products has made forecasting the timing and amounts of expected revenue and our quarterly and annual results more
challenging, in particular because the sales cycle, product acceptance, product pricing and customer adoption rates are
uncertain. Even if we are able to successfully develop our AI/ML Foundational Technology and related products and attract
customers for commercial sales, we may not become profitable. Our potential profitability is dependent upon the successful
development, commercial introduction and adoption on a large scale of our AI/ML Foundational Technology and related
products and our ability to lower costs, none of which may occur. We may not be successful in achieving meaningful revenues
from these products. Further, the timing, amount and growth rate of any such revenues are unknown.

We are likely to continue to incur losses in future periods as we:

• continue to design, develop and commercialize our products;

• conduct our sales and marketing activities and develop our sales and customer service capabilities;

• continue to invest in our AI/ML Foundational Technology's technology infrastructure and cybersecurity measures,
policies and controls; and

• maintain our general and administrative functions and systems to support our operations and to operate as a
publicly-traded company.

Because we will incur costs and expenses from these and other efforts before we receive significant licensing revenue, we
expect to incur losses in future periods, which could be significant. In addition, we may find that these efforts are more
expensive than we currently anticipate or that these efforts may result in less than expected or no additional revenue, which
would further increase our losses and affect our ability to continue operations. We may have to obtain additional capital from
external sources, and additional financing may not be available when needed or, if available, may not be available on terms
favorable to us or to our stockholders. See "Our business plans require a significant amount of capital. We may sell additional
equity or debt securities to meet capital needs or as we may otherwise determine to be advisable that may dilute our
stockholders or introduce covenants that may restrict our operations or our ability to pay dividends. If we require additional
capital and are not able to secure new funding, we may not be able to continue our business operations."

Our operating and financial projections rely on management assumptions and analyses. If these assumptions or analyses
prove to be incorrect, as they often have in the past, our actual operating results may be materially different from our
expected or forecasted results.

We are an early stage company, with no experience commercializing software products. Our projected financial and operating
information reflect estimates of future performance and are based on multiple business, financial, technical and operational
assumptions, including product strategy, timely hiring or retention of needed personnel, timing and success of commercial
launch of our software products, the level of demand for our software products, the size of our target markets, the performance
and utilization of our software products, product pricing and the nature and length of the sales cycle. However, given our limited
commercial experience, many of these assumptions may prove to be incorrect. Projections and other statements about future
expectations are forward-looking statements that are inherently subject to significant risks, uncertainties and contingencies,
many of which are beyond our control (in addition to the information contained in these Risk Factors, see "Special Note
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Regarding Forward-Looking Statements" and "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations").

We have yet to achieve positive operating cash flow, and our ability to generate positive cash flow is uncertain.

We had negative cash flow from operating activities of $22.6 million and $76.6 million for the years ended December 31, 2024
and 2023, respectively. We expect to continue to have negative cash flow from operating activities for the foreseeable future
as we expect to incur research and development, sales and marketing and general and administrative expenses in our efforts to
commercialize our software products, increase sales and engage in continuous development work. We may not achieve positive
cash flow in the near future or at all. Our business also may at times require significant amounts of working capital to support
sales growth or additional product development efforts. An inability to generate positive cash flow for the near term may
adversely affect our ability to raise capital for our business on reasonable terms, adversely affect our ability to pursue our
business objectives, diminish customer willingness to enter into transactions with us and have other adverse effects, all of which
would affect our ability to continue operations. See "We are an early stage company with a history of losses, and expect to
incur significant losses for the foreseeable future."

We have no previous history or experience with commercializing software products and may not be able to do so efficiently,
effectively or at all. We were unsuccessful in our efforts to commercialize the hardware technologies that we and our
predecessor companies developed over the past several decades.

We have no previous history or experience commercializing AI/ML software products and may not be able to do so efficiently
or effectively or at all. Further, historically we were unsuccessful in our efforts to commercialize our hardware products.
Moreover, commercialization may be delayed due to the challenges discussed under "Successful commercialization of our
AI/ML Foundational Technology and related products may be delayed beyond our current expectations and therefore product
availability to customers, customer acquisition and receipt of software licensing revenue could be delayed." The development
of our software products is a complex and evolving process that involves the development of new and emerging technologies,
continued investment, including in privacy, safety and security efforts and potential collaborations with other companies,
developers, partners and other participants. Market acceptance of our software products is uncertain and we may need to change
product features to meet customer needs. We regularly evaluate our product roadmaps and make significant changes as our
understanding of the technological challenges and market landscape and our product ideas and designs evolve. We also may
be unsuccessful in our research and product development efforts.

A key element of our long-term business strategy involves sales, marketing, training and customer service operations, including
hiring personnel with the necessary experience. Managing and maintaining these operations is expensive and time consuming,
and an inability to leverage such an organization effectively or at all could inhibit potential sales and the penetration and
adoption of our software products. In addition, certain decisions we make regarding priorities and staffing in these areas in our
efforts to responsibly manage our financial resources could have unintended negative effects on our revenue, such as by
weakening the sales and marketing infrastructures or lowering the quality of customer service.

Successful commercialization of our AI/ML Foundational Technology and related products may be delayed beyond our
current expectations and therefore product availability to customers, customer acquisition and receipt of software licensing
revenue could be delayed.

We are focused on the development and commercialization of our AI/ML Foundational Technology and related products.
Product testing and customer use regularly provide feedback on how we can improve our products. If we are unable to
demonstrate that our software products deliver the performance, reliability, functionality and/or safety that we or our potential
customers expect or quickly address discovered issues, commercial success may be delayed as we work to address the
deficiencies. As a result of such delays, we may receive revenue later than expected or not at all if our potential customers
decide to seek alternative solutions to our products, adversely affecting our results of operations and financial condition.

Moreover, our current estimates for the release of the initial commercial version of Palladyne Pilot and the achievement of
software product sales to potential customers are dependent in part on our ability to hire and retain qualified employees, UAV
availability and other factors. If we are unable to recruit and retain employees as needed to complete the development of and
commercialize our software products, we may be unable to do so in a timely manner or at all.

In addition, geopolitical events and macro-economic conditions, such as the current wars between Russia and Ukraine and in
the middle east, inflation and high interest rates, and responses thereto have contributed to price increases and may continue to
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do so. If we are unable to develop and commercialize our software products in a cost efficient manner, our financial results,
financial condition and prospects would be materially and adversely affected.

Over recent years we experienced, and we continue to experience, these challenges, which have at times negatively impacted
our product development schedules and progress. We expect these challenges to continue and, if they do and if we are unable
to effectively mitigate their impact, it is likely that we will be unable to meet our currently expected timelines.

Our anticipated revenues are expected to be primarily derived from the licensing of our AI/ML software products for the
foreseeable future.

If we are successful in commercializing our AI/ML Foundational Technology and related products, our revenue will be
concentrated in licensing those software products for the foreseeable future. We will need to continue to enhance our products,
develop new capabilities and establish and grow our customer base to diversify our revenue and customers. To the extent our
AI/ML Foundational Technology and related products do not meet customer expectations, or cannot be completed or released
on their projected timelines and in line with cost targets, our future revenue, operating results and financial condition will be
adversely affected.

Any issues in the development and use of our AI/ML Foundational Technology or related products, or issues in products
developed by others, may result in reputational harm or liability.

Any issues in the development or use of our AI/ML Foundational Technology or related products, or issues in products
developed by others, may result in reputational harm or liability. As with many innovations, AI presents risks, challenges and
unintended consequences that could affect its adoption, and therefore our business. AI algorithms and training methodologies
may be flawed, ineffective or inadequate. AI development or deployment practices by us or others could result in incidents that
impair the acceptance of AI solutions or cause harm to individuals or society. These deficiencies and other failures of AI
systems could subject us to competitive harm, regulatory action, legal liability and brand or reputational harm. If we enable or
offer AI solutions that are controversial because of their impact on human rights, privacy, employment or other social, economic
or political issues, we may experience competitive, brand or reputational harm or legal and/or regulatory action. Further,
incorporating AI gives rise to litigation risk and risk of non-compliance and unknown costs of compliance, as AI is an emerging
technology for which the legal and regulatory landscape is not fully developed. See "Issues in the development and use of
AI/ML, combined with an uncertain regulatory environment, may result in reputational harm, liability or other adverse
consequences to our business operations."

Our AI/ML Foundational Technology and related products are new technologies, and customer trials and discussions may
not result in purchases.

Our AI/ML Foundational Technology and related products are new technologies. As of the date of this Report, we have revenue
generating contracts with U.S. government customers related to various aspects of our AI/ML Foundational Technology and
related products, and while we continue to engage with numerous other potential customers, we currently have no commercial
customers. Our software products contain advanced software and control technologies that we have developed over many years.
The design of our software products is significantly influenced by feedback from potential customers and reflects the needs
they express. Even if we are able to successfully incorporate that feedback into our software products, customers who initially
expressed an interest in our software products during the design or testing phase may not purchase the software. If we cannot
commercialize our AI/ML Foundational Technology and related products on our expected schedule, if our products do not
offer our potential customers the features, functionality and return on investment that they expect, if potential customers are
unwilling or hesitant to adopt new technologies and products such as ours and/or if potential customers are not willing to pay
for our software products at the rates that we currently expect, our ability to generate material revenues will be materially
impaired.
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Although we began initial customer testing in June 2024 for our Palladyne IQ product, we continue to have limited knowledge
of the customer testing that will be required for customers to ultimately license our software products. As a result, customer
testing may take longer than we anticipate, and we may not be able to provide such testing to the satisfaction of prospective
customers, which could result in longer sales cycles and fewer purchases than anticipated. We may not be able to adapt our
products to reflect customer feedback successfully or at all. If customers who initially express an interest in our software
products and influenced their designs do not license our products, or if they adopt a competitors' technology, our business,
prospects, financial condition and operating results would be adversely affected.

In addition, to build and maintain our business, we must maintain confidence among customers and potential customers in our
AI/ML Foundational Technology and related products, long-term financial viability and prospects. Maintaining such
confidence may be particularly complicated by certain factors including those that are largely outside of our control, such as
our limited commercial software experience, customer unfamiliarity with our software, any delays in development, product
performance, competition and uncertainty regarding the future of AI and robotics. If we do not generate sufficient licensing
revenue, our business, prospects, financial condition and operating results would be materially and adversely affected. Further,
if investors, analysts, rating agencies and other third parties are not confident in our AI/ML Foundational Technology and
related products, our ability to commercialize our products, our financial viability, or our prospects, we may not be able to raise
any needed funding which would materially and adversely affect our financial condition and prospects and ability to continue
operations.

If our target markets and the robotics industry do not continue to develop as we anticipate or if potential customers do not
adopt our AI/ML Foundational Technology and related products and license our products, our sales will not grow as quickly
as expected, or at all, and our business, operating results and financial condition would be harmed.

The market for our AI/ML Foundational Technology and related products and applications similar to the ones we are
developing is relatively new and evolving. We are developing our software products to respond to an increasingly global and
complex business environment with rigorous regulatory standards. If organizations do not allocate their budgets as we expect
or if we do not succeed in convincing potential customers to license our software products, our sales will not grow as quickly
as anticipated, or at all. Economic uncertainty or future deterioration in general economic conditions might also cause our
customers to cut or delay their spending, and such cuts might disproportionately affect businesses like ours to the extent
customers view our software products as too costly or discretionary. Moreover, market acceptance of our AI/ML Foundational
Technology and related products is critical to our continued success. Even if the market grows as expected, if potential
customers do not adopt our software products, our business, operating results, financial condition and growth prospects will be
materially and adversely affected. If we are not able to generate material revenues from our software products before we exhaust
our financial resources, we may need to cease business operations. See "We are an early stage company with a history of losses,
and expect to incur significant losses for the foreseeable future." and "Our business plans require a significant amount of
capital. We may sell additional equity or debt securities to meet capital needs or as we may otherwise determine to be advisable
that may dilute our stockholders or introduce covenants that may restrict our operations or our ability to pay dividends. If we
require additional capital and are not able to secure new funding, we may not be able to continue our business operations."

If we are unable to successfully introduce and implement enhancements, new features or modifications to our AI/ML
Foundational Technology and related products, our business would be harmed.

If we are unable to successfully introduce and implement new applications, enhancements or features, or fail to develop new
applications that achieve market acceptance or that keep pace with rapid technological developments, our business, operating
results, financial condition and growth prospects would be adversely affected. The success of enhancements and new
applications depend on several factors, including timely completion, introduction and market acceptance.

We must continue to meet changing expectations and requirements of our customers. Any failure of our products to operate
effectively with future software, such as third-party robotic operating systems and technologies or to evolve and scale to address
the changing needs of our customers could reduce the demand for our products or result in customer dissatisfaction. Further,
uncertainties about the timing and nature of new software or technologies, or modifications to our software or products or
existing software or technologies, could increase our research and development expenses. If we are not successful in developing
modifications and enhancements to our products or if we fail to introduce new applications to market in a timely fashion, our
products might become less marketable, less competitive or obsolete, and consequently our revenue growth might be
significantly impaired and our business, operating results and financial condition could be harmed.
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We may fail to attract or retain customers at sufficient rates or in sufficient numbers or at all.

We have no previous history or experience commercializing software products and may not be able to do so efficiently or
effectively or at all. To create and grow our customer base, we must license our software to new customers, which we may not
be able to do in sufficient numbers or at all. Even if we are able to attract customers, these customers may not maintain a high
level of commitment to our software products. In addition, we will incur marketing, sales and other expenses, including referral
fees, to attract new customers, which will offset revenue from such customers. For these and other reasons, we could fail to
achieve revenue growth, which would adversely affect our results of operations, prospects and financial condition.

We expect our AI/ML Foundational Technology and related products to be used with robots operating in a wide variety of
environments and for a broad range of complex uses. Our success depends on our ability, and the ability of our customers, to
implement our products successfully in these environments. Customer retention will also be largely dependent on the quality
and effectiveness of our customer service operations, which may be handled internally by our personnel and also by third-party
service providers. We expect that we will need to often assist our customers in implementing our software products. If we or
our customers are unable to implement our products successfully, or are unable to do so in a timely manner, inadequate
performance might result and customer perceptions of our technology, products and company might be impaired, our reputation
and brand might suffer, we may face legal claims, customers might choose not to renew or expand the use of our products and
we might lose opportunities for additional sales.

We have no previous history with our licensing sales model.

We have no experience with licensing software as a business model. The success of our strategy to build recurring revenue
streams through software licenses depends on our ability to successfully market our products and their benefits to customers
and to successfully develop a network of ongoing customers that maintain or renew their licenses, pay for upgrades, license
additional functionality, or expand the use of the software within their robotic systems. The likelihood of our success must be
considered in light of these risks, and our license model may not prove successful.

In addition, our competitors may offer different pricing models that may be more attractive to potential customers. We may be
required to adjust our sales model in response to these changes, which could adversely affect our financial performance.

Important assumptions about market demand, pricing, adoption rates and sales cycles for our software products may be
inaccurate.

Our decision to focus our business strategy on the development and commercialization of our commercial AI/ML Foundational
Technology was based in part on our estimates of the potential addressable market, pricing, adoption rates and sales cycles for
our related products. However, the market demand for our AI/ML software products is unproven, and important assumptions
about the characteristics of targeted markets, pricing and sales cycles may be inaccurate.

Given the evolving nature of the markets in which we operate, it is difficult to predict customer demand or adoption rates for
our software products or the future growth of the markets we target. If one or more of the targeted markets experience a shift
in customer demand, whether due to new solutions that better address customer needs or otherwise, our software products may
not compete as effectively, if at all. If customer demand does not develop as expected, or if we do not achieve forecasted
pricing, adoption rates and sales cycles for our software products, our business, results of operations and financial condition
will be adversely affected, perhaps materially.

The benefits of our AI/ML Foundational Technology and related products to customers and projected return on investment
have not been substantiated through customer use.

Our AI/ML Foundational Technology and related products have not been commercially used by customers. Our products may
not perform consistent with customers' expectations or consistent with other products that may be or may become available.
Any failure of our products to perform as expected could harm our reputation and result in adverse publicity, lost revenue,
license cancellation, harm to our brand, delays in availability, product liability claims and significant warranty and other
expenses and could have a material adverse impact on our business, prospects, financial condition and operating results.
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We currently intend to target many customers that are large businesses with substantial negotiating power, exacting product
standards and potentially competitive internal solutions. If we are unable to sell our software products to these customers,
our prospects and results of operations will be adversely affected.

We expect that many of our potential customers will be large businesses with substantial negotiating power relative to us and,
in some instances, may have internal solutions that are competitive to our AI/ML software products. These large businesses
also have significant development resources, which may allow them to acquire or develop independently, or in partnership with
others, competitive technologies. Meeting the technical requirements and securing binding commitments from any of these
businesses will require a substantial investment of our time and resources. We may be unable to secure customers from these
or other businesses or we may be unable to generate meaningful revenue from these potential customers. If our software
products are not selected by these large businesses or if these businesses develop or acquire competitive technology, it may
have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects, financial condition and operating results.

A portion of our revenue is currently and will continue to be generated by contracts with government entities, which make
us subject to a number of uncertainties, challenges and risks.

Contracts with government entities are subject to a number of risks. Such relationships can be highly competitive, expensive
and time-consuming, often requiring significant upfront time and expense without any assurance that these efforts will generate
revenue. Government spending may be impacted by various factors, including changing political environments and shifts in
government priorities. The impact of any reductions in U.S. government spending could result in the cancellation of our
contracts and negatively impact our business, financial condition and results of operations. U.S. government spending may be
reduced as a result of the recent change in presidential administration, and other factors affecting the U.S. government such as
national security focus areas, budget deficits and the national debt. If we are successful in being awarded a government contract,
such award may be subject to appeals, disputes or litigation, including bid protests by unsuccessful bidders. Government
demand and payment for our solutions may be impacted by public sector budgetary cycles and funding authorizations, with
funding reductions or delays adversely affecting public sector demand for our solutions. Government entities may have
statutory, contractual or other legal rights to terminate our contracts for convenience or default. Also, see "We are subject to
laws, regulations and contractual provisions as a government contractor or subcontractor, which may pose increased risk of
potential liability and expenses related thereto, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results
and financial condition."

We operate in a competitive industry that is subject to rapid technological change, and we expect competition to increase.
Our products may not be competitive with other alternatives.

The AI/ML software and robotics industries are subject to rapid technological change, and we expect competition to increase
in the future. Our research and development efforts may be unable to keep up with changes in technology or its alternatives
and, as a result, our competitiveness may suffer. Developments in alternative technologies or solutions may materially and
adversely affect our competitiveness in ways we do not currently anticipate. While we plan to upgrade and adapt our software
products as we or others develop new technology, any failure by us to develop new or enhanced technologies or processes, or
successfully react to changes or advances in existing technologies, could delay our development and introduction of new and
enhanced products, which could result in the loss of competitiveness, decreased revenue and a loss of market share to
competitors. We believe our AI/ML Foundational Technology and related products will compete (both directly and indirectly)
with companies such as Bright Machines, Intrinsic, Liquid AI, Mujin, Physical Intelligence, Rapid Robotics, Skild AI, Anduril,
Shield AI and Skydio. We believe that our competitors are seeking to solve the same or similar industry challenges as we are,
but that most are focused on a particular aspect of the functionality of our AI/ML Foundational Technology rather than a fully
competitive solution.

While we view industrial robotics and cobot manufacturers such as ABB, Fanuc, Kawasaki, KUKA, Universal Robots and
Yasakawa, large system integrators such as Honeywell, Reply and Rockwell Automation and technology companies such as
NVIDIA as potential target customers and/or channel and ecosystem partners for our AI/ML software products, we also
recognize that these companies may emerge as formidable competitors through their own internal development efforts or future
technology partnerships with and acquisitions of our competitors. They may bring their robust customer relationships, channels
and significant financial resources to help accelerate the market viability of one of our direct or indirect competitors.

Many of our competitors and potential competitors have products that are commercially available and/or in development. We
expect some products currently in development to become commercially available in the next few years. Further, our products
may not be competitive with other alternatives.
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Our competitor base may change or expand as we continue to develop and commercialize software products in the future.
Competitors may develop products that utilize advanced technology similar to ours (such as computer vision, AI and ML) in a
more effective way, or new technologies or products that provide superior results to customers or are less expensive than our
software products. Our technologies and products could be rendered obsolete by such developments.

Our competitors may respond more quickly to new or emerging technologies, undertake more extensive marketing campaigns,
have greater financial, marketing, manufacturing and other resources than we do, or may be more successful in attracting
potential customers, employees and strategic partners. In addition, potential customers could have long-standing or contractual
relationships with competitors. Potential customers may be reluctant to adopt our software products, particularly if they
compete with or have the potential to compete with, or diminish the need/utilization of software products or technologies
provided by any of our competitors with whom they may have an existing relationship. If we are not able to compete effectively,
our business, prospects, financial condition and operating results will be adversely affected.

In addition, because we operate in new and evolving markets, the actions of our competitors could adversely affect our
business. Adverse events such as product defects or legal claims with respect to competing or similar products could cause
reputational harm to the AI/ML software or robotics markets as a whole and, accordingly, our business.

We may not be able to complete or enhance our product offerings through our research and development efforts.

Even after introduction of a commercial version of a product, we will also likely need to continue to advance and evolve the
product in response to the evolving demands of our customers in the various industries we expect to serve. Our Palladyne IQ
product is in the early stages of commercialization and we continue product testing, debugging and refinement, and we have
not yet released the initial commercial version of our Palladyne Pilot product. We will incur significant additional product
development efforts and expenses, and we may not be successful in commercializing or marketing our products at all or within
our currently expected timelines or available resources.

We released the initial commercial version of our Palladyne IQ product on October 1, 2024 and expect to release the initial
commercial version of Palladyne Pilot by the end of the first quarter of 2025. See "Successful commercialization of our AI/ML
Foundational Technology and related products may be delayed beyond our current expectations and therefore product
availability to customers, customer acquisition and receipt of software licensing revenue could be delayed." In addition, we
make iterative improvements throughout the development process and intend to continue to do so after commercial release of
our products. If we fail to adequately communicate to customers product improvements, or if customer feedback is not
adequately reflected in our product improvements, customers may not be persuaded of the value of our products. If we fail to
generate demand by developing products that incorporate features desired by customers, we may fail to generate revenue
sufficient to achieve or maintain profitability. We have in the past experienced and may in the future experience delays in
various phases of product development, including during research and development, release testing and marketing and customer
education efforts. Further, delays in product development would postpone demonstrations and customer testing, which are
important opportunities for customer engagement, and cause us to miss expected timelines. Such delays could cause customers
to delay or forgo purchases of our products, or to purchase competitors' products. Even if we are able to successfully develop
our products when and as anticipated, we may not produce sales in excess of the costs of development, and our products may
be quickly rendered obsolete by changing customer preferences or the introduction by competitors of products embodying new
technologies or features. If we are unable to successfully manage our product development and communications with
customers, customers may choose to not adopt or purchase our products, which would adversely affect our business, prospects,
financial condition and operating results.

Risks Related to Our Operations and Growth

Real or perceived design flaws, errors, defects, glitches, bugs or malfunctions (collectively, "flaws") in our AI/ML
Foundational Technology and related products, failure of our software products to perform as expected, connectivity issues
or user errors can result in lower than expected return on investment for customers, personal injury or property damage
and significant security or safety concerns, each of which could materially and adversely affect our results of operations,
financial condition or reputation.

The design, development and use of our AI/ML Foundational Technology and related products involve certain inherent risks.
New software products generally suffer from flaws that are found, often as a result of customer use, and fixed over time. Real
or perceived flaws in our products, connectivity issues, unanticipated or unintended use of our products, user errors or
inadequate disclosure of risks relating to the use of our products, among others, can lead to injury, property damage or other
adverse events. We have conducted, are conducting and plan to continue to conduct extensive testing of our software products,
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in some instances in collaboration with our customers, to ensure that any such issues can be identified and addressed. However,
we may not be able to identify all such issues or, if identified, efforts to address them may not be effective in all cases, and our
product testing may not be adequate. We plan to conduct investigations, where applicable, to identify the cause or causes of
incidents and, when appropriate, implement changes to testing protocols or to the products to prevent such incidents from
reoccurring. However, any implemented improvements may not fully prevent similar or other incidents in the future. Moreover,
because of the size and weight of the third-party systems that may in the future use our AI/ML Foundational Technology and
related products, and the nature and variability of the environments in which we expect this software to be used, adverse events
relating to the use of our products could include significant injuries or even death. To the extent that flaws or connectivity
issues are discovered during or after product development, we may experience delays in the development and/or sale of our
products while the issues are resolved. For example, we continue our efforts to increase product reliability and stability and
conduct ordinary course product testing and debugging have at times resulted in product development delays. If any flaws and
related issues that may arise cannot be adequately resolved, product sales may not occur and/or resume.

In addition, we may not be aware of Defects until injury to person or property has occurred. Such adverse events could lead to
safety alerts relating to our software products (either voluntary or required by governmental authorities), and could result, in
certain cases, in the removal of our products from the market. Defects could also result in negative publicity, damage to our
reputation or, in the event of regulatory developments, delays in new product approvals.

Complex software may frequently experience errors, especially when first introduced. Our products are complex and may
experience errors or performance problems in the future. A failure of any part of our AI/ML Foundational Technology or related
products could result in property damage, serious injury or even death. We plan to implement bug fixes and upgrades as part
of our regular software maintenance, which may lead to downtime. Even if we are able to implement bug fixes and upgrades
in a timely manner, customers and operators also may fail to install updates and fixes to the software for several reasons,
including poor connectivity or inattention. Any such occurrence could cause delay in market acceptance of our software
products, damage to our reputation, increased service and warranty costs, product liability claims and loss of revenue.

We anticipate that in the ordinary course of business we may be subject to product liability claims alleging Defects in the design
of our software products. A product liability claim, regardless of its merit or eventual outcome, could result in significant legal
defense costs and high punitive damage payments, damage our reputation or require significant costs to redesign or fix our
software or products. Although we maintain product liability insurance, the coverage is subject to deductibles and limitations,
and may not be adequate to cover future claims.

Even if our AI/ML Foundational Technology performs properly and our products are used as intended, if personal injuries
occur while operating third-party products that use our AI/ML software, we could be exposed to liability and our results of
operations, financial condition and reputation may be adversely affected.

Third-party systems that may in the future use our AI/ML Foundational Technology will contain complex technology and must
be used as designed and intended in order to operate safely and effectively. Even if our software products are used as designed
and intended, customers may not operate complex third-party systems that use our products safely and effectively. In addition,
we cannot predict all the ways in which the proper use or misuse of our products can lead to injury or damage to property, and
our training resources and safety systems may not be successful at preventing all incidents. If personal injury or damage to
property were to occur while operating our products in a manner consistent with our training and instructions or otherwise, we
could be exposed to liability and our results of operations, financial condition and reputation may be adversely affected.

We use "open source" software, which could negatively affect our ability to offer our AI/ML Foundational Technology and
related products and subject us to possible litigation.

Our AI/ML Foundational Technology incorporates "open source" software provided by third parties. Open source software is
generally freely accessible, usable and modifiable, and is made available to the general public on an "as-is" basis under the
terms of a non-negotiable license. Use and distribution of open source software may entail greater risks than use of third-party
commercial software or internally developed software. Open source licensors generally do not provide warranties or other
contractual protections regarding infringement claims or other claims relating to violation of intellectual property rights or the
quality of the software. In addition, certain open source licenses, like the GNU Affero General Public License, may require us
to offer for no cost the components of our software that incorporate the open source software, to make available source code
for modifications or derivative works we create by incorporating or using the open source software or to license our
modifications or derivative works under the terms of the particular open source license. If we are required under the terms of
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an open source license to release our proprietary source code to the public, competitors could create similar products with lower
development effort and time, which ultimately could result in a loss of sales for us.

We may also face claims alleging noncompliance with open source license terms or infringement, misappropriation or other
violation of open source technology. These claims could result in litigation or require us to purchase a costly license, devote
additional research and development resources to re-engineer our software, discontinue the sale of our software products if re-
engineering could not be accomplished on a timely or cost-effective basis, or make generally available our proprietary code in
source code form, any of which would have a negative effect on our business and operating results, including being enjoined
from the offering of the components of our software that contained the open source software. We could also be subject to
lawsuits by parties claiming ownership of what we believe to be open source software. Litigation could be costly for us to
defend, have a negative effect on our operating results and financial condition and require us to devote additional research and
development resources to re-engineer our software.

Although we monitor use of open source software and try to ensure that none is used in a manner that would subject our
software to unintended conditions, few courts have interpreted open source licenses, and there is a risk that these licenses could
be construed in a way that could impose unanticipated conditions or restrictions on our ability to commercialize our AI/ML
Foundational Technology and related products. We cannot guarantee that we will incorporate open source software in our
software in a manner that will not subject us to liability, or in a manner that is consistent with our current policies and
procedures.

Our business and prospects depend significantly on our ability to build our brand. We may not succeed in establishing,
maintaining and strengthening an effective brand, and our brand and reputation could be harmed by negative publicity
regarding us or our AI/ML Foundational Technology and related products.

Our business and prospects are dependent on our ability to develop, maintain and strengthen our brand. If we do not continue
to establish, maintain and strengthen our brand, we may lose the opportunity to build a critical mass of customers. We believe
that our inability to successfully commercialize our hardware products, and our resulting financial performance, damaged our
prior brand. As a result and to reflect our focus on our AI/ML Foundational Technology, in March 2024 we changed our name
to Palladyne AI Corp. and have branded our AI/ML software products accordingly. Promoting and positioning our brand will
likely depend significantly on our ability to provide high quality software and engage with our customers as intended. To
promote our brand, we may be required to change or expand our customer development and branding practices, including
increased marketing activities, which could result in substantially increased expenses. If we do not develop and maintain a
strong brand, our business, prospects, financial condition and operating results will be materially and adversely impacted.

In addition, if safety incidents occur or are perceived to have occurred, whether or not such incidents are our fault, we could be
subject to adverse publicity or resistance by our customers. In particular, given the popularity of social media, any negative
publicity, whether true or not, could quickly proliferate and harm perceptions and confidence in our brands. Furthermore, there
is the risk of potential adverse publicity related to our partners whether or not such publicity is related to their collaboration
with us. Our ability to successfully position our brand could also be adversely affected by perceptions about the quality of our
competitors' products.

Our management team has broad discretion in making strategic decisions to execute our growth plans, and our
management's decisions have not always led to the desired result. Current and future decisions may not be successful in
achieving our business objectives or may have unintended consequences that negatively impact our growth prospects.

Our management has broad discretion in making strategic decisions to execute our growth plans and may devote time and
company resources to new or expanded product offerings, potential acquisitions or strategic alliances, prospective customers
or other initiatives that do not necessarily improve our operating results or contribute to our growth. For example, in November
2023, we pivoted our business to focus on the development and commercialization of our AI/ML Foundational Technology
and related products in lieu of hardware products. We concluded this strategy met our goal of pursuing significant near-term
revenue tied to acute customer needs and would reduce our capital requirements and related risks in line with available
resources. However, this strategy may not prove to be effective. Our management must make these and other strategic and
operational decisions in the context of limited financial and human resources. As a result, we have in the past, as in November
2023, and may in the future forgo opportunities we may have otherwise pursued given sufficient resources, some of which
might have had greater likelihood of success. Any failure by management to make strategic decisions that are ultimately
accretive to our growth may result in unfavorable returns and uncertainty about our prospects, each of which could cause the
price of our Common Stock to decline and have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects, financial condition and
results and ability to continue operations.
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If we fail to effectively manage our business, we may not be able to design, develop, market and commercialize our software
products successfully.

Any failure to manage our business effectively could materially and adversely affect our prospects, financial condition and
operating results. As we work to grow our business, we may need to manage the following activities, among others:

• maintaining effective management, engineering and other teams;

• retaining and recruiting individuals with the appropriate relevant experience;

• hiring and training new personnel;

• commercializing our AI/ML Foundational Technology and related products;

• forecasting revenue and implementing enterprise resource planning, or ERP, systems;

• entering into relationships with one or more third-party service providers or partners, including in relation to the
development and commercialization of our AI/ML Foundational Technology and related products;

• potentially carrying out acquisitions and entering into collaborations, in-licensing arrangements, joint ventures,
strategic alliances or partnerships;

• expanding and enhancing internal information technology, safety and security systems;

• establishing or expanding sales and customer service organizations;

• conducting demonstrations and customer trials of our software products; and

• implementing and enhancing administrative infrastructure, systems, controls and processes.

We conducted two workforce reductions during 2023 ("2023 RIFs") to decrease our costs and create a more streamlined
organization to support our business, and to focus on our AI/ML Foundational Technology. However, these RIFs have placed
and will continue to place additional strain on our existing personnel and other resources, and we could experience systemic
operating difficulties in managing our business and implementing controls and other business processes, resource constraints
in our product development and commercialization efforts, or other limitations or difficulties that are difficult to predict at this
time. In addition, while the 2023 RIFs resulted in significant annualized cost savings, we may incur additional expenses not
currently contemplated due to events associated with the reduction in force or other similar initiatives and may experience
attrition beyond planned staff reductions, which may lead to the loss of institutional knowledge and expertise, increased
difficulties in our day-to-day operations, pressure on our controls and processes and reduced employee morale. Moreover, we
may not be able to monetize all of the assets unrelated to our current business strategy.

We may be unable to adequately control the costs associated with our operations in order to achieve profitability.

We will require significant capital to develop and grow our business, including successfully developing and commercializing
our AI/ML Foundational Technology and related products, establishing or expanding our design, research and development,
sales and maintenance and service capabilities and building our brands. We have incurred and expect to continue incurring
significant expenses which will impact our profitability, including research and development expenses, sales and marketing
expenses as we build our brand and market our software products and general and administrative expenses. Although the 2023
RIFs and other cost-saving measures have significantly reduced expenses, and recent financing activities have increased our
financial resources, it may be difficult to reduce expenses further or maintain current levels while pursuing our business
objectives. Some of the factors that may lead to cost increases or difficulty further reducing cost are outside of our control,
such as national or global geopolitical and economic conditions, including inflation and interest rates. In addition, we may incur
significant costs upgrading or fixing Defects in our software products. Our ability to continue our operations in the long term
and potentially become profitable in the future will not only depend on our ability to commercialize our software products to
meet customer needs and identify and investigate new areas of demand, but also on our ability to license our products at prices
needed to achieve sufficient revenues and margins to cover our cash outlay, including the risks and costs associated with any
warranty obligations. If we are unable to efficiently design, develop, market, deploy, distribute and service our software
products in a cost-effective manner, our operating results, financial condition and prospects would be materially and adversely
affected and we may not achieve profitability.
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We expect to incur substantial research and development costs and devote significant resources to developing and
commercializing our AI/ML Foundational Technology and related products, and we may never reach profitability and/or
achieve significant or any licensing revenue.

Our future growth depends on penetrating new markets, adapting our AI/ML Foundational Technology and products to new
applications and customer requirements and introducing new features and functionality that achieve market acceptance. We
expect to incur substantial, and potentially increasing, research, development, sales and marketing costs as part of our efforts
to design, develop, enhance and commercialize our AI/ML Foundational Technology and related products. Our research and
development program may not produce successful results or, be sufficient to adapt to new or changing technologies (such as
AI) and our products may not achieve market acceptance, create meaningful or any revenue or become profitable.

The products related to our AI/ML Foundational Technology require certain limited hardware components, and we are
dependent on our suppliers, some of which are currently single, sole or limited source suppliers. Any inability of these
suppliers to deliver necessary components of our products at prices, volumes, performance, timing and specifications
acceptable to us could have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects, financial condition and operating results.

We maintain a limited set of suppliers for the minimal hardware components that are required for use of our Palladyne IQ
product. As of December 31, 2024, most of our key suppliers are based in the United States. In some cases, we have sole source
(where the component is only available from a single vendor, often as a result of customization for our use) or single source
(where we purchase from a single vendor but there are alternative sources of the component) suppliers. We seek to minimize
our dependence on sole or single source suppliers in order to reduce risk in our supply chain, including the risk of losing a sole
or single source supplier due to bankruptcy, discontinuing production of the particular component or some other reason.
However, some of the components used in our products may have to be purchased by us from a single source and some may
only be available from a sole source. If our third-party suppliers are unable to supply key components and materials in the
required volumes, at the needed times or at acceptable prices, our sales, revenue and profitability will likely be adversely
affected and we may not be able to meet our obligations to customers. Our third-party suppliers may also not be able to meet
the specifications and performance characteristics required by us, which would impact our ability to achieve our product
specifications and performance characteristics as well. Additionally, our third-party suppliers may be unable to obtain required
certifications or provide warranties for their products that are necessary for our products. If we are unable to obtain components
and materials used in our products from our suppliers, our business would be adversely affected.

We have less negotiating leverage with suppliers than larger and more established companies and may not be able to obtain
favorable pricing and other terms. For example, agreements with suppliers may include terms that are unfavorable to us, such
as requirements that we order components and manufacture systems and solutions in excess of our demand due to minimum
order quantity requirements or minimum price thresholds. While we believe that we may be able to establish alternate supply
relationships and can obtain or engineer replacement components for our single source components, we may be unable to do
so in time to support our production needs, or at all, or at prices or quality levels that are favorable to us. Further, we may not
be able to develop satisfactory alternatives to sole-sourced components. Any inability to find satisfactory alternatives to our
single- and sole-sourced component suppliers, whether due to bankruptcy of the supplier, a decision to discontinue
manufacturing the component or for any other reason, could affect our costs and component availability and have a material
adverse effect on our business, prospects, financial condition and operating results.

Furthermore, fluctuations or shortages in raw materials or components and other economic conditions, including tariffs, may
cause us to experience significant increases in freight charges and material costs. Substantial increases in the prices for our
materials would increase our operating costs and could reduce our margins if the increased costs cannot be recouped through
increased sales prices.

We face risks related to wars, natural disasters, health epidemics and other calamities and supply chain disruption, any of
which could significantly disrupt our operations.

Our facilities or operations, or any potential third-party suppliers, partners, or service providers could be adversely affected by
events outside of our or their control, such as natural disasters, wars, health epidemics and other calamities and force majeure
events. Our backup system does not capture data on a real-time basis and we may be unable to recover certain data in the event
of a server failure. Our backup system may not be adequate to protect us from the effects of fire, floods, typhoons, earthquakes,
power loss, telecommunications failures, break-ins, war, riots, terrorist attacks, cybersecurity incidents or similar events. Any
of the foregoing events may give rise to interruptions, breakdowns, system failures, technology platform failures or internet
failures, which could cause the loss or corruption of data or the malfunction of software or hardware, which could significantly
disrupt our operations. Additionally, depending upon any potential health pandemics, epidemics or outbreaks that may emerge,
our potential customers and partners may suspend or delay their engagement with us or take other actions or experience their
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own negative impacts, any of which could result in a material adverse effect on our financial condition and ability to meet
current timelines. The COVID-19 pandemic adversely affected our ability to recruit skilled employees to join our team, conduct
research and development activities and engage with development customers, and it or other similar events could do so again
and may impede our product development timelines.

Events impacting our supply chain could be caused by factors beyond the control of our suppliers or us, including labor actions,
increased demand, problems in production or distribution and/or disruptions in third-party logistics, information technology or
transportation systems. Some of our key suppliers are relatively small companies that could be especially susceptible to these
risks. In addition, global events in recent years have resulted in widespread global supply chain disruptions to vendors including
critical supply chain shortages, labor shortages, significant material cost inflation and extended lead times for items that are
required for our operations. Any such interruptions to our supply chain could increase our costs and could limit the availability
of products critical to our operations.

Risks Related to Our Finances

Our business plans require a significant amount of capital. We may sell additional equity or debt securities to meet capital
needs or as we may otherwise determine to be advisable that may dilute our stockholders or introduce covenants that may
restrict our operations or our ability to pay dividends. If we require additional capital and are not able to secure new funding,
we may not be able to continue our business operations.

Although we believe we have sufficient capital to fund our business for at least the next 12 months, we may seek additional
financing during that time to bolster our cash reserves and ensure our ability to continue to pursue our business objectives. Our
current business plans may require us, or we may deem it advisable, to secure additional financing prior to achieving positive
operating cash flows, and we do not anticipate achieving positive operating cash flows in the near term. As a result, we intend
to continue monitoring our liquidity, financial and business results and outlook and market conditions, and may be opportunistic
and raise capital when we consider market conditions are good or a favorable opportunity exists to bolster our cash reserves,
reduce our financial risk, help finance research and development costs and pursue business objectives. Any delays in the
successful commercialization and sales of our software products will negatively impact our ability to generate revenue, our
profitability and our overall operating performance and result in the need to raise additional capital sooner than expected. For
further information on our financing activities in the year ended December 31, 2024, see "Management's Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Liquidity and Capital Resources."

Even if we generate positive operating cash flows, we may need to raise significant amounts of additional capital to fund our
business thereafter, including to finance ongoing research and development costs, any significant unplanned or accelerated
expenses and new strategic alliances or acquisitions. The fact that we have limited experience commercializing our software
products, coupled with our belief that our AI/ML Foundational Technology represents a significant technology advancement,
means we have limited to no historical data on the demand for our software products. In addition, we expect our expenses to
continue to be significant in the foreseeable future as we continue development activities and bring our products to market, and
that our level of cash usage will be significantly affected by customer demand for our products. As a result, our future capital
requirements are uncertain and actual capital requirements may be different from those we currently anticipate. We may need
to seek equity or debt financing to finance our expenses and capital expenditures, and such financing might not be available to
us in a timely manner or on terms that are acceptable, or at all. Even if available, the sale of additional equity or equity-linked
securities could dilute our stockholders, and the incurrence of indebtedness would result in debt service obligations and could
result in operating and financing covenants that would restrict our operations.

Additional financing may not be available to us when we need it or it may not be available on favorable terms. Our ability to
obtain any necessary financing to carry out our business plan is subject to a number of factors, including general market
conditions and investor acceptance of our business model. Current capital market conditions, including the impact of inflation,
have increased borrowing rates and can be expected to significantly increase our cost of capital as compared to prior periods
should we seek additional funding. Moreover, global capital markets have undergone periods of significant volatility and
uncertainty in the past, and such financing alternatives may not be available to us in the future on favorable terms or at all,
should we determine it necessary or advisable to seek additional capital. If we raise additional capital through public or private
equity offerings, the ownership interest of our existing stockholders will be diluted, and the terms of these securities may
include liquidation or other preferences that adversely affect our stockholders' rights. If we raise additional capital through debt
financing, we may be subject to covenants limiting or restricting our ability to take specific actions, such as incurring additional
debt, buying or selling assets, making capital expenditures or declaring dividends.

These factors may make the timing, amount, terms and conditions of such financing unattractive or unavailable to us. If we are
unable to raise sufficient funds if and when needed, we will have to significantly reduce our spending, delay or cancel our
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planned activities or substantially change our corporate structure or potentially cease operations and liquidate. We might not
be able to obtain any funding, and might not have sufficient resources to conduct our business as projected or at all, either of
which could mean that we would be forced to curtail or discontinue our operations.

If we cannot raise additional funds when we need or want them, our operations, prospects and financial condition would be
materially and adversely affected.

Our financial results may vary significantly from period to period due to fluctuations in our operating costs, revenues
(including from development contracts), product demand and other factors.

We expect our period-to-period financial results to vary based on our operating costs and product demand, which we anticipate
will fluctuate as the pace at which we continue to design, develop and release software products. Additionally, as we
commercialize our AI/ML Foundational Technology and related products and/or enter into or complete government or
development contracts, we expect our revenue from period to period to fluctuate, including as we introduce new products,
features or functionality or introduce our AI/ML Foundational Technology and related products to new markets for the first
time. As a result of these factors, we believe that quarter-to-quarter comparisons of our operating results, especially in the near
term, are not necessarily meaningful and that these comparisons cannot be relied upon as indicators of future performance.
Moreover, our operating results may not meet expectations of equity research analysts, ratings agencies or investors, who may
be particularly focused on quarterly financial results. If any of this occurs, the trading price of our securities could fall
substantially, either suddenly or over time, and/or experience significant volatility.

We are highly dependent on the services of our senior management and other key employees and, if we are unable to attract,
integrate and retain a sufficient number of qualified employees, our ability to develop and commercialize our AI/ML
Foundational Technology and related products, operate our business and compete could be harmed.

Our success depends, in part, on our ability to retain our key personnel. The unexpected loss of or failure to retain one or more
of our senior managers or other key employees could delay product development and require outsourcing to third parties, each
of which in turn could adversely affect our business. For example, we are highly dependent on the services of our AI/ML
Foundational Technology leadership team, in particular our Chief Technology Officer, Dr. Denis Garagic. Dr. Garagic has a
significant influence on our AI/ML Foundational Technology development efforts and our business plan. Benjamin G. Wolff
also rejoined our executive team as President and Chief Executive Officer in February 2024 following the pivot in our business
to focus on the development of our AI/ML Foundational Technology. If key members of our senior management were to
discontinue service due to death, disability or any other reason, we may be significantly disadvantaged and their departure or
the departure of other key contributors to our software and technology development efforts could result in delays in product
development, or potentially an inability to successfully complete development of our AI/ML Foundational Technology and
related products at all, which would materially and adversely harm our business, results of operations and financial condition.
Further, we may have difficulty finding, or be unable to find, qualified successors to any such persons should they depart the
Company. If we are unable to successfully continue development and commercialization of our AI/ML Foundational
Technology and related products in a timely manner, whether due to the departure of any such persons or otherwise, we may
not have sufficient time or resources to pursue alternative plans or opportunities and may need to cease operations. We do not
maintain key-person insurance for any of our senior management. For these reasons, we may incur significant costs to retain
our senior management team and key personnel. For example, in December 2024 we entered into an amended employment
agreement with Mr. Wolff that extended the term of his employment through the end of 2027, pursuant to which Mr. Wolff is
entitled to a cash-settled phantom stock payment with respect to 1.8 million shares of our Common Stock on his continued
employment through October 31, 2027 or upon earlier change of control of the Company or upon earlier qualifying termination
of his employment, which, depending on the value of our Common Stock at the time of settlement, could result in a substantial
cash payment obligation. We may not have sufficient cash at such time to make such payment and may need to raise additional
capital to meet such obligation, which may not be available to us on acceptable terms or at all. This phantom stock payment
may be replaced in whole or in part in the event we grant Mr. Wolff restricted stock awards of up to 1.5 million shares subject
to vesting on the same terms. See Exhibit 10.19 to this Annual Report for Mr. Wolff's amended and restated employment
agreement.

We have experienced and may continue to experience changes in our senior management team. For example, in connection
with Mr. Wolff's return to our executive team as President and Chief Executive Officer in February 2024, there have been
changes to our operations and there may be additional changes in the future. If we do not successfully implement and adapt to
these changes they may not lead to the desired improvement in our business and results of operation. This in turn, could have
a material adverse effect on our business. Any inability to successfully manage these changes could be viewed negatively by
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our customers, employees, investors and other third-party partners, and could have an adverse impact on our business and
results of operations.

Our success also depends, in part, on our ability to identify, hire, attract, train and develop other highly qualified personnel as
needed, specifically AI/ML software engineers. Because of the innovative and advanced nature of our technology, individuals
with the necessary experience have not been, and likely will continue not to be, readily available to hire, and as a result, we
may need to expend significant time and expense to recruit and retain experienced employees and appropriately train any newly
hired employees. Integrating new employees can also cause disruptions to processes, projects, culture, priorities and our
company as a whole. We face intense competition for experienced and highly skilled employees, specifically AI/ML software
engineers, from numerous other companies, including other software and technology companies, many of whom have greater
financial and other resources than we do, and our ability to hire, attract and retain them depends on our ability to provide
competitive compensation. We may not be able to attract, assimilate, develop or retain qualified personnel in the future, and
our failure to do so could adversely affect our business, including the execution of our strategy. Our 2023 RIFs and concerns
about our financial condition may also cause us to experience increased difficulty attracting and retaining highly qualified
personnel. We may incur significant costs to attract and retain qualified personnel, including significant expenditures related
to salaries and benefits and compensation expenses related to equity awards, and we may lose new employees to competitors
or other companies before we realize the benefit of our investment in recruiting and training them. Moreover, new employees
may not be or become as productive as we expect, or may not fit culturally, and long-term employees may not embrace new
leaders, priorities, methods, processes or other changes and may decide to leave or not perform as well as they did in the past,
as we may face challenges in adequately or appropriately integrating them into our workforce and culture.

Our headquarters are in Salt Lake City, Utah, which has fewer highly skilled employees in the AI/ML software and robotics
fields than some other major metropolitan areas. In addition, as part of the pivot in strategy announced in November 2023 to
focus on our AI/ML Foundational Technology, we closed our facility in Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania and may no longer be able
to attract highly skilled employees in that location. To attract and retain key personnel, we may need to open offices in other
areas of the country, which could increase costs and reduce productivity. Any failure by our management team and our
employees to perform as expected may have a material adverse effect on our ability to design and launch our software products
or to operate our business and compete, as well as on our business, prospects, financial condition and operating results.

We incur significant expenses and administrative burdens as a publicly-traded company, which could have a material
adverse effect on our business, prospects, financial condition and operating results.

As a publicly-traded company, we are incurring legal, accounting and other expenses that we previously did not have, and these
expenses may increase as we continue to implement and strengthen controls, processes and systems and employ related
personnel and after we are no longer an emerging growth company, as defined in Section 2(a) of the Securities Act. We are
subject to reporting and other requirements of the Exchange Act, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and the Dodd-Frank Wall Street
Reform and Consumer Protection Act, as well as rules adopted by the SEC and the Nasdaq Stock Market LLC. Our management
and other personnel devote a substantial amount of time to these compliance initiatives. We may need to hire additional
employees to support our operations as a public company, which will increase our operating costs in future periods. Moreover,
these rules and regulations have substantially increased our legal and financial compliance costs and make some activities more
time-consuming and costly. These increased costs have increased our net loss. For example, it has been more expensive for us
to obtain appropriate director and officer liability insurance coverage than we incurred as a private company. We cannot
accurately predict or estimate the amount or timing of all the additional costs we may incur. Being a public company could also
make it more difficult for us to attract and retain qualified persons to serve on our board of directors, our board committees or
as executive officers. Such increased expenses and administrative burdens involved in operating as a public company consume
significant financial resources and any increases could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and
operating results.

If we fail to maintain and strengthen effective systems of disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over
financial reporting, our ability to produce timely and accurate financial statements or comply with applicable regulations
could be adversely affected.

We expect that the requirements of the Exchange Act, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and the rules and regulations of Nasdaq will
continue to result in significant legal, accounting and financial compliance costs, make some activities more difficult, time-
consuming and costly, and place significant strain on personnel, systems and resources.

The Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires, among other things, that we maintain effective disclosure controls and procedures and
internal control over financial reporting. We are continuing to develop and refine our disclosure controls, internal control over
financial reporting and other procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in the reports
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that we will file with the SEC is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in SEC rules
and forms, and that information required to be disclosed in reports under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated
to our principal executive and financial officers in a timely manner. The development and implementation of the processes and
controls necessary for us to achieve the level of accounting standards required of a public company have increased and may
continue to increase our legal and compliance costs, and such costs may be greater than expected.

We have previously identified material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting, and undertook remediation
efforts to address the identified deficiencies and concluded that each material weakness was remediated. Our current controls
and any new controls that we develop may be inadequate because of changes in conditions of our business or otherwise. Any
failure to develop or maintain effective controls, or any difficulties encountered in their implementation or improvement, could
adversely affect our operating results or cause us to fail to meet our reporting obligations and may result in a restatement of our
financial statements for prior periods. Any failure to implement and maintain effective internal controls also could adversely
affect the results of periodic management evaluations and annual independent registered public accounting firm attestation
reports regarding the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting to the extent we are required to include such
evaluations and reports in our periodic reports that we file with the SEC under Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act.
Ineffective disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting could also cause investors to lose
confidence in our reported financial and other information.

In order to maintain and improve the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial
reporting, we expect to continue to expend significant resources, including accounting-related costs, and provide significant
management oversight. Any failure to maintain the adequacy of our internal controls, or consequent inability to produce
accurate financial statements on a timely basis, could increase operating costs and could materially and adversely affect our
ability to operate our business. If our internal controls are or are perceived to be inadequate or if we are or are perceived to be
unable to produce timely or accurate financial statements, investors may lose confidence in our operating results and the trading
price of our securities could decline. In addition, if our financial statements are not filed on a timely basis, we could be subject
to sanctions, enforcement actions or investigations by Nasdaq, the SEC or other regulatory authorities or to private litigation.
As a result, any failure to maintain effective internal control over financial reporting could result in a material adverse effect
on our business and the price of our Common Stock.

Our independent registered public accounting firm is not currently required to formally attest to the effectiveness of our internal
control over financial reporting under Section 404(b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. Should we become subject to Section 404(b),
our independent registered public accounting firm may issue a report that is adverse if it is not satisfied with the level at which
our controls are documented, designed or operating. Any failure to maintain effective disclosure controls and procedures and
internal control over financial reporting could have a material and adverse effect on our business, prospects, financial condition
and operating results.

Our ability to use net operating loss carryforwards and other tax attributes may be limited.

We have incurred losses during our history and do not expect to become profitable in the near future, and we may never achieve
profitability. To the extent that we continue to generate tax losses, unused losses will carry forward to offset future taxable
income, if any, until such unused losses expire.

Under the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017 (the "Tax Act"), as modified by the Coronavirus Aid, Relief and Economic Security
Act of 2020, U.S. federal net operating loss carryforwards generated in taxable periods beginning after December 31, 2017,
may be carried forward indefinitely, but the deductibility of such net operating loss carryforwards in taxable years beginning
after December 31, 2020, is limited to 80% of taxable income. Additional or different limitations may apply under state law.
Suspensions or other restrictions on the use of net operating losses or tax credits, possibly with retroactive effect, may result in
our existing net operating losses or tax credits expiring or otherwise being unavailable to offset future income tax liabilities.

In addition, our net operating loss carryforwards are subject to review and possible adjustment by the Internal Revenue Service
and state tax authorities. Under Sections 382 and 383 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code"), these
U.S. federal net operating loss carryforwards and other tax attributes may become subject to an annual limitation in the event
of certain cumulative changes in the ownership of our company. An "ownership change" pursuant to Section 382 of the Code
generally occurs if one or more stockholders or groups of stockholders who own at least 5% of a company's stock increase their
ownership by more than 50 percentage points over their lowest ownership percentage within a rolling three-year period. Our
ability to utilize net operating loss carryforwards and other tax attributes to offset future taxable income or tax liabilities may
be limited as a result of ownership changes. Similar rules may apply under state tax laws. If we earn taxable income, such
limitations could result in increased future income tax liability to us and our future cash flows could be adversely affected. We
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have recorded a full valuation allowance related to our net operating loss carryforwards and other deferred tax assets due to the
uncertainty of the ultimate realization of the future benefits of those assets.

We have been and may in the future be subject to risks associated with strategic relationships or transactions and may not
identify or form desired strategic relationships in the future.

We may seek strategic alliances, joint ventures, minority equity investments, acquisitions, collaborations and in-license
arrangements with third parties. Some of our third-party relationships are not governed by formal agreements and this may also
be true for future relationships. These partnerships, relationships or arrangements may not lead to binding agreements, lasting
or successful business relationships or any other anticipated benefits. If any of these relationships are established, they may
subject us to a number of risks, including risks associated with sharing proprietary information, non-performance or significant
delays in performance by the third-party and increased expenses in establishing new relationships, any of which could
materially and adversely affect our business. We may have limited ability to monitor or control the actions of these third parties
and, to the extent any of these strategic partners suffers negative publicity or harm to their reputation from events relating to
their business, we may also suffer negative publicity or harm to our reputation by virtue of our association with any such third-
party.

We expect that strategic business relationships will be an important factor in the growth and success of our business. However,
we may not be able to identify or secure suitable business relationship opportunities in the future or our competitors may
capitalize on such opportunities before we do. Moreover, identifying such opportunities could require substantial management
time and resources, and negotiating and financing relationships involves significant costs and uncertainties. If we are unable to
successfully source and execute on strategic relationship opportunities in the future, our overall growth could be impaired, and
our business, prospects, financial condition and operating results could be materially adversely affected.

When appropriate opportunities arise, we have in the past, and may in the future acquire additional assets, products,
technologies or businesses that are complementary to our existing business. From time to time, the sellers of these assets,
products and technologies or businesses may retain certain rights to the technology that they sell to us, which in some
circumstances could allow the sellers to compete with us. In addition to possible stockholder approval, we may need approvals
and licenses from relevant government authorities for acquisitions and to comply with any applicable laws and regulations,
which could result in delays and costs, and may disrupt our business strategy if we fail to do so. Furthermore, acquisitions and
the subsequent integration of new assets and businesses into our own require significant attention from our management and
could result in a diversion of resources from our existing business, which in turn could have an adverse effect on our operations
and financial results. Acquired assets or businesses may not generate the financial results we expect. Acquisitions could result
in the use of substantial amounts of cash, potentially dilutive issuances of equity securities, the occurrence of significant
goodwill impairment charges, amortization expenses for other intangible assets and exposure to potential unknown liabilities
of the acquired business. For example, we have previously experienced an impairment of all of the goodwill associated with
our acquisition of RE2. Moreover, the costs of identifying and consummating acquisitions may be significant.

Risks Related to Legal Claims and Regulatory Compliance

Issues in the development and use of AI/ML, combined with an uncertain regulatory environment, may result in
reputational harm, liability or other adverse consequences to our business operations.

AI/ML technologies are complex and rapidly evolving, and we face significant competition from other companies as well as
an evolving regulatory landscape. The introduction of AI/ML technologies into new or existing products may result in new or
enhanced governmental or regulatory scrutiny, litigation, confidentiality or security risks, technical or operational risks, safety
risks, ethical concerns or other complications that could adversely affect our business, reputation or financial results or limit
the functionality of our software or our ability to sell our software products. Governmental bodies have implemented laws and
are considering further regulation of AI/ML technologies that could negatively impact our ability to use and develop software
products incorporating these technologies.

For example, on March 13, 2024, the European Parliament adopted the European Union's Artificial Intelligence Act (the "AI
Act"). The AI Act, which is scheduled to become effective over time through August 2, 2026, proposes a framework of
prohibitions and disclosure, transparency and other regulatory obligations based on various levels of risk for businesses
introducing AI systems in the EU. Once the AI Act becomes effective, certain provisions could require us to alter or restrict
our use of AI, depending on respective levels of risk-categorization, types of systems, and manner of use, under the AI Act.
The AI Act also may require us to comply with monitoring and reporting requirements. Noncompliance with the AI Act could
result in fines of up to €35 million or 7% of annual global turnover for the previous year, whichever is higher. In addition, in
October 2023 the Biden administration issued an executive order to, among other things, establish extensive new standards for
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AI safety and security which was later revoked by President Trump in January 2025. Other jurisdictions may adopt similar or
more restrictive legislation that may render the use of such technologies challenging. Numerous other laws and bills have been
enacted, such as in California and Colorado, or proposed at the U.S. federal and state level, as well as internationally, aimed at
regulating the deployment or provision of AI systems and services.

Our efforts to comply with the AI Act and other legislation or regulations, whether now in effect or as may be proposed or
enacted in the future, relating to AI/ML technologies may be difficult, onerous and costly, and could adversely affect our
business, reputation, financial condition, results of operations and growth prospects. We may need to devote substantial time
and resources to evaluate our obligations under the AI Act and other legislation and regulations and to develop and execute a
plan designed to ensure compliance. Further, the intellectual property ownership and license rights, including copyright,
surrounding AI/ML technologies have not been fully addressed by U.S. courts or other federal or state laws or regulations, and
the use or adoption by our customers of third-party AI/ML technologies into robotic products and services may result in
exposure to claims of copyright infringement or other intellectual property misappropriation or infringement.

Uncertainty around new and emerging AI/ML technologies, may require additional investment in the development and
maintenance of proprietary datasets and ML models, development of new approaches and processes to provide attribution or
remuneration to creators of training data, and development of appropriate protections and safeguards for handling the use of
data with AI technologies, which may be costly and could impact our expenses as we utilize AI/ML technologies within our
products. The use of AI/ML technologies presents emerging ethical and social issues, and if we enable or offer solutions that
draw scrutiny or controversy due to their perceived or actual impact on customers or on society as a whole, we may experience
brand or reputational harm, competitive harm and/or legal liability. These challenges may make it harder for us to conduct our
business using AI, and may lead to regulatory fines or penalties, require us to change our product offerings or business practices,
or prevent or limit our use of AI. If we cannot use AI, or that use is restricted, our business may be less efficient, or we may be
at a competitive disadvantage. Any of these factors could adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of
operations.

Changes in tax laws could have a material adverse effect on our business, cash flows, results of operations or financial
condition.

We are subject to the tax laws, regulations, and policies of several taxing jurisdictions. Changes in tax laws, as well as other
factors, could cause us to experience fluctuations in our tax obligations and effective tax rates or otherwise adversely affect our
tax positions and/or our tax liabilities. For example, the Tax Act eliminated the option to deduct research and development
expenditures currently and instead requires taxpayers to capitalize and amortize them over five or fifteen years, the Inflation
Reduction Act of 2022 imposed a 1% excise tax on certain repurchases of stock and the Organisation for Economic Co-
operation and Development has introduced a global minimum tax initiative, which is in various stages of adoption. Any new
tax laws or changes to existing tax laws could adversely affect our effective tax rate, operating results, tax credits or incentives
or tax payments, or require our potential customers to pay additional taxes, which could have a material adverse effect on our
business, cash flows, results of operations or financial condition.

We may become subject to new or changing governmental regulations relating to the development, marketing, licensing,
distribution or use of our AI/ML Foundational Technology and related products or to the providing of customer service,
and a failure to comply with such regulations could lead to delays in launching our software products and/or withdrawal of
our software products from the market, delay our projected revenues, increase costs and/or make our business unviable if
we are unable to modify our software to comply.

As we develop and commercialize our AI/ML Foundational Technology and related products, we may become subject to a
variety of existing or new laws and regulations in the United States and international jurisdictions, such as the AI Act, including
in the areas of privacy, security, safety, competition, consumer protection development, marketing, licensing, distribution and
the development and use of AI and ML. Such laws and regulations may also cover employment, taxation, privacy, data security,
data protection, pricing, content, copyrights and other intellectual property, mobile communications, electronic contracts and
other communications, the design and operation of websites, and the characteristics and quality of software and services, which
may delay or impede the development and commercialization of our AI/ML Foundational Technology and related products or
require us to pause sales and modify our software products, which could result in a material adverse effect on our revenue and
financial condition, especially if implemented on a large scale or in a key market. Such laws and regulations can also give rise
to liability, such as fines and penalties or for property damage, bodily injury and cleanup costs. Capital and operating expenses
needed to comply with laws and regulations can be significant, and violations may result in substantial fines and penalties,
third-party damages, suspension of production or a cessation of our operations. Any failure to comply with such laws or
regulations could lead to withdrawal of our software products from the market.
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We may be subject to claims, lawsuits, arbitration proceedings, government investigations and other legal, regulatory and
administrative proceedings and face potential liability and expenses related thereto, which could have a material adverse
effect on our business, operating results and financial condition.

We may be subject to claims, lawsuits, arbitration proceedings, government investigations and other legal, regulatory and
administrative proceedings. In addition, we may be subject to the heightened scrutiny that is sometimes directed toward
companies taken public via a business combination with a special purpose acquisition company. The outcome of any such
claims, investigations or proceedings cannot be predicted with any degree of certainty. In the ordinary course of business, we
have been and may in the future be the subject of various legal claims. Any such claims, investigations or proceedings against
us, whether meritorious or not, could be time-consuming, result in costly litigation, be harmful to our reputation, require
significant management attention and divert significant resources, and the resolution of any such claims, investigations or
proceedings could result in substantial damages, settlement costs, fines or penalties that could adversely affect our business,
financial condition or operating results or result in harm to our reputation and brand, sanctions, consent decrees, injunctions or
other remedies requiring a change in our business practices.

Further, under certain circumstances we have or may take on contractual or other legal obligations to indemnify and to incur
legal expenses on behalf of investors, directors, officers, employees, customers, vendors or other third-parties. For example,
our Amended and Restated Bylaws (the "Bylaws") provide that we will indemnify our directors and officers, and may
indemnify our employees, agents and other persons, to the fullest extent permitted by the Delaware General Corporation Law.
We have also entered into indemnification agreements with directors and officers that require us, among other things, to
indemnify them against claims that may arise due to their service in those capacities. These indemnification agreements also
require us to advance expenses reasonably and actually incurred by them in investigating or defending any such claims, and it
may be difficult or impossible to recover any advanced expenses if it turns out the person was not entitled to indemnification.
If we are required or agree to defend or indemnify, or advance expenses to, any of our investors, directors, officers, employees,
customers, vendors or other third-parties, we could incur material costs and expenses that could adversely affect our business,
results of operations or financial condition.

We are subject to evolving laws, regulations, standards, policies and contractual obligations related to data privacy and
security, and our actual or perceived failure to comply with such obligations could harm our reputation, subject us to
significant fines and liability or otherwise adversely affect our business, prospects, financial condition and operating results.

We are subject to or affected by a number of national, state and local laws and regulations, as well as contractual obligations
and industry standards, that impose certain obligations and restrictions with respect to data privacy and security, and govern
our collection, storage, retention, protection, use, processing, transmission, sharing and disclosure of personal information,
including that of our employees, customers and others. Many jurisdictions have enacted laws requiring companies to notify
individuals, regulatory authorities and others of security breaches involving certain types of data. Such laws may be inconsistent
or may change or additional laws may be adopted. In addition, our agreements with certain customers may require us to notify
them in the event of a security breach or incident. Such mandatory disclosures are costly and could lead to negative publicity,
penalties, fines, litigation and other proceedings or cause our customers to lose confidence in the effectiveness of our security
measures and require us to expend significant capital and other resources to respond to and/or alleviate problems caused by the
actual or perceived security breach or incident.

As a government contractor or subcontractor, we are subject to the Department of Defense's ("DoD") cybersecurity
requirements, including compliance with the newly formalized Cybersecurity Maturity Model Certification ("CMMC")
Program's requirements. Depending on certain factors, including the awarding DoD agency and type of contract, we may be
required to obtain and affirm specific third-party cybersecurity certifications to be deemed eligible for award. Failure to comply
with these requirements could restrict our ability to compete for, be awarded and/or perform on DoD contracts. The DoD
expects that all new contracts will be required to comply with the CMMC program by 2026, and initial requests for information
and for proposal have already begun. To the extent we, or our subcontractors or other third parties on whom we rely, are unable
to achieve certification in advance of contract awards that specify the requirement, we may be deemed ineligible for awards
or follow-on awards for existing work with the DoD, which could materially and adversely affect our results of operations,
financial condition, business and prospects. We will also be required to go through a recertification process periodically, which
may increase our costs of compliance relating to such certification, may increase risk exposure based on frequency of
recertification affirmations and may cause operational delays. In addition, obligations that may be imposed on us under
the CMMC program may be different from or in addition to those otherwise required by applicable laws and regulations, which
may cause additional expense for compliance.

The global data protection landscape is rapidly evolving, and implementation standards and enforcement practices are likely to
remain uncertain for the foreseeable future. We may not be able to monitor and react to all developments in a timely manner.
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For example, California adopted the California Consumer Privacy Act ("CCPA"), which became effective in January 2020.
The CCPA established a privacy framework for covered businesses, including an expansive definition of personal information
and data privacy rights for California residents. The CCPA includes a framework with potentially severe statutory damages
and private rights of action. The CCPA was modified and supplemented by the California Privacy Rights Act ("CPRA"), which
went into effect on January 1, 2023. Numerous other states have proposed, and in many cases have enacted, laws addressing
privacy and cybersecurity. These laws in many cases are comprehensive privacy statutes similar to the CCPA and CPRA.
Additionally, some states have proposed, and in certain cases enacted, laws addressing specific matters such as biometrics or
health-related personal information. The U.S. federal government also is contemplating federal privacy legislation. As we
expand our operations, the CCPA, CPRA, and other laws and regulations relating to privacy and data security may increase
our compliance costs and potential liability. Compliance with any applicable privacy and data security laws and regulations is
a rigorous and time-intensive process, and we may be required to put in place additional mechanisms to comply with such laws
and regulations.

Additionally, as our international presence expands, we may become subject to or face increasing obligations under laws and
regulations in countries outside the United States, many of which, such as the European Union's General Data Protection
Regulation ("GDPR") and national laws supplementing the GDPR, as well as legislation substantially implementing the GDPR
in the United Kingdom, which generally are more stringent than those currently enforced in the United States. The GDPR
requires companies to meet stringent requirements regarding the handling of personal data of individuals located in the
European Economic Area. The GDPR also includes significant penalties for noncompliance, which may result in monetary
penalties of up to the higher of €20 million or 4% of a group's worldwide turnover for the preceding financial year for the most
serious violations. The United Kingdom's data protection regime also provides for substantial penalties that, for the most serious
violations, can go up to the greater of £17.5 million or 4% of a group's worldwide turnover for the preceding financial year.
Many other jurisdictions globally are considering or have enacted legislation providing for local storage of data or otherwise
imposing privacy, data protection and data security obligations in connection with the collection, use and other processing of
personal data. As a general matter, compliance with laws, regulations, contractual obligations, industry standards, and any rules
or guidance from self-regulatory organizations relating to privacy, data protection, and data security that apply, or are asserted
to apply, to our operations may result in substantial costs and may necessitate changes to our business practices, which may
compromise our growth strategy, adversely affect our ability to acquire customers, and otherwise adversely affect our business,
prospects, results of operations, and financial condition.

We publish privacy policies and other documentation regarding our collection, processing, use and disclosure of personal
information and/or other confidential information. Although we endeavor to comply with our published policies and other
documentation, we may at times fail to do so or may be perceived to have failed to comply with such policies and other actual
or asserted legal or contractual obligations relating to privacy, data protection or data security. Moreover, despite our efforts,
we may not be successful in achieving or maintaining compliance, including if our employees, contractors, service providers
or vendors fail to comply with our published policies and documentation. Such failures can subject us to potential action by
governmental or regulatory authorities if they are found to be deceptive, unfair, or misrepresentative of our actual practices.
Any actual or perceived inability to adequately address privacy and security concerns or comply with applicable laws, rules
and regulations relating to privacy, data protection or data security, or applicable privacy notices, could lead to investigations,
claims and proceedings by governmental entities and private parties, damages for contract breach and other significant costs,
penalties or liabilities. Any such claims or other proceedings could be expensive and time-consuming to defend and could result
in adverse publicity. Any of the foregoing may have an adverse effect on our business, prospects, results of operations, and
financial condition.

We are subject to cybersecurity risks to our operational systems, security systems, infrastructure and data processed by us
or third-party vendors.

Our business and operations may involve the collection, storage, processing and transmission of personal data and certain other
sensitive and proprietary data of collaborators, customers and others. Additionally, we maintain sensitive and proprietary
information relating to our business, such as our own proprietary information and personal data relating to our employees. An
increasing number of organizations have disclosed breaches of their information security systems and other information
security incidents, some of which have involved sophisticated and highly targeted attacks. We have been and may in the future
be a target for cybersecurity attacks designed to disrupt our operations or to attempt to gain access to our systems, data processed
or maintained in our business, trade secrets or other proprietary information or financial resources. Some of our employees
work remotely which has increased security risks. In addition, the risk of state-supported and geopolitical-related cybersecurity
attacks is believed to be heightened in connection with international conflicts and any related political or economic responses
and counter-responses.
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We are at risk for interruptions, outages and breaches of (1) operational systems, including business, financial, accounting,
product development, data processing or production processes, owned by us or our third-party vendors or suppliers; (2) facility
security systems, owned by us or our third-party vendors or suppliers; (3) in-product technology, owned by us or our third-
party vendors; (4) our software, including third-party software we license; and (5) customer data that we process or our third-
party vendors process on our behalf. Because techniques used to obtain unauthorized access to or to sabotage information
systems change frequently and may not be known until launched against a target, we may be unable to anticipate or prevent
these attacks, react in a timely manner or implement adequate preventive measures, and we may face delays in our detection
or remediation of, or other responses to, security breaches and other privacy-and security-related incidents. Such incidents
could: materially disrupt our operational systems; result in loss of intellectual property, trade secrets or other proprietary or
competitively sensitive information; compromise certain information of customers, employees or others; jeopardize the security
of our facilities; or affect the performance of in-product technology and the integrated software in our systems. Certain efforts
may be state-sponsored or supported by significant financial and technological resources, making them even more difficult to
detect, remediate and otherwise respond to.

We plan to include product services and functionality that utilize data connectivity to monitor performance and timely capture
opportunities to enhance performance and for safety and cost-saving preventative maintenance. The availability and
effectiveness of our services depend on the continued operation of information technology and communications systems. Our
systems will be vulnerable to damage or interruption from, among others, physical theft, fire, terrorist attacks, natural disasters,
power loss, war, telecommunications failures, viruses, denial or degradation of service attacks, ransomware and other malicious
code, social engineering schemes, insider theft or misuse or other attempts to harm our systems. We may face objections to our
intended collection or use of data, which may require us to implement new or modified data handling policies and mechanisms,
increase our maintenance costs and costs associated with data processing and handling, and harm our prospects. The use of
AI/ML technologies may result in security incidents and our use of AI/ML technologies may create additional cybersecurity
risks or increase cybersecurity risks, including risks of security breaches and incidents. Further, AI/ML technologies may be
used in connection with certain cybersecurity attacks, including to launch more automated, targeted and coordinated attacks,
resulting in heightened risks of security breaches and incidents.

Although we have implemented and are in the process of implementing additional systems and processes that are designed to
protect our data and systems within our control, prevent data loss and prevent other security breaches and security incidents,
these security measures cannot guarantee security. The Information Technology ("IT") infrastructure used in our business may
be vulnerable to cybersecurity attacks or security breaches or incidents, and third parties may be able to access data, including
personal data and other sensitive and proprietary data of ours and our customers, collaborators and partners, our employees'
personal data or other sensitive and proprietary data accessible through those systems, or such data otherwise may be subject
to unauthorized use, disclosure, unavailability, modification or other processing. Employee error, malfeasance or other errors
in the storage, use or transmission of any of these types of data could result in an actual or perceived privacy or security breach
or other security incident.

Moreover, there are inherent risks associated with developing, improving, expanding and updating our current systems, such
as the disruption of our data management, procurement, product development, finance and sales and service processes. These
risks may affect our ability to manage our data or deploy and service our products and solutions, adequately protect our
intellectual property or achieve and maintain compliance with, or realize available benefits under, applicable laws, regulations
and contracts. We cannot be sure that these systems upon which we rely, including those of our third-party vendors or suppliers,
will be effectively implemented, maintained or expanded as planned. If we do not successfully implement, maintain or expand
these systems as planned, our operations may be disrupted, our ability to accurately and timely report our financial results could
be impaired and deficiencies may arise in our internal control over financial reporting, which may impact our ability to certify
our financial results. Moreover, our proprietary information or intellectual property could be compromised or misappropriated
and our reputation may be adversely affected. If these systems do not operate as we expect them to, we may be required to
expend significant resources to make corrections or find alternative sources for performing these functions.

Any actual or perceived security breach or security incident, or any systems outages or other disruption to systems used in our
business, could interrupt our operations, result in loss or improper access to, or acquisition, unavailability, modification,
disclosure or other processing of, data or a loss of intellectual property protection, harm our reputation and competitive position,
reduce demand for our software products, damage our relationships with customers, partners, collaborators or others or result
in claims, regulatory investigations and proceedings and significant legal, regulatory and financial exposure, and any such
incidents or any perception that our security measures are inadequate could lead to loss of confidence in us and harm to our
reputation, any of which could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. Any actual or
perceived breach of privacy or security, or other security incident, impacting any entities with which we share or disclose data
(including, for example, our third-party technology providers) could have similar effects. We expect to incur significant costs
in an effort to detect and prevent privacy and security breaches and other privacy- and security-related incidents, and may face
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increased costs and requirements to expend substantial resources in the event of an actual or perceived privacy or security
breach or other incident.

We are subject to laws, regulations and contractual provisions as a government contractor or subcontractor, which may
pose increased risk of potential liability and expenses related thereto, which could have a material adverse effect on our
business, operating results and financial condition.

As a government contractor or subcontractor, we must comply with laws, regulations and contractual provisions relating to the
formation, administration and performance of government contracts and inclusion on government contract vehicles, which
affect how we and our partners do business with government agencies. U.S. governmental agencies, such as the Defense
Contract Audit Agency and the Defense Contract Management Agency, routinely audit and investigate government contractors.
In addition, as a result of actual or perceived noncompliance with government contracting laws, regulations or contractual
provisions, we may be subject to non-ordinary course audits and internal investigations which may prove costly to our business
financially, divert management time or limit our ability to continue selling our software products to our government customers.
These laws and regulations may impose other added costs on our business, and failure to comply with these or other applicable
regulations and requirements, including non-compliance in the past, could lead to claims for damages, downward contract price
adjustments or refund obligations, civil or criminal penalties, termination of contracts and suspension or debarment from
government contracting for a period of time with government agencies. Any such damages, penalties, disruption or limitation
in our ability to do business with a government would adversely impact, and could have a material adverse effect on, our
business, prospects, financial condition and operating results.

We are subject to U.S. and foreign anti-corruption and anti-money laundering laws and regulations. We can face criminal
liability and other serious consequences for violations of these laws, which can harm our business, prospects, financial
condition and operating results.

We are subject to the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977, as amended ("FCPA"), the U.S. domestic bribery statute
contained in 18 U.S.C. § 201, the U.S. Travel Act, and other anti-corruption, anti-bribery and anti-money laundering laws,
including those of other countries in which we conduct activities. Anti-corruption laws are interpreted broadly and prohibit
companies and their employees, business partners, third-party intermediaries, representatives and agents from authorizing,
promising, offering or providing, directly or indirectly, improper payments or anything else of value to government officials,
political candidates, political parties or commercial partners for the purpose of obtaining or retaining business or securing an
improper business advantage.

We have direct and indirect interactions with foreign officials, including in furtherance of sales to governmental entities in non-
U.S. countries. We sometimes leverage third parties to conduct our business abroad, and our third-party business partners,
intermediaries, representatives and agents may have direct or indirect interactions with officials and employees of government
agencies or state-owned or affiliated entities. We can be held liable for the corrupt or other illegal activities of our employees
or these third-parties, even if we do not explicitly authorize or have actual knowledge of such activities. The FCPA and other
applicable laws and regulations also require that we keep accurate books and records and maintain internal controls and
compliance procedures designed to prevent any such actions. While we have policies and procedures to address compliance
with such laws, our employees, business partners, third-party intermediaries, representatives and agents may take actions in
violation of our policies and applicable law, for which we may be held responsible. Our exposure for violating these laws
increases as our international presence expands and as we increase sales and operations in foreign jurisdictions.

Any allegations or violations of the laws and regulations described above may result in whistleblower complaints, adverse
media coverage, investigations, substantial civil and criminal fines and penalties, damages, settlements, prosecution,
enforcement actions, imprisonment, the loss of export or import privileges, suspension or debarment from government
contracts, tax reassessments, breach of contract and fraud litigation, reputational harm and other consequences, any of which
could adversely affect our business, prospects, financial condition and operating results. In addition, responding to any
investigation or action will likely result in a significant diversion of management's attention and resources and significant
defense costs and other professional fees.

We are subject to governmental export and import controls and laws that could subject us to liability if we are not in
compliance with such laws.

Our AI/ML Foundational Technology and related products, technology and services are subject to compliance with applicable
export control, import and economic sanctions laws and regulations, including the U.S. Export Administration Regulations,
U.S. International Traffic in Arms Regulations, U.S. Customs regulations and various economic and trade sanctions regulations
administered by the U.S. Treasury Department's Office of Foreign Assets Control. Exports of our software products and
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technology must be made in compliance with these laws and regulations. If we fail to comply with these laws and regulations,
we and certain of our employees could be subject to substantial civil or criminal penalties, including the possible loss of export
or import privileges; debarment from U.S. government contracting; fines, which may be imposed on us and responsible
employees or managers; and, in extreme cases, the incarceration of responsible employees or managers.

Moreover, international sales of our software may be subject to first obtaining licenses, clearances or authorizations from
various regulatory entities. If we are not allowed to export our software or the clearance process is burdensome and costly, our
ability to generate revenue would be adversely affected.

In addition, changes to our software, or changes in applicable export control, import or economic sanctions laws and regulations
may create delays in the introduction and sale of our software products, constrain collaboration with suppliers or other business
partners or, in some cases, prevent the export or import of our software to certain countries, governments or persons altogether.
Compliance with such laws and regulations may also be costly and require time and attention from our management. Any
change in export, import or economic sanctions laws and regulations, shift in the enforcement or scope of existing laws and
regulations or change in the countries, governments, persons or technologies targeted by such laws and regulations could also
result in decreased use of our software, as well as our decreased ability to export or market our software to potential customers.
Any decreased use of our software products or limitation on our ability to export or market our software would likely adversely
affect our business, prospects, financial condition and operating results.

Increased scrutiny and changing expectations from regulators, investors, customers, employees, and others regarding our
environmental, social and governance practices and reporting could cause us to incur additional costs, devote additional
resources and expose us to additional risks, which could adversely impact our reputation, customer acquisition and
retention, access to capital and employee retention.

Companies across all industries are facing increasing scrutiny related to their environmental, social and governance ("ESG")
practices and reporting. Regulators, investors, customers, employees and other stakeholders have focused increasingly on ESG
practices and placed increasing importance on the implications and social cost of their investments, purchases and other
interactions with companies. Equally, it is possible that some stakeholders may be opposed to the implementation of such
initiatives at all. Anti-ESG sentiment has gained some momentum across the United States, with several states having enacted
or proposed "anti-ESG" policies, legislation or issued related legal opinions. If our ESG practices and reporting do not meet
investor, customer or employee expectations, which continue to evolve, our brand, reputation and customer retention may be
negatively impacted. We could also incur additional costs and need to devote additional resources to monitor, report and
implement various ESG practices, including as a result of regulatory developments.

Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property

Our success depends in part on our ability to obtain and maintain protection for the intellectual property relating to our
software and other technologies.

Our success depends in part on our ability to obtain and maintain protection for the intellectual property relating to our software
and other technologies. We seek to protect our intellectual property through a combination of patents, trademarks and other
intellectual property rights, as well as confidentiality and/or intellectual property assignment agreements with our employees
and certain of our contractors, consultants, scientific advisors and other vendors and third-parties. In addition, we rely on
copyright and trade secret law to protect our proprietary software and technologies.

Patent positions covering robotics software and solutions can be highly uncertain and involve many new and evolving complex
legal, factual and technical issues. Patent laws and interpretations of those laws are subject to change and any such changes
may diminish the value of our patents or narrow the scope of our right to exclude others. In addition, we may fail to apply for
or be unable to obtain patents necessary to protect our technology or software products from competition or fail to enforce our
patents due to lack of information about the exact use of technology or processes by third parties or for a variety of other
reasons. Also, we cannot be sure that any patents will be granted in a timely manner or at all with respect to any of our pending
patent applications or that any patents that are granted will be adequate to exclude others for any significant period of time or
at all. Given the foregoing, and in order to continue reducing operational expenses, we are investing fewer resources in filing
and prosecuting new patents and on maintaining and enforcing various patents, especially in regions where we currently do not
focus our market growth strategy or with respect to patents with less relevance to our current business.

Litigation to establish or challenge the validity of patents or to defend against or assert against others' infringement,
unauthorized use, enforceability or invalidity, can be lengthy and expensive and may result in our patents being invalidated or
interpreted narrowly and may restrict our ability to be granted new patents related to our pending patent applications. Even if
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we prevail, litigation may be time consuming, force us to incur significant costs and divert management's attention from
managing our business while any damages or other remedies awarded to us may not be valuable or adequate. In addition, U.S.
patents and patent applications may be subject to interference or derivation proceedings, and U.S. patents may be subject to re-
examination and inter partes or post grant review proceedings in the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office. Furthermore, our issued
patents may be subject to claims of invalidity based on earlier filed patents or published applications not discovered in any
patent searches or by the patent offices that carried out examination of the issued patents. Foreign patents may also be subject
to opposition or comparable proceedings in corresponding foreign patent offices. Any of these proceedings may be expensive
and could result in the loss of a patent or denial of a patent application or the loss or reduction in the scope of one or more of
the claims of a patent or patent application.

In addition, we seek to protect our trade secrets, know-how, and confidential information that is not patentable or for which we
decide not to seek a patent by entering into confidentiality and intellectual property assignment agreements with our employees
and certain of our contractors and confidentiality agreements with certain of our consultants, scientific advisors and other
vendors and contractors. However, we may fail to enter into the necessary agreements, and even if entered into, these
agreements may be breached or otherwise fail to prevent disclosure, third-party infringement or misappropriation of our
proprietary information, may be limited as to their term and may not provide an adequate remedy in the event of unauthorized
disclosure or use of proprietary information. Enforcing a claim that a third party illegally obtained or is using our trade secrets
without authorization may be expensive and time consuming, and the outcome is unpredictable. Some of our employees or
consultants or service providers may own certain technology which they license to us for a set term. If these technologies are
material to our business after the term of the license and we are unable to use them, it could adversely affect our business and
profitability.

We have taken and continue to take precautions to initiate safeguards to protect our information technology systems. However,
these measures may not be adequate to safeguard our proprietary information, which could lead to the loss or impairment
thereof or to expensive litigation to defend our rights against competitors who may be better funded and have superior resources.
In addition, unauthorized parties may attempt to copy or reverse engineer certain aspects of our software or other technologies
that we consider proprietary or our proprietary information may otherwise become known or may be independently developed
by our competitors or other third parties. If other parties are able to use our proprietary technology or information, our ability
to compete could be harmed. Further, unauthorized use of our intellectual property may have occurred or may occur in the
future, without our knowledge.

We also have made efforts to register and enforce our trademark rights. However, trademark law and the associated
infringement analysis is complex, and, notwithstanding our efforts to develop and enforce our trademark portfolio, both
outgoing and incoming claims of trademark infringement could lead to limitations, loss or impairment of those trademark rights
or to expensive litigation to prosecute or defend our trademark rights against third-party infringers who may be better funded
and have superior resources.

If we are unable to obtain or maintain adequate protection for our intellectual property or if any protection is reduced or
eliminated, competitors may be able to use our technologies, resulting in harm to our competitive position and our business.

We may not be able to effectively protect our intellectual property rights in our target markets or at all.

Filing, prosecuting, maintaining and defending patents and trademarks and seeking to enforce copyrights on our intellectual
property in all target markets would be prohibitively expensive and time consuming, and thus our intellectual property rights
outside the United States are limited. In addition, the laws of some of our target markets, especially developing countries, such
as China, do not protect intellectual property rights to the same extent as federal and state laws in the United States. Also, it
may not be possible to effectively enforce intellectual property rights in some countries at all or to the same extent as in the
United States and other countries. Consequently, we are unable to prevent third parties from using our inventions in all of our
target markets, or from selling or importing products made using our inventions, technologies or software in the jurisdictions
in which we do not have (or are unable to effectively enforce) patent or other intellectual property protection. Competitors may
use our technologies in jurisdictions where they have not obtained patent protection to develop, market or otherwise
commercialize their own products, and we may be unable to prevent those competitors from importing those infringing products
into territories where we have patent protection, but enforcement may not be as strong as in the United States. These products
may compete with our software products and our patents and other intellectual property rights may not be effective or sufficient
to prevent them from competing in those jurisdictions. Moreover, strategic partners, competitors or others may raise legal
challenges against our intellectual property rights or may infringe upon our intellectual property rights, including through means
that may be difficult to detect or prevent.
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Many companies have encountered significant problems in protecting and defending intellectual property rights in foreign
jurisdictions. Proceedings to enforce our patent rights in the United States or foreign jurisdictions could result in substantial
costs and divert our efforts and attention from other aspects of our business, could put our patents at risk of being invalidated
or interpreted narrowly and our patent applications at risk of not issuing and could provoke third parties to assert patent
infringement or other claims against us. We may not prevail in any lawsuits that we initiate and the damages or other remedies
awarded, if any, may not be commercially meaningful. Accordingly, our efforts to enforce our intellectual property rights in
the United States and around the world may be inadequate to obtain a significant commercial advantage from the intellectual
property that we develop or license from third parties.

We may be subject to intellectual property infringement claims or misappropriation claims, which may be time consuming
and expensive and, if adversely determined, could limit our ability to commercialize our software products.

Companies operating in the robotics software industry may face difficulty enforcing their patent and other intellectual property
rights and may become subject to a substantial amount of litigation over these rights. In particular, our competitors in both the
United States and abroad, many of which have substantially greater resources than we have and have made substantial
investments in competing technologies, have been issued patents and filed patent applications with respect to their products
and processes and may apply for other patents in the future. The large number of patents, the rapid rate of new patent issuances
and the complexities of the technology involved increase the risk of patent litigation.

Determining whether a product infringes a patent involves complex legal and factual issues and the outcome of patent litigation
is often uncertain. No assurance can be given that patents containing claims covering our software products, technology or
methods do not exist, have not been filed or could not be filed or issued. In addition, because patent applications can take years
to issue and because publication schedules for pending applications vary by jurisdiction, there may be applications now pending
of which we are unaware and which may result in issued patents that our current or future products infringe. Also, because the
claims of published patent applications can change between publication and patent grant, published applications that initially
do not appear to be problematic may issue with claims that potentially cover our software, technology or methods. Moreover,
there may be pending, published or allowed applications that may disclose, but not claim, subject matter covering our software,
technology or methods, where such pending or published applications may be amended, or one or more continuation or
divisional applications may be filed, in an attempt to capture, to the extent possible, such software, technology or methods that
are in the public domain, and which may result in issued patents that our current or future products infringe.

Infringement actions and other intellectual property claims brought against us, whether with or without merit, may cause us to
incur substantial costs and could place a significant strain on our financial resources, divert the attention of management, and
harm our reputation. We cannot be certain that we will successfully defend against any allegations of infringement. If we are
found to infringe another party's patents, we could be required to pay damages. We could also be prevented from selling our
infringing software products, unless we can obtain a license to use the technology covered by such patents or can redesign our
software products so that they do not infringe. A license may not be available on commercially reasonable terms or at all, and
we may not be able to redesign our software products to avoid infringement. In these circumstances, we may not be able to sell
our software products at competitive prices or at all, and our business, prospects, financial condition and operating results
would be harmed.

Intellectual property discovered through government funded programs may be subject to federal regulations such as
"march-in" rights, certain reporting requirements and a preference for U.S.-based companies. Compliance with such
regulations may limit our exclusive rights and limit our ability to contract with non-U.S. manufacturers.

We may develop, acquire or license intellectual property rights that have been generated through the use of U.S. government
funding or grants. Pursuant to the Bayh-Dole Act of 1980, the U.S. government has certain rights in inventions developed with
government funding. These U.S. government rights may include a non-exclusive, non-transferable, irrevocable worldwide
license to use inventions for any governmental purpose. In addition, the U.S. government may have the right, under certain
limited circumstances, to require us to grant exclusive, partially exclusive, or non-exclusive licenses to any of these inventions
to a third party if the U.S. government determines that: (1) adequate steps have not been taken to commercialize the invention;
(2) government action is necessary to meet public health or safety needs; or (3) government action is necessary to meet
requirements for public use under federal regulations (also referred to as "march-in rights"). Such "march-in" rights would
apply to new subject matter arising from the use of such government funding or grants and would not extend to pre-existing
subject matter or subject matter arising from funds unrelated to the government funding or grants. If the U.S. government
exercised its march-in rights in our intellectual property rights generated through the use of U.S. government funding or grants,
we could be forced to license or sublicense intellectual property we developed or that we license on terms unfavorable to us,
and there can be no assurance that we would receive compensation from the U.S. government for the exercise of such rights.
The U.S. government may also have the right to take title to these inventions if the grant recipient fails to disclose the invention
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to the government or fails to file an application to register the intellectual property within specified time limits. Intellectual
property generated under a government funded program is also subject to certain reporting requirements, compliance with
which may require us to expend substantial resources. In addition, the U.S. government requires that any products embodying
any of these inventions or produced through the use of any of these inventions be manufactured substantially in the United
States. This preference for U.S. industry may be waived by the federal agency that provided the funding if the owner or assignee
of the intellectual property can show that reasonable but unsuccessful efforts have been made to grant licenses on similar terms
to potential licensees that would be likely to manufacture substantially in the United States or that under the circumstances
domestic manufacture is not commercially feasible. This preference for U.S. industry may limit our ability to contract with
non-U.S. product manufacturers for products covered by such intellectual property.

We may be subject to damages resulting from claims that we or our employees have wrongfully used or disclosed alleged
trade secrets of our employees' former employers.

We may be subject to claims that we or our employees have inadvertently or otherwise used or disclosed trade secrets or other
proprietary information of an employee's former employers. Litigation may be necessary to defend against these claims. If we
fail to defend against such claims, in addition to paying monetary damages, we may lose valuable intellectual property rights
or personnel or be forced to seek a license, which may not be available on commercially acceptable terms or at all. A loss of
key personnel or their work product could hamper or prevent our ability to commercialize our software products, which could
severely harm our business. Even if we are successful in defending against these claims, litigation could result in substantial
costs and demand on management resources.

Risks Related to Ownership of our Securities

The issuance or sale of shares of our Common Stock, or rights to acquire shares of our Common Stock could depress the
trading price of our Common Stock and may cause dilution to our existing stockholders.

We may from time to time conduct offerings of our Common Stock or other securities that are convertible into or exercisable
for our Common Stock to finance our operations or fund acquisitions, or for other purposes. For further information on our
financing activities in the year ended December 31, 2024, see "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition
and Results of Operations—Liquidity and Capital Resources."

If we issue additional shares of our Common Stock or rights to acquire shares of our Common Stock, if any of our existing
stockholders sells a substantial amount of our Common Stock, or if the market perceives that such issuances or sales may occur,
then the trading price of our Common Stock may significantly decrease. In addition, our issuance of additional shares of
Common Stock, including upon exercise of our outstanding warrants, will dilute the ownership interests of our existing
stockholders.

The price of our Common Stock could decline due to the large number of shares of our Common Stock being subject to
employee equity awards.

We have granted and expect to continue to grant equity awards to our directors and employees as additional compensation in
an effort to align their interests with those of our stockholders. Because these awards may be scheduled to vest during specified
points in time, such as expected open trading windows under our insider trading policy, there is a potential that sales of large
amounts of our Common Stock may take place during concentrated periods, leading to a decline in the price of our Common
Stock.

"Sell-to-cover" transactions can be used in connection with the vesting and settlement of equity awards that are granted to our
employees so that shares of our Common Stock are sold on behalf of our employees in an amount sufficient to cover the tax
withholding obligations and, if applicable, exercise price associated with these awards. As a result of these transactions, a
significant number of shares of our Common Stock may be sold over a limited time period in connection with significant
vesting events. We may also settle tax withholding obligations in connection with vesting of awards through "net settlement,"
in which we remit cash to satisfy the tax withholding obligation and withhold a number of the vested shares on each vesting
date. Depending on the fair value of our Common Stock and the number of awards vesting on any applicable vesting date, such
net settlement could require us to expend substantial funds to satisfy tax withholding.
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The markets for our publicly traded securities have been volatile and may not continue at all.

Since September 24, 2021, when Rotor consummated the previously announced business combination (the "Business
Combination") and the commencement of the trading of our Common Stock and deSPAC Public Warrants (as defined below)
on the Nasdaq Global Market, the prices of our publicly traded securities have been volatile and may continue to fluctuate
significantly due to various factors, some of which are beyond our control. Any of the factors listed below could have a material
adverse effect on your investment in our securities and our securities may trade at prices significantly below the price you paid
for them. In such circumstances, the trading price of our securities may not recover and may experience a further decline.

Factors affecting the trading price of our securities may include:

• actual or anticipated fluctuations in our quarterly financial results or the quarterly financial results of companies
perceived to be similar to us;

• changes in the market's expectations about our operating results;

• the public's reaction to our press releases, our other public announcements and our filings with the SEC;

• changes in strategy or financial condition;

• speculation in the press or investment community;

• success of competitors;

• our operating results failing to meet the expectation of securities analysts or investors in a particular period;

• changes in operating performance and stock market valuations of robotics software or other technology companies,
or those in our industry in particular;

• changes in financial estimates and recommendations by securities analysts concerning our company or the market
in general;

• operating and stock price performance of other companies that investors deem comparable to us;

• our ability to market, sell and deliver our software products;

• changes in laws and regulations affecting our business;

• commencement of, or involvement in, litigation;

• changes in our capital structure, such as future issuances of securities or the incurrence of additional debt;

• the volume of shares of our publicly traded securities, including as a result of the exercise of our deSPAC Public
Warrants or the exercise or vesting of employee equity awards;

• any major change in our board of directors or management;

• sales of substantial amounts of Common Stock by our directors, officers or significant stockholders or the
perception that such sales could occur;

• the realization of any of the risk factors discussed herein;

• additions or departures of key personnel;

• failure to comply with Nasdaq listing requirements (see "Our publicly traded securities are subject to potential
delisting from The Nasdaq Global Market if we do not meet Nasdaq's continued listing requirements, which would
likely impair the liquidity of the trading market for our Common Stock and warrants");

• failure to comply with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 or other laws or regulations;

• actual, potential or perceived control, accounting or reporting problems;

• changes in accounting principles, policies and guidelines; and

• general economic and political conditions such as recessions, interest rates, fuel prices, international currency
fluctuations and acts of war or terrorism.
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Broad market and industry factors may materially harm the market price of our securities irrespective of our operating
performance or any of the factors listed above. The securities markets in general have experienced price and volume fluctuations
that have often been unrelated or disproportionate to the operating performance of the particular companies affected. The
trading prices and valuations of these securities, including our securities, are not predictable. A loss of investor confidence in
the market for the stocks of other companies which investors perceive to be similar to us could depress our stock price regardless
of our business, prospects, financial conditions or results of operations. A decline in the market price of our securities also
could adversely affect our ability to issue additional securities and our ability to obtain additional financing in the future.

In the past, securities class action litigation has often been initiated against companies following periods of volatility in their
stock price. This type of litigation could result in substantial costs and divert our management's attention and resources, and
could also require us to make substantial payments to satisfy judgments or to settle litigation.

Our publicly traded securities are subject to potential delisting from the Nasdaq Global Market if we do not meet Nasdaq's
continued listing requirements, which would likely impair the liquidity of the trading market for our Common Stock and
warrants.

Our listing on the Nasdaq Global Market is contingent upon meeting all the continued listing requirements of the Nasdaq Global
Market. On two occasions in the past, we received notice from Nasdaq that we were not in compliance with its continued listing
requirements based on the minimum bid price per share of our Common Stock. While in each case we were able to achieve
compliance within the compliance period, if we fail to meet any listing requirements, we could again receive notice of non-
compliance and in that case may not be able to regain compliance. If our Common Stock or deSPAC Public Warrants are
delisted from the Nasdaq Global Market and are not eligible for quotation or listing on another market or exchange, we may
be transferred to an over-the-counter market or on an electronic bulletin board established for unlisted securities such as the
Pink Sheets or the OTC Bulletin Board. In such event, it could become more difficult to dispose of, or obtain accurate price
quotations for our shares, and it would likely also reduce the visibility, liquidity, and value of our Common Stock, reduce
institutional investor interest in us, and may increase the volatility of our Common Stock. Delisting could also cause a loss of
confidence of potential industry partners, lenders and employees, which may harm our ability to raise capital through alternative
financing sources on terms acceptable to us, which could further harm our business and our future prospects. Some or all of
these material adverse consequences may contribute to a further decline in our stock price. If an active trading market for our
securities is not sustained with sufficient trading volume, you may have limited or no ability to sell your securities.

If securities or industry analysts cease publishing research or reports about us, our business or our market, or if they change
their recommendations regarding our Common Stock, then the price and trading volume of our Common Stock could
decline.

The trading markets for our Common Stock and deSPAC Public Warrants will be influenced by the research and reports that
industry or securities analysts may publish about us, our business, our market or our competitors. Analysts who previously
covered us in the past have since ceased publishing research or reports about us. If any analysts who cover us in the future
change their recommendation regarding our stock adversely, or provide more favorable relative recommendations about our
competitors, the price of our Common Stock and deSPAC Public Warrants would likely decline. If any analyst covering our
company in the future were to cease coverage of us or fail to regularly publish reports on us, we could lose visibility in the
financial markets, which could cause the prices and trading volumes of the Common Stock and deSPAC Public Warrants to
decline.

There is no guarantee that the deSPAC Public Warrants or the deSPAC Private Placement Warrants will ever be in the
money, and they may expire worthless.

On January 20, 2021, Rotor consummated the initial public offering ("IPO") of 27,600,000 units (the "Units"). Each Unit
included one sixth of a share of Class A Common Stock and one half of one warrant (the "deSPAC Public Warrants").
Simultaneously with the closing of the IPO, Rotor consummated the sale of 7,270,000 warrants (the "deSPAC Private
Placement Warrants," and together with the deSPAC Public Warrants, the "deSPAC Warrants") in a private placement to Rotor
Sponsor LLC. The exercise price of our deSPAC Warrants is higher than is typical with many companies that have merged
with similar blank check companies in the past. Historically, with regard to units offered by blank check companies, the exercise
price of a warrant was generally a fraction of the purchase price of the units in the initial public offering. The exercise price for
our deSPAC Warrants is $11.50 per warrant. Upon exercise of the deSPAC Warrants the number of shares of Common Stock
issuable shall be adjusted 1-for-6, the same ratio as the reverse stock split that was effective as of July 5, 2023, such that each
warrant will be exercisable for 1/6 of a share of our Common Stock for a purchase price of $11.50 per warrant. There is no
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guarantee that the deSPAC Warrants will ever be in the money prior to their expiration, and as such, the deSPAC Warrants
may expire worthless.

We may redeem unexpired deSPAC Warrants prior to their exercise at a time that is disadvantageous to deSPAC Warrant
holders, thereby making their deSPAC Warrants worthless.

We have the ability to redeem outstanding deSPAC Warrants at any time after they become exercisable and prior to their
expiration, subject to certain exceptions, provided that the last reported sales price of our Common Stock equals or exceeds
$60.00 per share (as adjusted for stock splits, stock dividends, reorganizations, recapitalization and the like) for any 20 trading
days within a 30 trading-day period ending on the third trading day prior to the date on which we give proper notice of such
redemption to the deSPAC Warrant holders and provided certain other conditions are met. For additional information on the
circumstances in which the deSPAC Public Warrants may be redeemed, see "Description of Securities—Warrants—Public
Stockholders' Warrants" in this Annual Report. If and when the deSPAC Warrants become redeemable by us, we may exercise
our redemption right even if we are unable to register or qualify the underlying securities for sale under all applicable state
securities laws. Redemption of the outstanding deSPAC Warrants could force the deSPAC Warrant holders (1) to exercise their
deSPAC Warrants and pay the exercise price therefor at a time when it may be disadvantageous for them to do so, (2) to sell
their deSPAC Warrants at the then-current market price when they might otherwise wish to hold their deSPAC Warrants or (3)
to accept the nominal redemption price which, at the time the outstanding deSPAC Warrants are called for redemption, is likely
to be substantially less than the market value of their deSPAC Warrants. None of the deSPAC Private Placement Warrants will
be redeemable by us so long as they are held by the initial purchasers or their permitted transferees, subject to certain exceptions.
None of the warrants sold in private placement under the Investor Purchase Agreement and the Insider Purchase Agreement
are redeemable by us.

DeSPAC Warrants are exercisable for Common Stock, and their exercise would increase the number of shares eligible for
future resale in the public market and result in dilution to our stockholders.

As of December 31, 2024, there were 20,549,453 deSPAC Warrants outstanding. Each whole deSPAC Warrant entitles the
holder to purchase one sixth of a share of our Common Stock at a price of $11.50 per warrant, which is equivalent to
approximately 3,424,909 shares of Common Stock. The shares of Common Stock issued upon exercise of our deSPAC
Warrants will result in dilution to the then existing holders of Common Stock and increase the number of shares eligible for
resale in the public market. Sales of substantial numbers of such shares in the public market could adversely affect the market
price of our Common Stock or deSPAC Public Warrants.

2024 Warrants are exercisable for Common Stock, and their exercise would increase the number of shares eligible for
future resale in the public market and result in dilution to our stockholders.

On November 1, 2024, we issued warrants to purchase up to 3,220,805 shares of common stock (the "2024 Warrants"). As of
December 31, 2024, there were 3,220,805 2024 Warrants outstanding. Each whole 2024 Warrant entitles the holder to purchase
one share of our Common Stock at a price of $2.30 per share. The shares of Common Stock issued upon exercise of our 2024
Warrants will result in dilution to the then existing holders of Common Stock and increase the number of shares eligible for
resale in the public market. Sales of substantial numbers of such shares in the public market could adversely affect the market
price of our Common Stock or deSPAC Public Warrants.

Anti-takeover provisions contained in our Charter and Bylaws, as well as provisions of Delaware law, could impair a
takeover attempt, which could limit the price investors might be willing to pay in the future for our Common Stock.

Our Charter and Bylaws contain provisions that may discourage unsolicited takeover proposals that stockholders may consider
to be in their best interests. We are also subject to anti-takeover provisions under Delaware law, which could delay or prevent
a change of control. Together, these provisions may make more difficult the removal of management and may discourage
transactions that otherwise could involve payment of a premium over prevailing market prices for our securities. These
provisions include:

• a prohibition on stockholder action by written consent, which forces stockholder action to be taken at an annual or
special meeting of our stockholders;

• only the board of directors (pursuant to a majority vote of the whole board), the chairperson of the board of
directors, or the Chief Executive Officer may call a special meeting;

• stockholder vote of at least 66-2/3% required to remove a director for "cause";
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• stockholder vote of at least 66-2/3% required to approve certain amendments to the Charter and Bylaws; and

• the designation of Delaware and federal courts as the exclusive forums for certain disputes.

Our Bylaws provide that the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware will be the sole and exclusive forum for certain
stockholder litigation matters, which could limit our stockholders' ability to obtain a favorable judicial forum for disputes
with us or our directors, officers, employees or stockholders.

Our Bylaws provide, to the fullest extent permitted by law, that internal corporate claims may be brought only in the Court of
Chancery in the State of Delaware (or, if the Court of Chancery does not have, or declines to accept, jurisdiction, another state
court or a federal court located within the State of Delaware). In addition, our Bylaws provide that the federal district courts of
the United States will be the exclusive forum for resolving any complaint asserting a cause of action arising under the Securities
Act. This forum selection provision will not apply to claims brought to enforce a duty or liability created by the Exchange Act.
Any person or entity purchasing or otherwise acquiring or holding any interest in our stock shall be deemed to have notice of
and consented to the forum provision in our Bylaws.

This choice of forum provision may limit a stockholder's ability to bring a claim in a judicial forum that it finds favorable for
disputes with us or any of our directors, officers, other employees or stockholders, which may discourage lawsuits with respect
to such claims. Alternatively, if a court were to find the choice of forum provision contained in our Bylaws to be inapplicable
or unenforceable in an action, we may incur additional costs associated with resolving such action in other jurisdictions, which
could harm our business, operating results and financial condition. For example, under the Securities Act, federal courts have
concurrent jurisdiction over all suits brought to enforce any duty or liability created by the Securities Act, and investors cannot
waive compliance with the federal securities laws and the rules and regulations thereunder. Accordingly, there is uncertainty
as to whether a court would enforce such a forum selection provision as written in connection with claims arising under the
Securities Act.

The JOBS Act permits "emerging growth companies" like us to take advantage of certain exemptions from various
reporting requirements applicable to other public companies that are not emerging growth companies.

We qualify as an "emerging growth company" as defined in Section 2(a)(19) of the Securities Act, as modified by the JOBS
Act. As such, we take advantage of certain exemptions from various reporting requirements applicable to other public
companies that are not emerging growth companies for as long as we continue to be an emerging growth company, including
(1) the exemption from the auditor attestation requirements with respect to internal control over financial reporting under
Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, (2) the exemptions from say-on-pay, say-on-frequency and say-on-golden
parachute voting requirements and (3) reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation in our periodic reports
and proxy statements. As a result, our stockholders may not have access to certain information they deem important. We will
remain an emerging growth company until the earlier of (1) the last day of the fiscal year (a) following January 20, 2026, the
fifth anniversary of Rotor's initial public offering, (b) in which we have total annual gross revenue of at least $1.235 billion or
(c) in which we are deemed to be a large accelerated filer, which means the market value of our Common Stock and deSPAC
Public Warrants that is held by non-affiliates exceeds $700 million as of the last business day of our prior second fiscal quarter,
and (2) the date on which we have issued more than $1.0 billion in non-convertible debt during the prior three-year period.

In addition, Section 107 of the JOBS Act also provides that an emerging growth company can take advantage of the exemption
from complying with new or revised accounting standards provided in Section 7(a)(2)(B) of the Securities Act as long as we
are an emerging growth company. An emerging growth company can therefore delay the adoption of certain accounting
standards until those standards would otherwise apply to private companies. The JOBS Act provides that a company can elect
to opt out of the extended transition period and comply with the requirements that apply to non-emerging growth companies,
but any such election to opt out is irrevocable. We have elected to avail ourselves of such extended transition period, which
means that when a standard is issued or revised and it has different application dates for public or private companies, we, as an
emerging growth company, can adopt the new or revised standard at the time private companies adopt the new or revised
standard. This may make comparison of our financial statements with another public company that is neither an emerging
growth company nor an emerging growth company that has opted out of using the extended transition period difficult or
impossible because of the potential differences in accounting standards used.

Investors may find our Common Stock or deSPAC Public Warrants less attractive because we rely on these exemptions and
may continue to rely on them to the extent they remain available to us. If some investors find our Common Stock or deSPAC
Public Warrants less attractive as a result of these exemptions and reduced disclosure as an emerging growth company, there
may be a less active trading market for and/or more price volatility with respect to our Common Stock or deSPAC Public
Warrants.
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Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments.

None.

Item 1C. Cybersecurity.

We recognize the critical importance of developing, implementing and maintaining robust cybersecurity measures to safeguard
our information systems and protect the confidentiality, integrity and availability of our data.

Managing Material Risks and Integrated Overall Risk Management

We have implemented a risk-based approach to identify and assess the cybersecurity threats that could affect our business and
information systems. Our cybersecurity program is aligned with industry standards and includes technical, administrative and
physical controls, including encryption, firewalls, anti-virus systems and well-documented processes and policies. We continue
to promote a company-wide culture of cybersecurity risk management. Cybersecurity considerations are integrated in our
decision-making processes. We have an experienced IT team led by our Vice President of Information Systems, who has many
years of experience in IT management, and reports directly to the Chief Executive Officer and works closely with our
management team to evaluate and address cybersecurity risks in alignment with our business objectives and operational needs.
Our VP of Information Systems provides regular updates on cybersecurity to the Audit Committee of the board of directors.
Our board of directors, as a whole and through the Audit Committee of the board of directors, exercises oversight with respect
to cybersecurity and our risk management strategy, consistent with its approach to overseeing our enterprise risk management
as a whole.

Engagement of Third Parties on Risk Management

We engage with a range of external experts, including cybersecurity assessors, consultants and auditors in evaluating and testing
our risk management systems. These partnerships enable us to leverage specialized knowledge and insights. Our collaboration
with these third parties includes regular audits, threat assessments and consultation on security enhancements.

Oversight of Third-Party Risk

We have established processes to oversee and manage risks relating to third-party service providers. For example, our Security
Operations Center, employs a Security Information and Event Management ("SIEM") and other systems to monitor risks while
also conducting security assessments of third-party providers before engagement and maintain ongoing monitoring to ensure
compliance with our cybersecurity standards.

Risks from Cybersecurity Threats

We have not encountered cybersecurity challenges that have materially impaired our business strategy, results of operations or
financial condition. From time to time, we experience cybersecurity events that require investigation. For additional information
regarding whether any risks from cybersecurity threats, including as a result of any cybersecurity incidents are reasonably likely
to materially affect our company, including our business strategy, results of operations or financial condition, please refer to
Item 1A, "Risk Factors," in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, including the risk factor entitled "We are subject to cybersecurity
risks to our operational systems, security systems, infrastructure, and data processed by us or third-party vendors."

Item 2. Properties.

Our primary facility is located in Salt Lake City, Utah consisting of approximately 61,000 square feet of leased space. The
lease expires in May 2033 and has two options to extend the lease for three-year periods. Should we need additional space, we
believe we will be able to obtain additional space on commercially reasonable terms.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings.

From time to time, we may be subject to legal proceedings. We are not currently a party to or aware of any proceedings that
we believe will have, individually or in the aggregate, a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results
of operations. Regardless of outcome, litigation can have an adverse impact on us because of defense and settlement costs,
diversion of management resources and other factors.
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Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures.

Not applicable.
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PART II

Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity
Securities.

Market Information

Our Common Stock and deSPAC Public Warrants are traded on the Nasdaq Global Market under the symbols "PDYN" and
"PDYNW," respectively.

Holders

As of February 11, 2025, there were 382 stockholders of record of our Common Stock and 32 holders of record of our warrants.

Dividend Policy

We currently intend to retain all available funds and any future earnings to fund the growth and development of our business.
We have never declared or paid any cash dividends on our capital stock. We do not intend to pay cash dividends to our
stockholders in the foreseeable future. Investors should not purchase our Common Stock with the expectation of receiving
cash dividends.

Any future determination to declare dividends will be made at the discretion of our board of directors and will depend on our
financial condition, operating results, capital requirements, general business conditions and other factors that our board of
directors may deem relevant.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

None.

Repurchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer and Affiliated Purchasers

None.

Item 6. [Reserved.]
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Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

You should read the following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations in conjunction with
our consolidated financial statements and related notes thereto included elsewhere in this Annual Report. In addition to
historical information, the following discussion and analysis contains forward-looking statements that involve risks,
uncertainties and assumptions. Our actual results may differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking
statements as a result of certain factors, including those set forth in Part I Item 1A Risk Factors and elsewhere in this Annual
Report. See also Part I Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements in this Annual Report.

Overview

Our mission is to deliver artificial intelligence software products that enable robotic and unmanned platforms, or robotic
systems, in the industrial and defense sectors to perform complex tasks in arbitrary (i.e., unstructured and dynamic) human
environments. Our AI/ML Foundational Technology enhances the utility and functionality of third-party stationary and mobile
robotic systems by allowing these systems to quickly observe, learn, reason and act in structured and unstructured
environments. Our AI/ML Foundational Technology is designed with artificial intelligence ("AI"), and machine learning
("ML"), technologies to enable robotic systems to perceive their environment and quickly adapt to changing circumstances by
generalizing (i.e., learning) from their past experience using dynamic real-time operations "on the edge" (i.e., on the robotic
system and not in the cloud) without extensive programming, training or the latency associated with processing in the cloud.
We believe this "human-like" ability to learn, reason and adapt will be a key differentiator in assisting our customers to enhance
productivity in dynamic or unstructured environments, where human reasoning has traditionally been required to complete the
task. We designed our AI/ML Foundational Technology to be hardware agnostic, meaning that our AI/ML software products
are designed so that with a minimal integration effort they will be able to function on a wide variety of industrial robots, cobots,
unmanned aerial vehicles ("UAV"), unmanned ground vehicles ("UGV") and other remotely operated vehicles ("ROV").

Our AI/ML Foundational Technology is the foundational technology for our two software products. The first, Palladyne IQ,
has been developed for use with industrial robots and cobots, and the second, Palladyne Pilot, is being developed for use with
unmanned platforms with our current focus being Class 1 UAVs. We released the initial commercial version of our Palladyne
IQ product in October 2024 and expect to release the initial commercial version of Palladyne Pilot by the end of the first quarter
of 2025. Our Palladyne IQ product continues to undergo reliability testing, debugging and other stabilizing improvements as
we continue internal testing and learn from customer trials.

We believe that our initial customer base will be comprised of innovators and early adopters in the industrial manufacturing,
defense, infrastructure maintenance, repair and surveillance, energy and aerospace and aviation industries. We believe that if
we are successful in demonstrating the value of our products with these early adopters, there will be many potential customers
that follow. Palladyne IQ is being offered through a term-based licensing model that would result in a recurring revenue stream.
We may also offer add-on functionality for an additional license fee. We may charge an upfront fee for the hardware associated
with Palladyne IQ or embed the cost into the license fee. We anticipate offering Palladyne Pilot through a device-based
licensing model. We expect to begin generating revenues from commercial customers of Palladyne IQ and Palladyne Pilot in
2025. The majority of our sales and marketing efforts are focused initially on U.S. markets, but we are also exploring
opportunities in select non-U.S. markets on a more limited basis.

We have U.S. government revenue-generating contracts related to various aspects of our AI/ML Foundational Technology and
our Palladyne IQ and Palladyne Pilot products. As scheduled to date, we have timely met all the development milestones
associated with these contracts and recognized revenue based on work completed. Please see Part II Item 1A Risk Factors for
a discussion of the risks related to these activities, in particular those discussed under "Risks Related to our Business".

As a result of our business evaluation and refined product strategy announced in 2023, we reorganized our operations to focus
on the development and commercialization of our AI/ML Foundational Technology and have taken actions to reduce costs,
including the 2023 RIFs and winding down substantially all of our operations in Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania. For additional
information around the risks associated with our strategy decision-making see Part I Item 1A Risk Factors "Our management
team has broad discretion in making strategic decisions to execute our growth plans, and our management's decisions have
not always led to the desired result. Current and future decisions may not be successful in achieving our business objectives
or may have unintended consequences that negatively impact our growth prospects".
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Key Factors Affecting Operating Results

We believe that our performance and future success depend on several factors that present significant opportunities for us but
also pose risks and challenges, including those discussed below and in Part I Item 1A Risk Factors of this Annual Report on
Form 10-K.

Development, Testing and Commercial Launch of our AI/ML Foundational Technology

We currently expect to derive commercial licensing revenues from Palladyne IQ and Palladyne Pilot beginning in 2025. We
expect to continue commercialization efforts, internal testing and customer trials for both products throughout 2025. Whether
we are successful in these efforts depends on many factors, including those discussed under Part I Item 1A Risk Factors "Risks
Related to Our Business." Such risks may result in delay in achieving product revenues, which would adversely affect our
financial condition and operating results.

Financing of Operations

We intend to use our cash on hand to continue to enhance our software products, conduct product development activities,
pursue marketing and sales opportunities and fund operations as we seek to commercialize and achieve revenue from our
products. The amount and timing of our future funding requirements will depend on many factors, including the pace and
results of our product development efforts, our ability to sell our software products and thereby recognize associated revenue,
capital and human capital requirements to develop and sell products prior to receiving payments sufficient to cover our costs
and our ability to lower product costs as volumes increase.

We have taken and continue to take numerous steps to manage our use of cash. For example, the 2023 RIFs allowed us to
further conserve our cash resources and manage operating expenses. The last cash payments related to the 2023 RIFs were paid
during the first quarter of 2024. Additionally, during the fourth quarter of 2024 we raised approximately $25 million in gross
proceeds from the sale of our Common Stock and warrants. For further information on our financing activities in the year ended
December 31, 2024, see "Liquidity and Capital Resources."

We believe we have sufficient liquidity to operate for at least the next 12 months without the need to raise additional capital.
However, we may decide to seek additional financing during that time to bolster our cash reserves and increase our ability to
continue to pursue our business objectives. As a result, we intend to continue monitoring our liquidity, financial and business
results and outlook and market conditions, and may be opportunistic and raise capital when we consider market conditions are
good or a favorable opportunity exists. Any delays in the successful commercialization and sales of our AI/ML software
products will negatively impact our ability to generate revenue, our profitability, our cash flows, our overall operating
performance and our ability to continue operations and may result in the need to raise additional capital. We will continue to
carefully evaluate our use of cash and liquidity.

Customer Demand

Although demand for AI/ML software products has grown in recent years, the market continues to evolve. The market demand
for our software is unproven, and important assumptions about the characteristics of targeted markets, pricing and sales cycles
may be inaccurate. While we believe that our products will provide significant benefits and return on investment to customers,
as it is a new technology, we are dependent on customers who are willing to adopt, purchase and implement new technologies
and products. If customer demand does not develop as expected or we do not accurately estimate pricing, adoption rates and
sales cycles for our products, our business, results of operations and financial condition will be adversely affected.

Continued Investment and Innovation

We are a pioneer in the robotic systems industry and benefit from lessons learned over 30-plus years and significant investment
in research and development. Through our hardware development efforts over many years, including our AI-related software
development efforts, we developed a significant amount of advanced technology that we are leveraging to develop our AI/ML
Foundational Technology and related products. We believe our financial performance is dependent on our ability to successfully
develop and commercialize our products. It is important that we continually identify and respond to rapidly evolving customer
requirements and competitive threats, develop and introduce innovative products, enhance our products and generate active
market demand for and sell our products. If we fail to do this, our market and financial position and revenue may be adversely
affected, and our investments in these technologies will not be recovered.
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Geopolitical and Macro-economic Environment

Geopolitical and macro-economic factors, such as inflation, tariffs or the threat of tariffs, interest rates, oil prices,
unemployment rates, international conflicts, such as the current wars between Russia and Ukraine and in the middle east,
volatility in the stock market and political or social unrest, can have significant impacts on economic activity, which in turn
could affect demand for our products or our ability to cost-effectively develop and sell our products. Among other things, these
and similar factors can affect our ability to hire or retain qualified personnel, our labor and materials costs, the prices we charge
for our software products and the budgets of our customers and their expected return-on-investment from the purchase of a
license for our software product. Many of these factors are outside of our control but can have a significant impact on our
business success and operating results. If we are unable to manage our business successfully in response to any such factors,
our business and results of operations would be adversely affected.

Basis of Presentation

Currently, we conduct business through one operating segment. All long-lived assets are maintained in, and all losses are
attributable to, the United States of America. See Note 13, Segment Information, in the accompanying consolidated financial
statements for more information about our operating segment.

Components of Results of Operations

Revenue, Net

We have historically derived our revenue from two sources. First, we enter into research and development agreements primarily
with the government and leverage these contracts to further our product development efforts. We expect to continue to derive
revenue from research and development agreements in future periods. Product development contract revenue consists of
revenue arising from different types of contractual arrangements, including cost-type contracts and fixed-price contracts.

Second, we have historically sold our legacy hardware products and related parts and repair services. Product revenue primarily
consists of sales of our legacy hardware products. Due to our recent shift in focus away from sales of our hardware products
and to licensing of our software products, in the future we expect to derive revenue from licensing fees. We have not yet
recognized any such licensing revenue.

Product Development Contract Revenue

Cost-type contracts – Research, development and/or testing service contracts, including cost-plus-fixed-fee and time and
material contracts, relate primarily to the development of our robotics systems, software and related technology. Cost-type
contracts are generally entered into with the U.S. government. These contracts are billed at cost plus a margin as defined by
the contract and the FAR. The FAR establishes regulations around procurement by the government and provides guidance on
the types of costs that are allowable in establishing prices for goods and services delivered under government contracts.
Revenue on cost-type contracts is recognized over time as goods and services are provided.

Fixed-price contracts – Fixed-price development contracts relate primarily to the development of technology in the area of
robotic systems and software. Fixed-price development contracts generally require a significant service of integrating a
complex set of tasks and components into a single deliverable. Revenue on fixed-price contracts is generally recognized over
time as goods and services are provided. To the extent our actual costs vary from the fixed fee, we will generate more or less
profit or could incur a loss. In accordance with Accounting Standards Codification 606, for fixed price contracts, we recognize
losses at the contract level in earnings in the period in which they are incurred.

Product Revenue

Product revenue has related to sales of our legacy hardware products, and certain miscellaneous parts, accessories and repair
services. We have generally provided a limited one-year warranty on hardware product sales. Product warranties are considered
assurance-type warranties and are not considered to be separate performance obligations. Product revenue is recognized at the
point in time when ownership of the goods is transferred, generally at the time of shipment to the customer. At the time product
revenue is recognized, an accrual is established for estimated warranty expenses based on historical experience as well as
anticipated product performance.

Operating Expenses
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Cost of Revenue

Our cost of revenue consists of direct and overhead expenses related to either the sale of our legacy hardware products or our
product development contract revenue. Direct expenses include direct labor used in the production of a product or in our product
development contracts, benefits expense associated with direct labor and materials directly tied to our product sale or product
development contracts. Overhead expenses include allocable supervisory labor, benefits expense associated with supervisory
labor, allocation of facilities expense including rent and utilities and allocation of IT labor support and equipment. Overhead
expenses not allocated to cost of revenue are expensed across research and development, general and administrative and sales
and marketing expenses, as applicable.

Research and Development

Research and development expenses are mainly comprised of costs from the continuing development and refinement of our
AI/ML Foundational Technology and related products, the continuing research and development costs associated with current
and future products and now suspended development of our robotic systems. These expenses include labor and related benefit
expenses, materials and supplies used in our laboratories, patent expenses and related overhead expenses. Our research and
development expenses may fluctuate as a percentage of our revenue from period to period due to the timing and extent of these
expenses.

General and Administrative

Our general and administrative expenses consist primarily of employee-related costs for our finance, legal, human resources
and other administrative teams, as well as certain executives. In addition, general and administrative expenses include
insurance, public company compliance related costs, including outside legal and accounting expenses, other professional fees,
facilities and IT expense not allocated to other operating expense categories and related overhead expense.

Sales and Marketing

Our sales and marketing expenses arise from our activities relating to our efforts to market and sell our products and services.
The expenses consist primarily of labor, benefits and employee-related costs, marketing programs and events, customer service,
lead generation fees, product marketing expense, public relations fees and travel associated with sales generation and marketing
support and related overhead expense.

We plan to continue to invest in sales and marketing to grow our customer base and increase our brand awareness. The trend
and timing of sales and marketing expenses will depend in part on the timing of the commercial launch of our products and
their reception by the market. As our product sales grow, we expect that sales and marketing expenses will increase in absolute
dollars in future periods; however, we expect our sales and marketing expenses to decrease as a percentage of our revenue over
the long term, although our sales and marketing expenses may fluctuate as a percentage of our revenue from period to period
due to the timing and extent of these expenses.

Intangible Amortization Expense

Amortization of intangible assets primarily consists of amortization of identified finite-lived trade name and trademarks,
developed technology and customer relationship assets that were acquired as part of the acquisition of RE2, Inc. These costs
were amortized on a straight-line basis over their expected useful lives.

Asset Write-down and Restructuring

Asset write-down and restructuring expenses consist primarily of severance and benefit payments, and acceleration of stock-
based compensation expense related to the 2023 RIFs, the write-down of inventory, accelerated amortization of our intangible
assets, accelerated depreciation of our property, plant and equipment and the write-off of certain assets as a result of our product
development reprioritization and pivot in strategy to focus on our AI/ML Foundational Technology and related products.

Other (Loss) Income

Interest Income, Net

Interest income consists primarily of interest received or earned on our cash and marketable securities balances. Portions of
our cash resided in money market investments and in U.S. Treasury securities at various points during the year.
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(Loss) Gain on Warrant Liabilities

(Loss) gain on warrant liabilities consists of the change in fair value of the deSPAC Warrants and the 2024 Warrants.

Other Income, Net

Other income, net consists primarily of other miscellaneous non-operating items such as proceeds from the CARES Act
employee retention credit.

Income Tax Expense

Income taxes consist of taxes currently due plus deferred income taxes related primarily to differences between the tax bases
and financial reporting bases of assets and liabilities. Deferred income taxes represent the future tax return consequences of
those differences, which will either be taxable or deductible when the assets and liabilities are recovered or settled.

Results of Operations

Comparison of the Years Ended December 31, 2024 and 2023

Revenue, net

The following table presents our revenue for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023:

Year Ended December 31, 2024 vs. 2023 Change
(In thousands) 2024 2023 Change % Change
Product Development Contract Revenue $ 5,120 $ 5,256 $ (136) (3)%
Product Revenue 2,666 890 1,776 200%
Revenue, net $ 7,786 $ 6,146 $ 1,640 27%

Revenue increased by $1.6 million, or 27%, from $6.1 million in the year ended December 31, 2023 to $7.8 million in the year
ended December 31, 2024, as explained below.

Product Development Contract Revenue

Revenue derived from product development contracts decreased by $0.1 million, or 3%, from $5.3 million for the year ended
December 31, 2023 to $5.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2024. The decrease was primarily due to the completion
of certain product development contracts during 2023 that have not yet been replaced with new contracts. We expect future
revenue from product development contracts to fluctuate due to the timing of additional development contracts signed and the
completion of existing contracts. For the time being, we intend to take on only those development contracts that we believe
support and contribute to our AI/ML Foundational Technology and related product development efforts. As a result, there may
be fewer opportunities to replace completed contracts.

Product Revenue

Revenue derived from product sales increased by $1.8 million, or 200%, from $0.9 million for the year ended December 31,
2023 to $2.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2024. The increase was primarily due to one-time legacy hardware
product sales during the year ended December 31, 2024.
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Operating Expenses

The following table presents our operating expenses for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023:

Year Ended December 31, 2024 vs. 2023 Change
(In thousands) 2024 2023 Change % Change
Operating expenses:

Cost of revenue $ 3,488 $ 5,041 $ (1,553 ) (31 )%
Research and development 10,437 39,012 (28,575 ) (73 )%
General and administrative 16,842 31,454 (14,612 ) (46 )%
Sales and marketing 4,134 10,828 (6,694 ) (62 )%
Intangible amortization expense — 2,821 (2,821 ) (100 )%
Asset write-down and restructuring (192 ) 37,946 (38,138 ) (101 )%

Total operating expenses $ 34,709 $ 127,102 $ (92,393 ) (73 )%

Cost of Revenue

Cost of revenue decreased by $1.6 million, or 31%, from $5.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 to $3.5 million
for the year ended December 31, 2024. Cost of revenue decreased mainly due to decreased labor and material expenses charged
to product development contracts due to contract mix, partially offset by increased product costs associated with our product
revenue during the year ended December 31, 2024.

Research and Development

Research and development expenses decreased by $28.6 million, or 73%, from $39.0 million for the year ended December 31,
2023 to $10.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2024. The decrease was driven primarily by reduced labor and labor
related expenses due to the 2023 RIFs. Also contributing to the decrease were lower materials and outside professional services
expenses due to the suspension of robotic systems and hardware projects beginning in 2023.

General and Administrative

General and administrative expenses decreased by $14.6 million, or 46%, from $31.5 million for the year ended December 31,
2023 to $16.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2024. General and administrative expense decreased primarily due to
reduced labor and labor related expenses, including stock-based compensation, due to the 2023 RIFs. Legal and business
insurance expenses also decreased due to the overall decrease in operations as compared to the prior year.

Sales and Marketing

Sales and marketing expenses decreased by $6.7 million, or 62%, from $10.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 to
$4.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2024. This decrease was driven by decreases in professional service fees related
to third-party platform expense utilized in data management of our products and services, labor and labor-related expenses due
to the 2023 RIFs and events and public relations expenses.

Intangible Amortization Expense

As a result of our product development reprioritization announced in November 2023, our intangible assets were fully
amortized as of December 31, 2023.

Asset Write-down and Restructuring

Asset write-down and restructuring expenses were $37.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2023, as a result of the prior
year product development reprioritization. There were no significant asset write-down and restructuring costs for the year ended
December 31, 2024.
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Other (Loss) Income

The following table presents other (loss) income for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023:

Year Ended December 31, 2024 vs. 2023 Change
(In thousands) 2024 2023 Change % Change
Other (loss) income

Interest income, net $ 1,244 $ 3,294 $ (2,050) (62)%
(Loss) gain on warrant liabilities (46,935) 162 (47,097) (29,072)%
Other income, net 2 1,914 (1,912) (100)%

Total other (loss) income $ (45,689) $ 5,370 $ (51,059) (951)%

Other (loss) income decreased by $51.1 million from other income of $5.4 million to other loss of $45.7 million for the year
ended December 31, 2024 as compared to the prior year period as a result of increased unrealized mark-to-market losses on
our outstanding warrants, the lack of employee retention credit refunds received in 2024 as compared to 2023 and decreased
interest income from our investments in marketable securities due to the reduction in invested funds during 2024.

Income Tax Benefit (Expense)

We had no significant income tax expense for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023. For the years ended December 31,
2024 and 2023, our recognized effective tax rate differs from the U.S. federal statutory rate as the Company recorded net losses
during the period with a corresponding full valuation allowance on the net deferred tax assets created from the losses.

Backlog and Total Estimated Contract Value

Our backlog, as of December 31, 2024, was $3.0 million, $2.4 million of which was funded and $0.6 million of which was
unfunded. Our backlog is equal to our remaining performance obligations under contracts or the expected value of exercised
contracts, both funded and unfunded, less revenue recognized to date. Our total estimated contract value, which combines
backlog with estimated potential contract value, including unexercised options from existing firm contracts, was $9.9 million
as of December 31, 2024.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

As of December 31, 2024, we had $40.1 million in cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities. We have incurred losses
and negative cash flows from operations since inception and are likely to continue to incur losses and negative cash flows from
operations in the near term. As of December 31, 2024, we had an accumulated deficit of approximately $490.8 million and
working capital of $38.3 million. On October 31, 2024, we announced that we raised approximately $7.0 million in gross
proceeds from the sale of our Common Stock and warrants pursuant to the Investor Purchase Agreement and the Insider
Purchase Agreement.

On November 13, 2024, we entered into an open market sale agreement (the "Sales Agreement") with Jefferies to sell shares
of our common stock from time to time through an "at-the-market" equity offering program under which Jefferies is acting as
our sales agent and on November 13, 2024, we filed a prospectus supplement with the SEC in connection with the offer and
sale of up to $18.0 million of shares of our common stock pursuant to the Sales Agreement. As of December 31, 2024, we had
sold a total of 3,680,543 shares of our common stock under the Sales Agreement for gross sales proceeds of approximately
$18.0 million, before deducting commission and other expenses. On December 31, 2024 we filed a prospectus supplement in
connection with offering for sale an additional $30.0 million of shares pursuant to the Sales Agreement. From January 1, 2025
through the date of this Report, we had sold a total of 1,335,807 shares of our common stock under the Sales Agreement for
gross sales proceeds of approximately $14.4 million, before deducting commission and other expenses. We believe that our
cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities on hand will be sufficient to support operations, working capital and capital
expenditure requirements for at least the next 12 months from the date of this Report.

Our primary use of cash is for operations and administrative activities including employee-related expenses and general,
operating and overhead expenses. While we do not have any debt, we do have a long-term lease for our facilities in Salt Lake
City, Utah. Future capital requirements will depend on many factors, including the timing and extent of development efforts,
the expansion and results of sales and marketing activities, the sales cycle for our products, customer acquisition and revenues,
revenue growth rate, customer retention, the introduction of new and enhanced product offerings and market acceptance of our
products.
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We have taken many steps to reduce our use of cash, for example, we suspended our hardware product development efforts
and focusing those efforts on our AI/ML Foundational Technology and related products, conducted the 2023 RIFs and
terminated our operations in Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania. We plan to use our existing capital to complete the development of the
initial commercial version of Palladyne Pilot and conduct sales and marketing efforts for both Palladyne IQ and Palladyne
Pilot, as well as continue product development efforts for the next versions of our products.

The amount and timing of our future funding requirements will depend on many factors, including the pace and results of our
product development efforts, our ability to release and license our commercial products and thereby recognize associated
revenue and capital requirements to conduct marketing and sales activities prior to receiving payments sufficient to cover our
costs. Any delays in the successful commercialization of our software products will negatively impact our ability to generate
revenue, profitability, overall operating performance and financial condition. If we are unable to raise additional capital when
desired or needed, our business, results of operations and financial condition would be materially and adversely affected.

We may enter into arrangements to acquire or invest in complementary businesses, services and technologies, which may
require acquisition capital as well as operational capital for these acquisitions or arrangements. We may be required to seek
additional equity or debt financing to facilitate these arrangements. If additional financing is required from outside sources in
connection with these arrangements, we may not be able to raise it on terms acceptable to us, or at all.

We currently primarily use cash from equity financings to fund operations and capital expenditures and meet working capital
requirements. If additional funds are required to support our working capital requirements, for acquisitions or for other
purposes, we may seek to raise funds through additional debt or equity financings or from other sources. We have taken
numerous steps to manage our use of cash, including conducting the 2023 RIFs and other related actions. However, we may
decide to seek additional financing, and we intend to continue monitoring our liquidity, financial and business results and
outlook and market conditions, and may be opportunistic and raise capital when market conditions are good or a favorable
opportunity exists including under our "at-the-market" equity offering programs. Any delays in the successful
commercialization and sales of our software products will negatively impact our ability to generate revenue, our profitability
and our overall operating performance and result in the need to raise additional capital sooner than expected. If we raise
additional funds through the issuance of equity or convertible debt securities, the percentage ownership of our equity holders
could be significantly diluted and these newly issued securities may have rights, preferences or privileges senior to those of
existing equity holders. If we raise additional funds by obtaining loans from third parties, the terms of those financing
arrangements may include negative covenants or other restrictions on our business that could impair our operating flexibility
and would also require us to incur additional interest expense. Additional financing may not be available at all or, if available,
may not be available on terms favorable to us or that we find acceptable. For additional information around the risks associated
with our capital needs see Part I Item 1A Risk Factors "Our business plans require a significant amount of capital. We may
sell additional equity or debt securities to meet capital needs or as we may otherwise determine to be advisable that may dilute
our stockholders or introduce covenants that may restrict our operations or our ability to pay dividends. If we require
additional capital and are not able to secure new funding, we may not be able to continue our business operations."

As of December 31, 2024, our total minimum lease payments are $13.7 million, of which $1.6 million are due in the next 12
months. For detail regarding our lease obligations refer to Note 4 Leases to the consolidated financial statements included
elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Cash Flows

The following table summarizes our cash flow data for the periods presented:

Year Ended December 31, 2024 vs. 2023 Change
(In thousands) 2024 2023 Change % Change
Net cash provided by (used in):

Net cash used in operating activities $ (22,627) $ (76,620) $ 53,993 (70)%
Net cash provided by investing activities 6,876 64,682 (57,806) (89)%
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 23,800 (82) 23,882 (29,124)%

Net increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents $ 8,049 $ (12,020) $ 20,069 (167)%

Net Cash Used in Operating Activities

Cash flows used in operating activities during the twelve months ended December 31, 2024, decreased by $54.0 million to
$22.6 million from $76.6 million during the prior year. The decrease in net cash used in operating activities was primarily
attributable to a $43.0 million decrease in net loss, which was driven by the 2023 RIFs, and a net increase of $6.5 million in
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non-cash expenses due to increases in the change in fair value of our warrant liabilities, partially offset by a decrease in asset
write-down expenses. Additionally, net cash used in operating activities related to changes in operating assets and liabilities
decreased by $4.5 million, primarily the result of decreased inventory purchases.

Net Cash Provided by Investing Activities

Our net cash provided by investing activities during the twelve months ended December 31, 2024 decreased by $57.8 million.
The decrease in cash provided by investing activities is predominantly due to the maturities, net of purchases, of $65.5 million
of marketable securities during the twelve months ended December 31, 2023, as compared to the maturities, net of purchases,
of $7.1 million of marketable securities during the twelve months ended December 31, 2024.

Net Cash Provided by (Used in) Financing Activities

Our net cash provided in financing activities during the twelve months ended December 31, 2024 increased by $23.9 million
as compared to the prior year period. The increase in cash provided by financing activities is predominantly due to the $23.8
million in net proceeds from the sale of our Common Stock and warrants, after deducting transaction costs related to the
issuance of our Common Stock during the twelve months ended December 31, 2024.

Emerging Growth Company Status

Section 102(b)(1) of the Jumpstart our Business Startups Act of 2012 (the "JOBS Act") exempts emerging growth companies
from being required to comply with new or revised financial accounting standards until private companies are required to
comply with the new or revised financial accounting standards. The JOBS Act provides that a company can choose not to take
advantage of the extended transition period and comply with the requirements that apply to non-emerging growth companies,
and any such election to not take advantage of the extended transition period is irrevocable.

We are an "emerging growth company" as defined in Section 2(a) of the Securities Act, and have elected to take advantage of
the benefits of the extended transition period for new or revised financial accounting standards. We will remain an emerging
growth company until the earliest of (1) the last day of the fiscal year in which the market value of Common Stock that is held
by non-affiliates exceeds $700 million as of the end of that year's second fiscal quarter, (2) the last day of the fiscal year in
which we have total annual gross revenue of $1.235 billion or more during such fiscal year (as indexed for inflation), (3) the
date on which we have issued more than $1 billion in non-convertible debt in the prior three-year period and (4) December 31,
2026, and we expect to continue to take advantage of the benefits of the extended transition period, although we may decide to
early adopt such new or revised accounting standards to the extent permitted by such standards. This may make it difficult or
impossible to compare our financial results with the financial results of another public company that is either not an emerging
growth company or is an emerging growth company that has chosen not to take advantage of the extended transition period
exemptions because of the potential differences in accounting standards used.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based upon our financial statements, which
have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles ("GAAP"). The preparation of these
financial statements requires us to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and
related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities, revenue and expenses at the date of the financial statements. Generally,
we base our estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions in accordance with GAAP that we believe to
be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Critical accounting policies and estimates are those that we consider the most important to the portrayal of our financial
condition and results of operations because they require our most difficult, subjective or complex judgments, often as a result
of the need to make estimates about the effect of matters that are inherently uncertain. Our critical accounting policies and
estimates include those related to:

Revenue Recognition

We have historically recognized revenue from our legacy hardware products and from contractual arrangements to perform
product development contract services that are fully funded by our customers. We recognize revenue when promised goods or
services are transferred to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which we expect to be entitled in exchange
for those goods or services. Revenue from product development contracts is recognized over time as products and services are
provided. For fixed priced contracts we measure progress toward satisfaction of performance obligations using costs incurred
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to date relative to total estimated costs ("cost-to-cost"). Research and development contracts may last multiple years and
estimation of the total transaction price and expected cost requires management's judgment. Based on the nature of our research
and development contracts, the work to be performed is often complex and may involve new processes, procedures, and tasks
which creates uncertainty in estimating contract costs. All estimates impacting revenue recognition, including estimates of total
expected costs, are reviewed on a periodic basis, at least quarterly.

For those performance obligations for which revenue is recognized using a cost-to-cost input method, changes in total estimated
costs, and related progress towards complete satisfaction of the performance obligation, are recognized on a cumulative catch-
up basis in the period in which the revisions to the estimates are made. Changes in judgments with respect to these assumptions
and estimates could impact the timing or amount of revenue recognition.

Warrant Liabilities

We issued the 2024 Warrants on November 1, 2024. The 2024 Warrants were determined to be liability classified instruments
upon issuance. The fair value of the 2024 Warrants were initially and subsequently measured using a Monte Carlo valuation
model, which includes assumptions that are based on the individual characteristics of the 2024 Warrants on the valuation date,
and assumptions related to probability of a fundamental transaction occurring, expected volatility, expected life, risk-free
interest rate and expected dividends. These estimates, especially the expected volatility, are highly judgmental and could differ
materially in the future. Any changes in the fair value of the 2024 Warrants are recorded as a component of other income and
expense.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

See Note 1, Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, to consolidated financial statements
included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for recently adopted accounting pronouncements and recently issued
accounting pronouncements not yet adopted as of the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.

We are a smaller reporting company as defined by Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act and are not required to provide the
information otherwise required under this item.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Stockholders and the Board of Directors
Palladyne AI Corp.:

Opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of Palladyne AI Corp. and subsidiaries (the Company) as of
December 31, 2024, the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive loss, stockholders' equity (deficit), and
cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2024, and the related notes (collectively, the consolidated financial statements). In
our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company
as of December 31, 2024, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2024, in
conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

Basis for Opinion

These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express
an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the
Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the
Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and
Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement,
whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal
control over financial reporting. As part of our audit, we are required to obtain an understanding of internal control over
financial reporting but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over
financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.

Our audit included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on
a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audit also included
evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

/s/ KPMG LLP

We have served as the Company's auditor since 2024
Salt Lake City, Utah
February 20, 2025
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Stockholders and the Board of Directors of Palladyne AI Corp., formerly known as Sarcos Technology and Robotics
Corporation:

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of Palladyne AI Corp., formerly known as Sarcos Technology
and Robotics Corporation (the Company) as of December 31, 2023, the related consolidated statement of operations,
comprehensive loss, stockholders' equity and cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2023, and the related notes
(collectively referred to as the “consolidated financial statements”). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements
present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company at December 31, 2023, and the results of its
operations and its cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2023 in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting
principles.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on
the Company’s financial statements based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company
Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in
accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange
Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to
error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over
financial reporting. As part of our audit we are required to obtain an understanding of internal control over financial reporting
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting.
Accordingly, we express no such opinion.

Our audit included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due
to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis,
evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audit also included evaluating the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial
statements. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

We served as the Company's auditor from 2020 to 2024.

Salt Lake City, Utah

February 28, 2024,

except for Note 13, as to which the date is

February 20, 2025
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PALLADYNE AI CORP.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(in thousands, except share data)

As of
December 31,

2024
December 31,

2023

Assets
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 31,188 $ 23,139
Marketable securities 8,883 15,947
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for credit losses of $0.3 million and $0.0 million at
December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively 134 555
Unbilled receivables 1,179 2,034
Inventories 71 1,065
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 1,275 2,323

Total current assets 42,730 45,063
Property and equipment, net 4,244 4,842
Operating lease assets 8,841 10,092
Other non-current assets 438 429
Total assets $ 56,253 $ 60,426
Liabilities and stockholders’ equity (deficit)
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable $ 435 $ 1,291
Accrued liabilities 2,919 5,805
Current operating lease liabilities 1,079 1,360

Total current liabilities 4,433 8,456
Operating lease liabilities 9,957 11,036
Warrant liabilities 51,396 29

Total liabilities 65,786 19,521
Commitments and contingencies (Note 12)
Stockholders’ equity:
Common stock, $0.0001 par value, 165,000,000 shares authorized as of December 31, 2024,
and December 31, 2023; 33,883,894 and 25,877,865 shares issued and outstanding as of
December 31, 2024, and December 31, 2023, respectively 3 3
Additional paid-in capital 481,289 459,113
Accumulated other comprehensive income 6 3
Accumulated deficit (490,831 ) (418,214 )
Total stockholders’ equity (deficit) (9,533 ) 40,905
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity (deficit) $ 56,253 $ 60,426

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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PALLADYNE AI CORP.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(in thousands, except share and per share data)

Year Ended December 31,
2024 2023

Revenue, net $ 7,786 $ 6,146
Operating expenses:

Cost of revenue (exclusive of items shown separately below) 3,488 5,041
Research and development 10,437 39,012
General and administrative 16,842 31,454
Sales and marketing 4,134 10,828
Intangible amortization expense — 2,821
Asset write-down and restructuring (192 ) 37,946

Total operating expenses 34,709 127,102
Loss from operations (26,923 ) (120,956 )
Interest income, net 1,244 3,294
(Loss) gain on warrant liabilities (46,935 ) 162
Other income, net 2 1,914
Loss before income tax expense (72,612 ) (115,586 )
Income tax expense (5 ) (7 )
Net loss $ (72,617 ) $ (115,593 )
Net loss per share

Basic and diluted $ (2.71 ) $ (4.51 )
Weighted-average shares used in computing net loss per share

Basic and diluted 26,774,895 25,639,270

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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PALLADYNE AI CORP.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

(in thousands)

Year Ended December 31,
2024 2023

Net loss $ (72,617 ) $ (115,593 )
Other comprehensive income:

Change in unrealized gain on available-for-sale investments 3 20
Total other comprehensive income 3 20

Comprehensive loss $ (72,614 ) $ (115,573 )

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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PALLADYNE AI CORP.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(in thousands)

Year Ended December 31,
2024 2023

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss $ (72,617 ) $ (115,593 )
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:

Stock-based compensation 2,805 12,043
Depreciation of property and equipment 825 1,554
Amortization of intangible assets — 2,821
Change in fair value of warrant liabilities 46,935 (162 )
Allowance for credit losses 285 —
Amortization of investment discount (75 ) (2,055 )
Asset write-down — 30,101

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable 136 1,311
Unbilled receivable 855 2,126
Inventories 994 (8,759 )
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 1,048 2,167
Operating lease assets & other non-current assets 1,242 1,249
Accounts payable (819 ) (2,326 )
Accrued liabilities and current operating lease liabilities (3,164 ) 253
Operating lease liabilities (1,077 ) (1,350 )

Net cash used in operating activities (22,627 ) (76,620 )
Cash flows from investing activities:

Purchases of property and equipment (265 ) (782 )
Purchases of marketable securities (8,859 ) (64,536 )
Maturities of marketable securities 16,000 130,000

Net cash provided by investing activities 6,876 64,682
Cash flows from financing activities:

Proceeds from exercise of stock options 130 —
Shares repurchased for payment of tax withholdings (105 ) (78 )
Payment of obligations under capital leases (3 ) (4 )
Proceeds from issuance of warrants 4,432 —
Proceeds from issuance of common stock 20,028 —
Payment of transaction costs related to issuance of common stock (682 ) —

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 23,800 (82 )
Net increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents 8,049 (12,020 )
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 23,139 35,159
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 31,188 $ 23,139
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Cash paid for income taxes $ 10 $ 7

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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PALLADYNE AI CORP.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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1. Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Description of the Business

The Company's full-stack, closed-loop autonomy software ("AI/ML Foundational Technology") has been designed with
artificial intelligence ("AI") and machine learning ("ML") technologies to enable robotic systems to perceive their environment
and quickly adapt to changing circumstances by generalizing (i.e., learning) from their past experience using dynamic real-
time operations "on the edge" (i.e., on the robotic system) without extensive programming and with minimal robot training. To
reflect the Company's transition from a hardware-focused company, in March 2024 the Company changed its name from Sarcos
Technology and Robotics Corporation to Palladyne AI Corp.

Basis of Presentation and Consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted
accounting principles ("GAAP"). The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly
owned subsidiaries. All intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. The Company's fiscal
year begins on January 1 and ends on December 31.

Reverse Stock Split

On July 5, 2023, the Company effected a 1-for-6 reverse stock split ("Reverse Stock Split") of the Company's outstanding
shares of common stock, as approved by the Company's stockholders at the Company's Annual Meeting of Stockholders held
on June 14, 2023. All share and per share amounts of common stock, options, warrants, restricted stock and restricted stock
units in the accompanying condensed consolidated financial statements and notes thereto have been retroactively adjusted for
all periods presented to reflect the reverse stock split.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make certain estimates and
assumptions. These estimates and assumptions affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent
assets and liabilities as of the balance sheet date, as well as reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting
period. The Company's most significant estimates and judgments involve contract revenue recognized based on estimates of
total contract costs and cost to complete uncompleted contracts, estimates of potential losses on uncompleted contracts,
impairment evaluation of contract and long lived assets, assumptions used for leases, valuation allowance for net deferred
income taxes and valuation of the Company's stock-based compensation and warrants. Management bases its estimates on
historical experience and on various other assumptions believed to be reasonable, the results of which form the basis for making
judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities were $40.1 million as of December 31, 2024, compared to $39.1 million as
of December 31, 2023. The Company has incurred losses and negative cash flows from operations since inception and is likely
to continue to incur losses and negative cash flows from operations in the near term. As of December 31, 2024, the Company
also had an accumulated deficit of approximately $490.8 million and working capital of $38.3 million.

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with GAAP and on the basis that the Company will continue as
a going concern, which contemplates the realization of assets and the satisfaction of liabilities and commitments in the normal
course of business. The Company's main source of liquidity has been cash generated by equity offerings. The Company's
primary use of cash is for operations and administrative activities including employee-related expenses, and general, operating
and overhead expenses. Future capital requirements will depend on many factors, including the Company's timing and extent
of development efforts, the expansion and success of sales and marketing activities, customer growth rate, customer retention,
the introduction of new and enhanced product offerings and market acceptance of the Company's products. The Company
believes it has sufficient financial resources for at least the next 12 months from the date of this Report.

Concentration of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist of cash, cash equivalents,
marketable securities, accounts receivable and unbilled receivables. The Company's cash is placed with high-credit-quality
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financial institutions and issuers, and generally exceeds federally insured limits. The Company's cash equivalents and
marketable securities are money market funds or U.S. Treasury bills with maturity dates within one year. The Company has
not realized any losses relating to its cash, cash equivalents or marketable securities.

Accounts Receivable

As of December 31, 2024, three customers accounted for more than 10% of the Company's accounts receivable, which in total
represented 100% of the accounts receivable as of December 31, 2024. As of December 31, 2023, three customers accounted
for more than 10% of the Company's accounts receivable, which in total represented 90% of the accounts receivable as of
December 31, 2023.

Revenue

Two and five customers accounted for more than 10% of the Company's revenue for each of the years ended December 31,
2024 and 2023, respectively. These concentrations accounted for 98% and 85% of revenue for the years ended December 31,
2024 and 2023, respectively. The total amount of revenue for each such customer was as follows:

(In thousands) 2024 2023
Customer A $ 5,100 $ 1,618
Customer B 2,551 —
Customer C — 1,116
Customer D — 883
Customer E — 815
Customer F — 808

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers cash as deposits held in bank accounts and undeposited funds. All highly liquid investments with an
original maturity of three months or less at the time of purchase are considered to be cash equivalents. The Company's cash
equivalents may be comprised of money market funds, certificates of deposit of major financial institutions and U.S. Treasury
bills.

Marketable Securities

The Company's marketable securities consist primarily of U.S. Treasury bills. The Company classifies securities that have
effective maturities of greater than three months as marketable securities in its consolidated balance sheets. The Company
determines the appropriate classification of its investments in marketable debt securities at the time of purchase and reevaluates
such designation at each balance sheet date. The Company's marketable debt securities are classified as available-for-sale. The
Company carries the marketable debt securities at fair value, and reports the unrealized gains and losses in accumulated other
comprehensive income within the consolidated balance sheets. If the fair value of a marketable debt security declines below its
amortized cost basis, any portion of that decline attributable to credit losses, to the extent expected to be nonrecoverable before
the sale of the security, is recognized in the consolidated statements of operations. There were no allowances for credit losses
related to marketable debt securities recorded during the twelve months ended December 31, 2024 and 2023.

Accounts Receivable

Receivables are recorded at the amount the Company expects to collect. Management determines the need for an allowance for
credit losses using a specific identification method after taking into account all of its remedies for collection. Management
recorded $0.3 million allowance for credit losses during the twelve months ended December 31, 2024. Management determined
no allowance for credit losses was necessary as of December 31, 2023. Receivables are comprised of amounts invoiced for
completed contracts and contracts in progress.
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Inventories

Inventories primarily consist of raw materials, work-in-process and finished goods. Inventories are stated at the lower of cost
or estimated net realizable value. Costs are computed on the first-in, first-out basis and include material, labor and
manufacturing overhead. Adjustments are also made to reduce the value of inventory for estimated excess or obsolete balance
by evaluating inventory against forecasted revenue and production requirements.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment is carried at acquisition cost less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is computed using the
straight-line method based on the estimated useful lives of the related assets. The estimated useful lives by asset classification
are generally as follows:

Useful life
Robotics and manufacturing equipment 3 – 10 years
Computer equipment 3 – 5 years
Software 3 years
Furniture and fixtures 3 – 5 years
Leasehold improvements Lesser of the useful life or the

remaining term of the lease

Expenditures for maintenance and repairs are expensed when incurred and betterments that extend the useful lives of property
and equipment are capitalized. When assets are retired or disposed, the asset's original cost and related accumulated
depreciation are eliminated, and any gain or loss is reflected in the statement of operations.

Leases

In accordance with ASC 842, the Company, at the inception of the contract, determines whether a contract is or contains a
lease. For leases with terms greater than 12 months, the Company records the related operating or finance right of use asset and
lease liability at the present value of unpaid lease payments over the lease term. The Company is generally not able to readily
determine the implicit rate in the lease and therefore uses the determined incremental borrowing rate at lease commencement
to determine the present value of lease payments. The incremental borrowing rate represents an estimate of the market interest
rate the Company would incur at lease commencement to borrow an amount equal to the lease payments on a collateralized
basis over the term of a lease. Renewal options are not included in the measurement of the right of use assets and lease liabilities
unless the Company is reasonably certain to exercise the optional renewal periods.

Some of the Company's leases contain rent escalations over the lease term. The Company recognizes expense for operating
leases on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The Company's lease agreements contain variable lease payments for common
area maintenance, utility, insurance and tax. The Company has elected the practical expedient to combine lease and non-lease
components for all asset categories. Therefore, the lease payments used to measure the lease liability for these leases include
fixed minimum rentals along with fixed non-lease component charges. The Company does not have significant residual value
guarantees or restrictive covenants in the lease portfolio.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

The Company evaluates its long-lived assets, which includes property and equipment, and operating lease assets, for indicators
of possible impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying amount of an asset may not be
recoverable. Impairment exists if the carrying amounts of such assets exceed the estimates of future net undiscounted cash
flows expected to be generated by such assets.

Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes revenue from the sale of its products and from the delivery of goods and services arising out of its
contractual arrangements to provide product development contract services that are funded by the customer. The Company
recognizes revenue when promised goods or services are transferred to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration
to which the Company expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services by following a five-step process:

(1) Identify the contract with a customer: A contract with a customer exists when (a) the Company enters into an
enforceable contract with a customer that defines each party's rights and obligations regarding the products and
services to be transferred and identifies the payment terms related to these products and services, (b) the contract
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has commercial substance and (c) the Company determines that collection of substantially all consideration for
products and services that are transferred is probable based on the customer's intent and ability to pay the promised
consideration. Contract modifications may include changes in scope of work, and/or the period of completion of
the project. The Company analyzes contract modifications to determine if they should be accounted for as a
modification to an existing contract or a new stand-alone contract.

(2) Identify the performance obligations in the contract: The Company enters into contracts that can include
combinations of products and services, which are either capable of being distinct and accounted for as separate
performance obligations or as one performance obligation if the majority of tasks and services form a single project
or capability. Determining whether products or services are considered distinct performance obligations that should
be accounted for separately may require significant judgment.

(3) Determine the transaction price: The transaction price is determined based on the consideration to which the
Company will be entitled in exchange for transferring goods or services to the customer. Such amounts are typically
stated in the customer contract. However, to the extent that the Company identifies variable consideration, the
Company will estimate the variable consideration at the onset of the arrangement as long as it is probable that a
significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognized will not occur when the uncertainty associated
with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved. The Company's current contracts do not include any
significant financing components because the timing of the transfer of the underlying products and services under
contract are at the customer's discretion. Additionally, the Company does not adjust the promised amount of
consideration for the effects of a significant financing component if the Company expects, at contract inception,
that the period between when the Company transfers a promised good or service to a customer and when the
customer pays for that good or service will be one year or less. Taxes collected from customers and remitted to
governmental authorities are not included in revenue.

(4) Allocate the transaction price to performance obligations in the contract: Once the Company has determined the
transaction price, the total transaction price is allocated to each performance obligation in a manner depicting the
amount of consideration to which the Company expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring the good(s) or
service(s) to the customer. If applicable, the Company allocates the transaction price to each performance
obligation identified in the contract on a relative standalone selling price basis. The standalone selling price
represents the amount the Company would sell the good(s) or service(s) to a customer on a standalone basis. For
government contracts, the Company uses expected cost plus a margin as the standalone selling price. Because the
Company's contract pricing with government customers is generally based on expected cost plus a margin, the
standalone selling price of the good(s) or service(s) in the Company's contracts with government customers are
typically equal to the selling price stated in the contract. When we sell standard good(s) or service(s) with
observable standalone sale transactions, the observable standalone sales transactions are used to determine the
standalone selling price.

(5) Recognize revenue when or as the Company satisfies a performance obligation: For each performance obligation
identified, the Company determines at contract inception whether it satisfies the performance obligation over time
or at a point in time. For performance obligations satisfied over time, revenue is recognized as work progresses
when the Company is entitled to the reimbursement of costs plus a reasonable profit for work performed for which
the Company has no alternate use. For these performance obligations, the Company generally recognizes revenue
using an input method with revenue amounts being recognized proportionately as costs are incurred relative to the
total expected costs to satisfy the performance obligation. The Company believes that costs incurred as a portion
of total estimated costs is an appropriate measure of progress towards satisfaction of the performance obligation
since this measure reasonably depicts the progress of the work effort. Revenue for performance obligations that
are not recognized over time are recognized at the point in time when control transfers to the customer (which is
generally upon delivery). For performance obligations that are satisfied at a point in time, the Company evaluates
the point in time when the customer can direct the use of, and obtain the benefits from, the products and services.
Shipping and handling costs are recorded at the time of product shipment to the customer and are included within
revenue.

Revenue from Contracts with Customers

The Company derives its revenue from two sources. First, the Company enters into research and development agreements
primarily relating to the commercialization of the Company's products. Second, the Company sells its products and related
parts and repair services. Product development contract revenue includes revenue arising from different types of contractual
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arrangements, including cost-type contracts and fixed-price contracts. Historically, product revenue primarily consists of sales
of the Company's hardware products.

Product Development Contract Revenue

Cost-type contracts – Research, development and/or testing service contracts, including cost-plus-fixed-fee and time and
material contracts, relate primarily to the development of the Company's products and related technology. Cost-type contracts
are generally entered into with the U.S. government. These contracts are billed at cost plus a margin as defined by the contract
and the Federal Acquisition Regulation ("FAR"). The FAR establishes regulations around procurement by the government and
provides guidance on the types of costs that are allowable in establishing prices for goods and services delivered under
government contracts. Revenue on cost-type contracts is recognized over time as goods and services are provided.

Fixed-price contracts – Fixed-price development contracts relate primarily to the development of technology in the area of
robotic platforms. Fixed-price development contracts generally require a significant service of integrating a complex set of
tasks and components into a single deliverable. Revenue on fixed-price contracts is generally recognized over time as goods
and services are provided. To the extent the Company's actual costs vary from the fixed fee, we will generate more or less profit
or could incur a loss. The Company will recognize losses at the contract level in earnings in the period in which they are
incurred.

Product Revenue

Product revenue relates to sales of the Company's commercially available products, and certain miscellaneous parts, accessories
and repair services. The Company provides a limited one-year warranty on product sales. Product warranties are considered
assurance-type warranties and are not considered to be separate performance obligations. Product revenue is recognized at the
point in time when ownership of the goods is transferred, generally at the time of shipment to the customer. At the time product
revenue is recognized, an accrual is established for estimated warranty expenses based on historical experience as well as
anticipated product performance.

The revenue recognized for Product Development Contract Revenue and Product Revenue were as follows:

For the Year Ended December 31,
(In thousands) 2024 2023
Product Development Contract Revenue $ 5,120 $ 5,256
Product Revenue 2,666 890

Revenue, net $ 7,786 $ 6,146

Contract Balances

The timing of revenue recognition, billing and cash collection results in the recognition of accounts receivable, unbilled
receivables, contract assets and deferred revenue in the Company's consolidated balance sheets.

Cash funds received in excess of revenue recognized that is contingent upon the satisfaction of performance obligations is
accounted for as deferred revenue.

Contract assets include unbilled receivables which are amounts resulting from timing differences between revenue recognition
and billing in accordance with agreed-upon contractual terms, which typically occur subsequent to revenue being recognized.



71

The opening and closing balances of our accounts receivable, unbilled receivables, contract assets and deferred revenue are as
follows:

(In thousands)
Accounts

Receivable
Unbilled

Receivable

Contract
Assets

(Current)

Contract
Assets

(Long-Term)

Deferred
Revenue
(Current)

Opening Balance as of December 31, 2022 $ 1,866 $ 4,160 $ 62 $ 11 $ —
(Decrease)/increase, net (1,311) (2,126) (12) (10) 75
Ending Balance as of December 31, 2023 $ 555 $ 2,034 $ 50 $ 1 $ 75
(Decrease)/increase, net (421) (855) (22) (1) 173
Ending Balance as of December 31, 2024 $ 134 $ 1,179 $ 28 $ — $ 248

The Company recorded its current contract assets, long-term contract assets and current deferred revenue within prepaid
expenses and other current assets, other non-current assets and accrued liabilities, respectively. During the year ended
December 31, 2024, the Company recognized all of the deferred revenue which existed at December 31, 2023. During the year
ended December 31, 2023, the Company did not recognize any revenue related to deferred revenue which existed at December
31, 2022.

Remaining Performance Obligations

As of December 31, 2024, the Company had backlog, or revenue related to remaining performance obligations, of $3.0 million.
The Company expects most of this backlog to be recognized over the next 12 months. The Company's backlog represents the
expected value of exercised contracts, both funded and unfunded, less revenue recognized to date.

Research and Development Costs

Research and development expenses consist of costs incurred for experimentation, design and testing and are expensed as
incurred.

Sales and Marketing Costs

Marketing costs include product demonstration, customer service, lead generation, public relations, market research and
internal labor, and are expensed as incurred.

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company calculates the fair value of all stock-based awards, including stock options, restricted stock units and restricted
stock awards on the date of grant. The Company values stock options using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model, which
requires the use of a number of assumptions, including expected volatility, expected life, risk-free interest rate and expected
dividends. The stock-based compensation expense is recognized on a straight-line basis over the requisite service periods of
the awards, which is generally four years. The Company records forfeitures as they occur.

Income Taxes

Income taxes are provided for the tax effects of transactions reported in the consolidated financial statements and consist of
taxes currently due plus deferred income taxes related primarily to differences between the tax bases and financial reporting
bases of assets and liabilities. Deferred income taxes represent future tax consequences of those differences, which will either
be taxable or deductible when the assets and liabilities are recovered or settled. The Company determines its valuation
allowance on deferred tax assets by considering both positive and negative evidence, including its operating results, ongoing
tax planning and forecasts of future taxable income on a jurisdiction-by-jurisdiction basis, to ascertain whether it is more likely
than not that deferred tax assets will be realized. If the Company determines that it would be able to realize its deferred income
tax assets in the future in excess of their net recorded amount, it would make an adjustment to the valuation allowance, which
would reduce the provision for income taxes. Conversely, if all or part of the net deferred tax assets are determined not to be
realizable in the future, an adjustment to the valuation allowance would be charged to earnings in the period such determination
is made.

Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

As an emerging growth company ("EGC"), the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act ("JOBS Act") allows the Company to
delay adoption of new or revised accounting pronouncements applicable to public companies until such pronouncements are
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applicable to private companies. The Company has elected to use this extended transition period under the JOBS Act until such
time as the Company is no longer considered to be an EGC. The adoption dates discussed below reflect this election.

In November 2023, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") No.
2023-07, Segment Reporting (Topic 280): Improvements to Reportable Segment Disclosures, which requires enhanced
disclosure of significant segment expenses on an annual and interim basis. Public entities with a single reportable segment are
required to apply the disclosure requirements in ASU 2023-07, as well as all existing segment disclosures and reconciliation
requirements in ASC 280 on an interim and annual basis. The Company adopted ASU 2023-07 during the year ended
December 31, 2024. See Note 13, Segment Information, in the accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements for
further detail.

Recently Issued Accounting Standard Pronouncements

In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU No. 2023-09, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures.
ASU 2023-09 requires companies to disclose, on an annual basis, specific categories in the effective tax rate reconciliation and
provide additional information for reconciling items that meet a quantitative threshold. In addition, ASU 2023-09 requires
companies to disclose additional information about income taxes paid. ASU 2023-09 will be effective for annual periods
beginning January 1, 2026 and will be applied on a prospective basis with the option to apply the standard retrospectively. The
Company does not expect a material impact on its consolidated financial statements related to ASU 2023-09.

In November 2024, the FASB issued ASU No. 2024-03, Income Statement-Reporting Comprehensive Income-Expense
Disaggregation Disclosures (Subtopic 220-40): Disaggregation of Income Statement Expenses, requiring public entities to
disclose additional information about specific expense categories in the notes to the financial statements on an interim and
annual basis. ASU 2024-03 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2026, and for interim periods beginning
after December 15, 2027, with early adoption permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of adopting ASU
2024-03.

2. Fair Value Measurements

ASC Topic 820, Fair Value Measurement, defines fair value as the exchange price that would be received for an asset, or an
exit price paid to transfer a liability in the principal or most advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants on the measurement date. Valuation techniques used to measure fair value must
maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs. The fair value hierarchy defines a three-
level valuation hierarchy for disclosure of fair value measurements as follows:

Level 1—Fair value is based on observable inputs such as quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities in active
markets.

Level 2—Fair value is determined using quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets or quoted prices
for identical or similar assets or liabilities in markets that are not active or are directly or indirectly
observable.

Level 3—Fair value is determined using one or more significant inputs that are unobservable in active markets at the
measurement date, such as an option pricing model, discounted cash flow or similar technique.

Financial Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis

On a recurring basis, the Company measures certain of its financial assets and liabilities at fair value. The fair value of the
Company's financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis was determined using the following inputs:
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As of December 31, 2024
(In thousands) Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Assets:
Cash equivalents:

U.S. Treasury securities $ 12,927 $ — $ — $ 12,927
Marketable securities:

U.S. treasury securities 8,883 — — 8,883
Total assets $ 21,810 $ — $ — $ 21,810

Liabilities:
Warrant liabilities $ 11,630 $ 4,128 $ 35,638 $ 51,396

Total liabilities $ 11,630 $ 4,128 $ 35,638 $ 51,396

As of December 31, 2023
(In thousands) Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Assets:
Cash equivalents:

U.S. Treasury securities $ 4,973 $ — $ — $ 4,973
Marketable securities:

U.S. treasury securities 15,947 — — 15,947
Total assets $ 20,920 $ — $ — $ 20,920

Liabilities:
Warrant liabilities $ — $ 29 $ — $ 29

Total liabilities $ — $ 29 $ — $ 29

As of December 31, 2024, the Company held $21.8 million of available-for-sale debt securities with maturity dates within one
year. The fair value of the Company's available-for-sale debt securities approximates their amortized cost basis. The Company
considers all highly liquid investments purchased with an original maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents. The
carrying amounts of accounts receivable, unbilled receivables, accounts payable and accrued expenses approximate their fair
values because of the relatively short periods until they are required to be settled.

3. Balance Sheet Components

Inventories

Inventories, net consist of the following:

(In thousands)
December 31,

2024
December 31,

2023
Raw materials $ 71 $ —
Finished goods, net $ — $ 1,065

Total inventories $ 71 $ 1,065

Prepaid expenses and other current assets

Prepaid expenses and other current assets consist of the following:

(In thousands)
December 31,

2024
December 31,

2023
Prepaid insurance $ 367 $ 873
Software 647 1,028
Other prepaid expenses and assets 261 422

Total prepaid expenses and other current assets $ 1,275 $ 2,323



74

Property and equipment, net

Property and equipment, net consist of the following:

(In thousands)
December 31,

2024
December 31,

2023
Robotics and manufacturing equipment $ 1,128 $ 1,841
Leasehold improvements 3,927 4,458
Computer equipment 1,251 1,729
Financed leased computer equipment — 19
Software 1 44
Furniture and fixtures, and other fixed assets 951 1,018

Property and equipment, gross 7,258 9,109
Accumulated depreciation (3,014) (4,267)

Property and equipment, net $ 4,244 $ 4,842

Depreciation expenses were $0.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2024. Depreciation expenses were $2.8 million for
the year ended December 31, 2023, $1.2 million of which was accelerated depreciation related to shutting down our facilities
in Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania, which is included in asset write-down and restructuring on the consolidated statements of
operations.

Accrued liabilities

Accrued liabilities consist of the following:

(In thousands)
December 31,

2024
December 31,

2023
Payroll and related costs $ 1,811 $ 3,913
Contract restructuring accrual — 506
Legal services accrual 230 547
Deferred revenue 248 75
Other contract liabilities 496 —
Other accrued expenses and current liabilities 134 764

Total accrued liabilities $ 2,919 $ 5,805

4. Leases

The Company leases real estate for office and lab space under operating leases with varying expiration dates through 2033.
Leases are categorized at their commencement date, which is the date the Company takes possession or control of the
underlying asset. Certain of the operating leases include renewal options ranging from three to five years, which are not
recognized as part of the right-of-use assets as the Company is not reasonably certain that the options will be exercised.

Lease costs for operating leases are as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
(In thousands) 2024 2023
Operating lease cost $ 1,859 $ 1,859
Variable lease cost 695 773

Total lease cost $ 2,554 $ 2,632

The following table summarizes the Company's lease term and discount rate assumptions:

Year Ended December 31,
2024 2023

Operating leases
Weighted-average remaining lease term (years) 8.3 9.0
Weighted-average discount rate: 5.4 % 5.4 %
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Supplemental cash flow and other information related to leases:

Year Ended December 31,
(In thousands) 2024 2023
Cash paid for amounts included in measurement of liabilities:

Operating cash flows from operating leases $ 1,968 $ 1,546

Undiscounted future minimum lease payments (displayed by year and in the aggregate) under noncancelable operating leases
with terms of more than one year, as of December 31, 2024 are as follows:

(In thousands) Operating Leases
2025 $ 1,619
2026 1,488
2027 1,529
2028 1,571
2029 1,614
2030 and thereafter 5,852

Total lease payments 13,673
Less interest 2,637

Present value of lease liabilities $ 11,036

5. Intangible Assets

Acquired Intangible Assets

Acquired intangible assets, net consisted of the following:

December 31, 2023

(In thousands)
Gross Carrying

Amount
Accumulated
Amortization

Net Carrying
Amount

Weighted Average
Remaining Useful

Life
(In years)

Trade name and trademarks $ 1,000 $ 1,000 $ — —
Developed technology 9,600 9,600 — —
Customer relationships 10,700 10,700 — —

Total $ 21,300 $ 21,300 $ —

The Company had no intangible amortization expense during the year ended December 31, 2024. The Company recorded $2.8
million of amortization expense during the year ended December 31, 2023, which was recorded as intangible amortization
expense in the consolidated statement of operations. As a result of the Company's product development reprioritization
announced in November 2023, the Company reassessed the remaining useful-lives of its intangible assets. The Company
recorded $16.3 million of accelerated amortization expense during the year ended December 31, 2023, which is included in
asset write-down and restructuring in the consolidated statements of operations.
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6. Earn-Out Shares

On September 24, 2021 (the "Closing Date"), Rotor Acquisition Corp. ("Rotor"), a Delaware corporation, consummated the
business combination (the "Business Combination") pursuant to the terms of the Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of
April 5, 2021 (the "Original Merger Agreement"), by and among Rotor, Rotor Merger Sub Corp., a Delaware corporation and
a direct, wholly-owned subsidiary of Rotor ("Merger Sub"), and Sarcos Corp., a Utah corporation ("Old Sarcos"), and
Amendment No. 1 to the Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of August 28, 2021 (the "Amendment" and the Original
Merger Agreement, as amended, the "Merger Agreement"), by and among Rotor, Merger Sub and Old Sarcos. Pursuant to the
terms of the Merger Agreement, the Business Combination between Rotor and Old Sarcos was effected through the merger of
Merger Sub with and into Old Sarcos, with Old Sarcos continuing as the surviving corporation (the "Merger") and a wholly-
owned subsidiary of Rotor. On the Closing Date, Rotor changed its name to Sarcos Technology and Robotics Corporation. To
reflect the Company's transition from a hardware-focused company to an AI software-focused company, in March 2024 the
Company changed its name from Sarcos Technology and Robotics Corporation to Palladyne AI Corp.

As a result of the Business Combination, each holder of Old Sarcos capital stock is entitled to Contingent Merger Consideration
following the closing of the Business Combination in the form of earn-outs, up to an aggregate of 4,687,500 shares of Common
Stock (the "Earn-Out Shares"). The Earn-Out Shares will become payable as follows:

• 2,343,750 shares of Common Stock of the Company in the aggregate if the closing share price of a share of
Common Stock of the Company is equal to or exceeds $90.00 for 20 trading days in any 30 consecutive trading
day period at any time during the period beginning on the first anniversary of the Closing Date and ending on the
fourth anniversary of the Closing Date.

• 2,343,750 shares of Common Stock of the Company if the closing share price of a share of Common Stock of the
Company is equal to or exceeds $120.00 for 20 trading days in any 30 consecutive trading day period at any time
during the period beginning on the first anniversary of the Closing Date and ending on the fifth anniversary of the
Closing Date.

The Earn-Out Shares are treated as equity-linked instruments as opposed to shares outstanding, and as such are not included in
shares outstanding on the Company's condensed consolidated balance sheets. As of December 31, 2024, there remained
4,687,500 Earn-Out Shares potentially issuable.

7. DeSPAC Warrants

On January 20, 2021, Rotor consummated the initial public offering ("IPO") of 27,600,000 units (the "Units"), including the
full exercise by the underwriters of their over-allotment option. Each Unit included one sixth of a share of Class A Common
Stock and one half of one warrant (the "deSPAC Public Warrants"). Simultaneously with the closing of the IPO, Rotor
consummated the sale of 7,270,000 warrants (the "deSPAC Private Placement Warrants") in a private placement to Rotor
Sponsor LLC (the "Sponsor"), an affiliate of Rotor's officers and directors, and certain funds and accounts managed by two
qualified institutional buyers. At the Closing Date, Old Sarcos acquired the net liabilities from Rotor, including the deSPAC
Public Warrants, and the deSPAC Private Placement Warrants (together the "deSPAC Warrants"). The deSPAC Public
Warrants are listed and traded under the PDYNW ticker symbol on the Nasdaq Global Market.

Each whole deSPAC Warrant entitles the registered holder to purchase one sixth of a share of the Company's Common Stock
at a price of $11.50 per warrant, subject to adjustment as discussed below, at any time commencing on January 20, 2022,
provided that the Company has an effective registration statement under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Securities
Act") covering the shares of the Common Stock issuable upon exercise of the deSPAC Warrants and a current prospectus
relating to them is available (or the Company permits holders to exercise their deSPAC Warrants on a cashless basis under the
circumstances specified in the warrant agreement (the "deSPAC Warrant Agreement") entered into between Continental Stock
Transfer & Trust Company and Rotor and such shares are registered, qualified or exempt from registration under the securities
laws of the state of residence of the holder. Pursuant to the deSPAC Warrant Agreement, a deSPAC Warrant holder may
exercise its deSPAC Warrants only for a whole number of shares of the Company's Common Stock. The deSPAC Warrants
will expire five years after the completion of the Business Combination, or September 24, 2026, at 5:00 p.m., New York City
time, or earlier upon redemption or liquidation. As of December 31, 2024, there were 20,549,453 deSPAC Warrants
outstanding.

The Company will not be obligated to deliver any Common Stock pursuant to the exercise of a deSPAC Warrant and will have
no obligation to settle such deSPAC Warrant exercise unless a registration statement under the Securities Act with respect to
the shares of Common Stock underlying the deSPAC Warrants is then effective and a prospectus relating thereto is current,
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subject to the Company satisfying its obligations described below with respect to registration, or a valid exemption from
registration is available. No deSPAC Warrant will be exercisable, and the Company will not be obligated to issue a share of
Common Stock upon exercise of a deSPAC Warrant unless the share of the Company's Common Stock issuable upon such
deSPAC Warrant exercise has been registered, qualified or deemed to be exempt under the securities laws of the state of
residence of the registered holder of the deSPAC Warrants. If the conditions in the two immediately preceding sentences are
not satisfied with respect to a deSPAC Warrant, the holder of such deSPAC Warrant will not be entitled to exercise such
deSPAC Warrant and such deSPAC Warrant may have no value and expire worthless. In no event will the Company be required
to net cash settle any deSPAC Warrant. In the event a registration statement is not effective for the exercised deSPAC Warrants,
the purchaser in the Rotor IPO of a Unit containing such deSPAC Warrant will have paid the full purchase price for the Unit
solely for the share of the Company's Common Stock underlying such Unit.

Except as described herein, the deSPAC Private Placement Warrants have terms and provisions that are identical to those of
the deSPAC Public Warrants. If the deSPAC Private Placement Warrants are held by holders other than the initial purchasers
or their permitted transferees, the deSPAC Private Placement Warrants will be redeemable by the Company in all redemption
scenarios and exercisable by the holders on the same basis as the deSPAC Public Warrants. The deSPAC Private Placement
Warrants will not be redeemable by the Company so long as they are held by the initial purchasers or their permitted transferees,
subject to certain exceptions. The initial purchasers or their permitted transferees, have the option to exercise the deSPAC
Private Placement Warrants on a cashless basis.

Redemption of deSPAC Warrants When the Price per Share of the Company's Common Stock Equals or Exceeds $108.00.
Once the deSPAC Warrants become exercisable, the Company may call the deSPAC Warrants for redemption:

• in whole and not in part;

• at a price of $0.01 per deSPAC Warrant;

• upon not less than 30 days' prior written notice of redemption (the "30-day redemption period") to each deSPAC
Warrant holder; and

• if, and only if, the last reported sale price of the shares of the Company's Common Stock for any 20 trading days
within a 30-trading day period commencing after the deSPAC Warrants become exercisable and ending three business
days before the Company sends the notice of redemption to the deSPAC Warrant holders (which is referred to as the
"Reference Value") equals or exceeds $108.00 per share (as adjusted for stock splits, stock dividends, reorganizations,
recapitalizations and the like).

If and when the deSPAC Warrants become redeemable by the Company, the Company may exercise its redemption right even
if it is unable to register or qualify the underlying securities for sale under all applicable state securities laws. However, the
Company will not redeem the deSPAC Warrants unless an effective registration statement under the Securities Act covering
the shares of the Company's Common Stock issuable upon exercise of the deSPAC Warrants is effective and a current
prospectus relating to those shares of the Company's Common Stock is available throughout the 30-day redemption period.

Redemption of deSPAC Warrants When the Price per Share of Our Common Stock Equals or Exceeds $60.00. Once the
deSPAC Warrants become exercisable, the Company may redeem the outstanding deSPAC Warrants (except as described
herein with respect to the deSPAC Private Placement Warrants if the Company does not utilize this redemption provision):

• in whole and not in part;

• at $0.10 per deSPAC Warrant upon a minimum of 30 days' prior written notice of redemption; provided that holders
will be able to exercise their deSPAC Warrants on a cashless basis prior to redemption and receive that number of
shares determined by reference to an agreed table based on the redemption date and the "fair market value" of the
Company's Common Stock;

• if, and only if, the Reference Value (as defined above) equals or exceeds $60.00 per share (as adjusted for stock splits,
stock dividends, reorganizations, recapitalizations and the like); and

• if the Reference Value is less than $108.00 per share (as adjusted for stock splits, stock dividends, reorganizations,
recapitalizations and the like) the deSPAC Private Placement Warrants must also be concurrently called for
redemption on the same terms (except as described above with respect to a holder's ability to cashless exercise its
deSPAC Warrants) as the outstanding deSPAC Public Warrants, as described above.
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Both the deSPAC Public Warrants and the deSPAC Private Placement Warrants are recorded as warrant liabilities on the
Company's consolidated balance sheets. The Company values both the deSPAC Public and deSPAC Private Placement
Warrants using the closing price of the deSPAC Public Warrants on the Nasdaq Global Market as of the reporting date. The
fair value measurement for the deSPAC Public Warrants is considered a level 1 fair value measurement, and the fair value
measurement for the deSPAC Private Placement Warrants is considered a level 2 fair value measurement, as the deSPAC
Private Placement Warrants are substantially the same, but not identical to, the deSPAC Public Warrants.

The Company recognized losses of $15.7 million and gains of $0.2 million related to the change in fair value of the deSPAC
Warrants during the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

8. 2024 Warrants

On November 1, 2024, the Company closed a registered direct offering for an aggregate of 2,790,700 shares of its common
stock at a purchase price of $2.15 per share. In a concurrent private placement, the Company agreed to issue to the same investor
warrants to purchase up to 2,790,700 shares of common stock (the "2024 Private Placement Warrants"). The 2024 Private
Placement Warrants have an exercise price of $2.30 per share, will be exercisable commencing six months from the date of
issuance, and will expire five and one-half years following the date of issue.

In a separate concurrent private placement, the Company's Chief Executive Officer and certain other members of the Board of
Directors purchased 430,105 shares of common stock at a price of $2.20 per share, which represented the consolidated closing
bid price of the Company's common stock on the Nasdaq Global Market on October 30, 2024, and warrants to purchase up
to 430,105 shares of common stock, at a price of $0.125 per warrant (the "2024 Concurrent Private Placement Warrants"). The
2024 Concurrent Private Placement Warrants have an exercise price of $2.30 per share, will be exercisable commencing six
months from the date of issuance, and will expire five and one-half years following the date of issue. The Company received
gross proceeds of approximately $7 million, before deducting placement agency fees and offering expenses, from the registered
and private placement offerings. The 2024 Private Placement Warrants and the 2024 Concurrent Private Placement Warrants
(together the "2024 Warrants") are recorded as warrant liabilities on the Company's consolidated balance sheet.

The Company estimated the fair value of the 2024 Warrants using the Monte Carlo valuation model, which is considered a
level 3 fair value measurement. The Monte Carlo valuation model inputs are based on assumptions related to the probability of
a fundamental transaction occurring, expected volatility, expected life, risk-free interest rate and expected dividends. These
estimates, especially the expected volatility, are highly judgmental and could differ materially in the future. The Company
recognized losses of $31.2 million related to the change in fair value of the 2024 Warrants during the year ended December 31,
2024, which are recorded as a loss on warrant liabilities within the consolidated statements of operations.

The following table provides quantitative information regarding assumptions used in the Monte Carlo model to determine the
fair value of the 2024 Warrants:

December 31,
2024

November 1,
2024

Stock price $ 12.27 $ 2.01
Term (in years) 5.34 5.50
Expected volatility 84.9 % 80.9 %
Risk-free rate 4.35 % 4.20 %
Dividend yield 0.0 % 0.0 %

9. Stock-Based Compensation

2021 Stock Plan

The Company's 2021 Equity Incentive Plan (the "2021 Plan") provides stock options, restricted stock units ("RSUs"), restricted
stock awards ("RSAs"), stock appreciation rights ("SARS") and performance awards for issuance to Company employees,
officers, directors, non-employee agents and consultants. In general, outstanding awards granted under the 2021 Plan vest over
one to four years and, in the case of options, are exercisable up to 10 years from the date of grant. The maximum number of
shares of Common Stock that may be issued pursuant to the 2021 Plan is (a) 5.0 million shares of Common Stock of the
Company plus (b) any shares of Common Stock subject to stock options and other awards that were assumed in the Business
Combination and expire or otherwise terminate without having been exercised in full, are tendered to or withheld by the
Company for payment of an exercise price or for tax withholding obligations, or are forfeited to or repurchased by the Company
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due to failure to vest, with the maximum number of shares to be added to the 2021 Plan pursuant to clause (b) equal to 2.1
million shares of Common Stock. As of December 31, 2024, 2.3 million shares were available for grant under the 2021 Plan.

2015 Stock Plan

The Old Sarcos 2015 Equity Incentive Plan (the "2015 Plan") provided stock options, RSUs, RSAs, SARS and performance
awards for issuance to Old Sarcos' employees, officers, directors, non-employee agents and consultants. Outstanding awards
under the 2015 Plan generally vest over three to five years and are exercisable up to 10 years from the date of grant. Unvested
options are forfeited upon termination. No further awards may be made under the 2015 Plan. Any forfeited awards will be
added to the 2021 Plan as described above.

2024 Inducement Plan

The Company adopted the 2024 Inducement Equity Incentive Plan (the "Inducement Plan") with an effective date of December
15, 2024, to reserve 500,000 shares of Common Stock to be used exclusively for grants of nonstatutory stock options, RSUs,
RSAs, SARS and performance awards to individuals who were not previously employees or directors of the Company (or who
are returning to employment following a bona fide period of non-employment), as an inducement material to the individual's
entry into employment with the Company, pursuant to Nasdaq Listing Rule 5635(c)(4). The Inducement Plan was adopted and
approved without stockholder approval pursuant to Nasdaq Listing Rule 5635(c)(4). As of December 15, 2024, 500,000 shares
of Common Stock will be available to grant under the Inducement Plan. As of December 31, 2024, no stock-based
compensation expense has been incurred with respect to the Inducement Plan.

2021 Employee Stock Purchase Plan

The 2021 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the "ESPP") provides for the issuance of shares of Common Stock pursuant to
purchase rights granted to employees over designated offering periods, by funds accumulated primarily through elective payroll
deductions. Offerings under the ESPP commenced in December 2024. As of December 31, 2024, no shares have been issued
under the ESPP.

Offering periods are generally six months long and begin on June 1 and December 1 of each year. The purchase price for shares
of Common Stock purchased under the ESPP is calculated as 85% of the lesser of the fair market value of the Common Stock
on (1) the first trading day of the applicable offering period or (2) the last trading day of the offering period.

Stock Option Activity

The following summarizes the Company's stock option activity for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023:

Weighted-Average

Options Outstanding Remaining
Aggregate
Intrinsic

Weighted Average Contractual Term Value
Number of Shares Exercise Price (In years) (In thousands)

Outstanding – December 31, 2022 2,377,503 $ 16.80 7.1 $ 698
Granted 1,859,200 2.78
Cancelled (1,391,619 ) 12.35

Outstanding – December 31, 2023 2,845,084 $ 9.82 7.2 $ 91
Granted 555,000 1.77
Exercised (203,480 ) 0.64 703
Cancelled (1,799,647 ) 10.93

Outstanding – December 31, 2024 1,396,957 $ 1.88 7.5 $ 14,519
Exercisable – December 31, 2023 1,250,104 $ 11.62 5.0 $ 91
Exercisable – December 31, 2024 443,045 $ 2.05 5.2 $ 4,527

For options granted during the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, the weighted-average grant-date fair value was $1.26
and $1.81 per option, respectively.
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The Company utilizes the Black-Scholes option pricing model for estimating the fair value of options granted, which requires
the input of subjective assumptions. The Company calculates the fair value of each option grant on the grant date using the
following assumptions:

Expected Term—Options granted generally vest over a period of 48 months and expire 10 years from date of grant. The
Company uses the simplified method when calculating expected term due to insufficient historical information.

Expected Volatility—Due to insufficient historical information the Company uses a blended approach when calculating
expected volatility. The Company uses its historic data for the periods it has been publicly-traded and a benchmark of
other comparable public companies' volatility rates.

Expected Dividend Yield—The dividend yield used is zero as the Company does not have a history of paying dividends
on its Common Stock and does not anticipate doing so in the foreseeable future.

Risk-Free Interest Rate—The interest rates used are based on the implied yield available on U.S. Treasury zero-coupon
issues with an equivalent remaining term equal to the expected life of the award.

The Company calculated the fair value of options granted under the 2021 Plan on the respective dates of grant using the
following weighted average assumptions:

Year Ended December 31,
2024 2023

Options
Risk-free interest rate 4.31 % 3.61 %
Expected term (in years) 5.89 6.08
Expected dividend yield — % — %
Expected volatility 80.39 % 69.96 %

Option Repricing

On April 17, 2024, the Company amended certain options to purchase 773,551 shares of the Company's Common Stock. All
of the options subject to the amendments had exercise prices that exceeded the value of the Company's Common Stock on the
amendment date.

One set of amendments, which were entered into with seven senior employees of the Company, applied to options to purchase
an aggregate of 225,670 shares held by those seven senior employees. These amendments (1) re-started the vesting schedule
of the amended options, including for options that had already vested and (2) reduced the per share exercise price of the options
to $1.59 (the "New Exercise Price"), which is equal to the closing price of the Company's Common Stock on April 17, 2024,
the effective date of the amendments. No other terms of these options were modified.

The other set of amendments applied to options to purchase an aggregate of 547,881 shares held by other eligible current
employees and service providers of the Company with an exercise price per share greater than the New Exercise Price. These
amendments reduced the per share exercise price of affected options to the New Exercise Price, which is equal to the closing
price of the Company's Common Stock on April 17, 2024, the effective date of the amendments. No other terms of such options
were modified.

The total incremental fair value to be recognized as a result of the amendments was $0.2 million. The incremental fair value
attributable to the vested options of $0.1 million was recognized as stock-based compensation expense during the twelve
months ended December 31, 2024. The remaining incremental fair value attributable to the unvested option shares will be
amortized over the remaining requisite service periods.
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Restricted Stock Units

The following summarizes the Company's employee RSU activity for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023:

Restricted Stock Units Outstanding

Number of Shares

Weighted-
Average Grant-
Date Fair Value

Outstanding – December 31, 2022 602,561 $ 22.01
Granted 1,383,938 2.56
Released (219,175 ) 18.36
Cancelled (587,209 ) 12.76

Outstanding – December 31, 2023 1,180,115 $ 4.49
Granted 1,544,319 1.00
Released (333,553 ) 3.99
Cancelled (933,600 ) 3.37

Outstanding – December 31, 2024 1,457,281 $ 1.62

RSUs granted generally include service vesting periods of one to four years.

Restricted Stock Awards

The following summarizes the Company's employee RSA activity for the year ended December 31, 2024:

Restricted Stock Awards Outstanding

Number of Shares

Weighted-
Average Grant-
Date Fair Value

Outstanding – December 31, 2023 — $ —
Granted 625,000 0.59
Released — —

Outstanding – December 31, 2024 625,000 $ 0.59

The Company did not have any RSA activity for the year ended December 31, 2023.

The Company recognized stock-based compensation expense in the consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive
loss as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
(In thousands) 2024 2023
Cost of revenue $ 30 $ 107
Research and development 115 1,127
Sales and marketing 604 808
General and administrative 2,056 5,606
Asset write-down and restructuring — 4,395

Total stock-based compensation expense $ 2,805 $ 12,043

As of December 31, 2024, there was approximately $3.6 million of unrecognized stock-based compensation cost, which is
expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 2.4 years.
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10. Net Loss Per Share

The following table sets forth the computation of the basic and diluted net loss per share attributable to common stockholders
for the twelve months ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively:

Year Ended December 31,
(In thousands, except share and per share data) 2024 2023
Numerator:

Net loss $ (72,617 ) $ (115,593 )
Denominator:

Weighted average shares outstanding, basic and diluted 26,774,895 25,639,270
Basic and diluted net loss per share $ (2.71 ) $ (4.51 )
Anti-dilutive securities, excluded 14,812,452 12,137,608

Basic and diluted net loss per share attributable to common stockholders is the same for the twelve months ended December 31,
2024 and 2023, as the inclusion of potential shares of Common Stock would have been anti-dilutive for the periods presented.

11. Income Taxes

Loss before provision for income taxes was $72.6 million and $115.6 million for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023,
respectively, all of which was generated in the United States. The Company's provision for income taxes consists of the
following:

Year Ended December 31,
(In thousands) 2024 2023
Current:

Federal $ — $ —
State (5) (7)

Total current (5) (7)
Deferred:

Federal 5,641 24,972
State (4,933) 9,109
Change in valuation allowance (708) (34,081)

Total deferred — —
Total income tax benefit (expense) $ (5) $ (7)

The Company's provision for income tax differs from the amount computed by applying the statutory federal income tax rate
to income before taxes as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
(In thousands) 2024 2023
Statutory federal income tax rate 21.0 % 21.0 %
State tax provision (3.6 ) 5.0
Change in valuation allowance (1.0 ) (29.5 )
Research credits 0.3 2.0
Change in effective tax rate (1.2 ) 0.4
Warrant liability revaluation (13.7 ) —
Disallowed executive compensation — (0.3 )
Stock compensation (1.3 ) (1.8 )
Unrecognized tax benefits (0.5 ) 1.2
Other — 2.0

Total provision for income taxes 0.0 % 0.0 %
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As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the net deferred tax assets consisted of the following:

December 31,
(In thousands) 2024 2023
Deferred tax assets:

Accrued expenses $ 234 $ 283
Stock compensation 1,994 3,293
Research credits 8,427 8,527
Research and experimental capitalization 13,430 18,238
Lease liability 2,588 3,592
Intangibles 230 308
Net operating loss carryforwards 55,380 48,496
Other 2 3

Total gross deferred tax assets 82,285 82,740
Less valuation allowance (79,323) (78,615)
Total deferred tax assets 2,962 4,125
Deferred tax liabilities:

Property and equipment (889) (1,201)
Intangibles — —
Right-of-use-asset (2,073) (2,924)

Total deferred tax liabilities (2,962) (4,125)
Net deferred tax assets $ — $ —

Valuation allowances are established when necessary to reduce deferred tax assets, including temporary differences and net
operating loss carryforwards, to the amount expected to be realized in the future. FASB guidance indicates that forming a
conclusion that a valuation allowance is not needed is difficult when there is negative evidence such as cumulative losses in
recent years. The Company had cumulative losses from continuing operations for the three-year period ended December 31,
2024. The Company considered this negative evidence along with all other available positive and negative evidence and
concluded that, at December 31, 2024, it is more likely than not that the Company's U.S. deferred tax assets will not be realized.
As of December 31, 2024, a valuation allowance has been recorded on the Company's deferred tax assets to recognize only the
portion of the deferred tax asset that is more likely than not to be recognized. The Company's total valuation allowance was
$79.3 million at December 31, 2024 and $78.6 million at December 31, 2023. The Company's valuation allowance increased
$0.7 million and $34.1 million during the fiscal years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. A reconciliation of the
beginning and ending amount of the valuation allowance is as follows:

December 31,
(In thousands) 2024 2023
Valuation allowance at beginning of year $ 78,615 $ 44,540
Change in valuation allowance 708 34,075
Valuation allowance at end of year $ 79,323 $ 78,615

As of December 31, 2024, the Company had cumulative federal net operating losses of approximately $230.7 million. Of these
losses, $7.6 million were generated in 2015 through 2017, prior to the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act enactment, and will expire
between 2035 to 2037 if not utilized. The remaining net operating losses have an indefinite carryforward period. As of
December 31, 2023, the Company had cumulative federal net operating losses of approximately $201.5 million.

As of December 31, 2024, the Company had a $9.1 million deferred tax asset related to a federal research and development
credit carryforward. This credit has been offset by a liability for unrecognized tax benefits of $2.3 million. If not utilized, the
credits will expire between 2034 through 2043. As of December 31, 2023, the Company had a $8.4 million deferred tax asset
related to a federal research and development credit carryforward.

As of December 31, 2024, the Company had State net operating losses of approximately $183.7 million. Of the total State net
operating losses, approximately $150.3 million is attributable to Utah. Utah law allows unused net operating losses arising in
tax years beginning after December 31, 2008 to be carried forward indefinitely. All of the Utah net operating losses are for tax
years beginning after December 31, 2008, and are carried forward indefinitely. Of the total State net operating losses,
approximately $23.9 million is attributable to Pennsylvania. Pennsylvania net operating losses will expire between 2034
through 2043. The remaining State net operating loss carryforwards are attributable to various other states with varying
expiration periods. As of December 31, 2023, the Company had cumulative State net operating losses of approximately $145.5
million. Of the total State net operation losses as of December 31, 2023, approximately $116.2 million is attributable to Utah.
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As of December 31, 2024, the Company had a $2.5 million deferred tax asset related to State research and development credits
carryforward. Of the total State research and development credits, approximately $1.9 million is attributable to Utah. This
credit has been offset by a liability for unrecognized tax benefits of $0.5 million. If not utilized, the credits will expire between
2029 through 2037. Of the total State research and development credits, approximately $0.6 million is attributable to
Pennsylvania. If not utilized, the credits will expire between 2033 through 2037. As of December 31, 2023, the Company had
a $1.8 million deferred tax asset related to a Utah research and development credit carryforward. This credit has been offset by
a liability for unrecognized tax benefits of $0.3 million.

Utilization of federal and state net operating losses and tax credit carryforwards may be subject to annual limitations due to the
ownership change limitations provided by Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code and similar state provisions. Such a
limitation could result in the expiration of the net operating loss carryforwards and tax credits before utilization.

ASC Topic 740-10-05 requires that the impact of a tax position be recognized in the financial statements if that position is more
likely than not of being sustained on audit, based on the technical merits of the position. As of December 31, 2024, the Company
had a $2.7 million liability for unrecognized tax benefits, all of which is netted against deferred tax assets for related
carryforward credits. As of December 31, 2023, the Company had a $2.4 million liability for unrecognized tax benefits, all of
which is netted against deferred tax assets for related carryforward credits. The Company expects no material changes to the
liability for unrecognized tax benefits in the next 12 months. Interest and penalties associated with uncertain tax positions are
recorded as a component of income tax expense. There would be no impact to the Company's effective rate if the unrecognized
tax benefits were recognized. A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amounts of unrecognized benefits is as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
(In thousands) 2024 2023
Unrecognized tax benefits at the beginning of year $ 2,446 $ 3,898
Gross increases – current year tax positions 106 1,170
Gross increases – prior year tax positions 186 —
Gross decreases – prior year tax positions — (2,622 )
Unrecognized tax benefits at end of year $ 2,738 $ 2,446

The Company files U.S. and various State tax returns in jurisdictions with various statutes of limitation. As of December 31,
2024, the tax returns for fiscal year 2015 through fiscal year 2023 remain subject to examination. Annual tax provisions include
amounts considered necessary to pay assessments that may result from examination of prior year tax returns; however, the
amount ultimately paid upon resolution of issues may differ materially from the amount accrued. As of December 31, 2024,
there are no income tax returns currently under audit.

12. Commitments and Contingencies

Legal Proceedings

The Company has been and may in the future be involved in various claims, lawsuits, investigations and other proceedings in
the normal course of business. The Company accrues a liability when management believes information available prior to the
issuance of its financial statements indicates it is probable a loss has been incurred as of the date of the financial statements
and the amount of loss can be reasonably estimated. The Company adjusts its accruals to reflect the impact of negotiation,
settlements, rulings, advice of legal counsel and other information and events pertaining to a particular case. Legal costs are
expensed as incurred. The Company has not recorded any material loss contingency related to legal proceedings in the balance
sheets as of December 31, 2024 and 2023.
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Indemnifications

In the ordinary course of business, the Company provides or may provide indemnifications of varying scope and terms to
investors, directors, officers, employees, customers or vendors with respect to certain matters, including losses arising out of
the Company's breach of such agreements, services to be provided by the Company or from intellectual property infringement
claims made by third parties. These indemnifications may survive termination of the underlying agreement and the maximum
potential amount of future payments the Company could be required to make under these indemnification provisions may not
be subject to maximum loss clauses. The maximum potential amount of future payments the Company could be required to
make under these indemnification provisions is indeterminable. As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company has not
accrued a liability for these indemnification obligations as the likelihood of incurring a material payment obligation in
connection with these indemnification obligations is either not probable or not reasonably estimable due to the unique facts and
circumstances involved.

13. Segment Information

The Company has determined that it has a single operating segment. The Company has historically derived revenues from
product development contracts focused on the development of technologies included within the Company's AI/ML
Foundational Technology, which the Company expects to commercialize and sell under software license arrangements. The
accounting policies of the segment are the same as those described in Note 1, Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant
Accounting Policies.

The Company's Chief Executive Officer is the Chief Operating Decision Maker ("CODM"). The CODM allocates resources
and makes operating decisions based on consolidated net income. The CODM does not evaluate profitability below the level
of the consolidated company. Net loss is used to monitor results on a budget versus actual basis. Net loss is adjusted for various
non-recurring and non-cash transactions such as stock compensation expenses and impairment expenses.

The following table presents selected financial information with respect to the Company's single operating segment:

Year Ended December 31,
(In thousands) 2024 2023
Segment Revenue $ 5,120 $ 5,256
Other Revenue (1) 2,666 890
Total Revenue 7,786 6,146
Less:

Cost of revenue 2,393 4,934
Research and development 10,322 37,885
General and administrative 14,013 25,275
Sales and marketing 3,530 10,020
Other (2) 4,451 48,988
Interest income, net (1,244 ) (3,294 )
(Loss) gain on warrant liabilities 46,935 (162 )
Other income, net (2 ) (1,914 )
Income tax expense 5 7

Net loss $ (72,617 ) $ (115,593 )

(1) Other revenue includes revenue from legacy product sales.

(2) Other for the year ended December 31, 2024, includes $1.1 million of cost of revenue from legacy product sales,
$2.8 million of stock compensation expenses, $0.6 million of other non-recurring or non-cash transactions. Other
for the year ended December 31, 2023, includes $7.6 million of stock compensation expenses, $38.5 million of
asset write-off and restructuring charges and employee separation related expenses, and $2.8 million of intangible
amortization expense.
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The Company's revenue is derived primarily from U.S. customers. During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company
had no revenue earned from customers located outside the United States. During the year ended December 31, 2023, the
Company had $1.9 million of revenue earned from customers located outside the United States.

All long-lived assets are maintained in the United States. All losses are attributable to operations within the United States.

14. Employee Benefits

The Company has defined contribution 401(k) plans covering substantially all employees as of December 31, 2024. The plans
allow employees to defer up to 100% of their employment income (subject to annual contribution limits imposed by the I.R.S.)
after all taxes and applicable benefit deductions. The Company provides employees with 401(k) matching contributions. The
Company recognized $0.6 million and $1.5 million of expense for 401(k) matching contributions during the twelve months
ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

15. Subsequent Events

From January 1, 2025 through the date of this filing, the Company sold 1,335,807 shares of Common Stock under the at-the-
market equity offering program for gross proceeds of $14.4 million, before deducting commission and other expenses.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures.

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Disclosure controls are procedures that are designed with the objective of ensuring that information required to be disclosed in
our reports filed under the Exchange Act, such as this Report, is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time
period specified in the SEC rules and forms. Disclosure controls and procedures are also designed with the objective of ensuring
that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including the chief executive officer and chief
financial officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. Our management evaluated, with the
participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer (our "Certifying Officers"), the effectiveness of our
disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the fiscal quarter ended December 31, 2024, pursuant to Rule 13a-15(b)
under the Exchange Act. Based upon that evaluation, our Certifying Officers concluded that our disclosure controls and
procedures were effective as of December 31, 2024.

We do not expect that our disclosure controls and procedures will prevent all errors and all instances of fraud. Disclosure
controls and procedures, no matter how well conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that
the objectives of the disclosure controls and procedures are met. Further, the design of disclosure controls and procedures must
reflect the fact that there are resource constraints, and the benefits must be considered relative to their costs. Because of the
inherent limitations in all disclosure controls and procedures, no evaluation of disclosure controls and procedures can provide
absolute assurance that we have detected all our control deficiencies and instances of fraud, if any. The design of disclosure
controls and procedures also is based partly on certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and there can be no
assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions.

Management's Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as such
term is defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f). Under the supervision of our Certifying Officers, management
conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2024, based on
the framework set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) in "Internal
Control-Integrated Framework." Based on that evaluation, management has concluded that our internal control over financial
reporting was effective as of December 31, 2024.

This Annual Report on Form 10-K does not include an attestation report of our independent registered public accounting firm
as permitted due to our status as an emerging growth company under the JOBS Act.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There was no change in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the fiscal quarter ended December 31,
2024 covered by this Report that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over
financial reporting.

Item 9B. Other Information.

None of our directors or executive officers adopted or terminated a Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement
or adopted or terminated a non-Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement (as defined in Item 408(c) of Regulation S-K) during the
quarter ended December 31, 2024.

Item 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspections.

Not applicable.
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PART III

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Executive Officers and Directors
The information required by this item with respect to our executive officers is set forth in Part I of this Annual Report on Form
10-K under the caption "Information about our Executive Officers," and information relating to the availability of our code of
conduct for executive officers and directors is set forth below. The other information required by this item is incorporated by
reference to our definitive proxy statement to be filed in connection with the 2025 Annual Meeting of Stockholders no later
than 120 days after December 31, 2024.

Code of Ethics

We have adopted a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics applicable to our directors, executive officers and employees. The
Code of Business Conduct and Ethics codifies the business and ethical principles that govern all aspects of our business. The
full text of our code of business conduct and ethics is posted on the investor relations page on our website at
https://investor.palladyneai.com/governance/documents-charters. In addition, a copy of the Code of Ethics will be provided
without charge upon request to us in writing at 650 South 500 West, Salt Lake City, Utah 84101 or by telephone at 888-927-
7296. Any amendments to or waivers of the Code of Conduct will be disclosed on our website.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to our definitive proxy statement to be filed in connection
with the 2025 Annual Meeting of Stockholders no later than 120 days after December 31, 2024.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND
RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to our definitive proxy statement to be filed in connection
with the 2025 Annual Meeting of Stockholders no later than 120 days after December 31, 2024.
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ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to our definitive proxy statement to be filed in connection
with the 2025 Annual Meeting of Stockholders no later than 120 days after December 31, 2024.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to our definitive proxy statement to be filed in connection
with the 2025 Annual Meeting of Stockholders no later than 120 days after December 31, 2024.
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules.

a) (1) Financial Statements

See Index to consolidated financial statements in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

(2) Financial Statement Schedule

All financial statement schedules have been omitted because they are either not applicable or the required information is shown
in the consolidated financial statements or notes thereto.

(3) Exhibits

See the Exhibit Index which precedes the signature page of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

b) Exhibits

See Item 15(a)(3) above.

c) Financial Statement Schedules

See Item 15(a)(2) above.

In reviewing the agreements included as exhibits to this Annual Report on Form 10-K, please remember that they are included
to provide you with information regarding their terms and are not intended to provide any other factual or disclosure information
about the Company or the other parties to the agreement. The agreements may contain representations and warranties that the
parties made to each other as of specific dates. The assertions embodied in those representations and warranties were made
solely for purposes of the applicable agreement and may be subject to important qualifications and limitations agreed to by the
parties in connection with negotiating the terms of such agreement. In addition, such representations and warranties: (1) may
not be accurate or complete as of any specified date; (2) are modified and qualified in important part by the underlying
disclosure schedules; (3) may be subject to a contractual standard of materiality different from those generally applicable to
investors; or (4) may have been used for the purpose of allocating risk among the parties to the applicable agreement, rather
than establishing matters as facts. Moreover, information concerning the subject matter of the representations and warranties
may change after the date of the applicable agreement, which subsequent information may or may not be fully reflected in
Company's public disclosures. For the foregoing reasons, the representations and warranties should not be relied upon as
statements of factual information.

Exhibit
Number Description

2.1† Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of April 5, 2021, by and among the Company, Rotor Merger Sub
Corp. and Old Sarcos (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K
filed with the SEC on April 6, 2021).

2.2 Amendment No. 1 to Merger Agreement, dated as of August 28, 2021, by and among the Company, Rotor
Merger Sub Corp. and Old Sarcos (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Company's Current Report
on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on August 30, 2021).

2.3† Merger Agreement, dated March 27, 2022, by and among the Company, Spiral Merger Sub I, Inc., Spiral
Merger Sub II, LLC, RE2, Inc. and Draper Triangle Ventures III, LP, solely in its capacity as the agent for and
on behalf of the shareholders of RE2 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Company's Current
Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on March 29, 2022).

3.1 Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Company (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 3.1 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on September 30, 2021).

3.2 Certificate of Amendment of Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Company (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on June 20,
2023).
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3.3 Certificate of Amendment of Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Company (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on March 18,
2024).

3.4 Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Company's
Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on March 18, 2024).

4.1 Warrant Agreement between Continental Transfer & Trust Company and the Registrant (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 4.4 to the Company's Registration Statement on Form S-1/A filed with the SEC on
December 30, 2020).

4.2 Specimen Warrant Certificate (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to the Company's Registration
Statement on Form S-1/A filed with the SEC on December 30, 2020).

4.3 Specimen Stock Certificate (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Company's Current Report on Form
8-K filed on September 30, 2021).

4.4 Form of Common Warrant (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Company's Current Report on Form
8-K filed with the SEC on October 31, 2024).

4.5* Description of the Company's Securities.
10.1 Letter Agreement between Rotor, Rotor Sponsor LLC and Riverview LLC (incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.4 the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on January 20, 2021).
10.2 Form of Letter Agreement between the Company, Rotor Sponsor LLC and Black Rock Funds (incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on January 20,
2021).

10.3 Form of Subscription Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company's Current Report
on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on April 6, 2021).

10.4 Form of Waiver Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to the Company's Current Report on
Form 8-K filed with the SEC on April 6, 2021).

10.5 Form of Registration Rights Agreement, by and among the Company, Rotor Sponsor LLC and certain
stockholders of Sarcos (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-
K filed with the SEC on April 6, 2021).

10.6 Form of Indemnification Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.16 to the Company's Current
Report on Form 8-K filed on September 30, 2021).

10.7+ Sarcos 2015 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to the Company's Current
Report on Form 8-K filed on September 30, 2021).

10.8+ Palladyne AI Corp. 2021 Equity Incentive Plan, forms of agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8
the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on September 30, 2021).

10.9+ Palladyne AI Corp. Amended and Restated 2021 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC for the quarter ended
September 30, 2024).

10.10+ Palladyne AI Corp. 2024 Inducement Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to the
Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on October 31, 2024).

10.11 Form of Restricted Stock Agreement under the 2021 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.19 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC for the year ended December
31, 2023)

10.12+ Amended and Restated Outside Director Compensation Policy (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the
Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC for the quarter ended March 31, 2024).

10.13+ Employment Agreement, dated June 12, 2023, among Denis Garagic, Sarcos Corp. and the Company
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on
June 16, 2023).

10.14+ Employment Agreement Amendment, dated March 28, 2024, among Denis Garagic, Sarcos Corp. and the
Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed
with the SEC for the quarter ended March 31, 2024).

10.15+ Employment Agreement, dated January 30, 2023, among Stephen Sonne, Sarcos Corp. and the Company
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.13 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC
for the year ended December 31, 2023).

10.16+ Employment Agreement Amendment, dated March 28, 2024, among Stephen Sonne, Sarcos Corp. and the
Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed
with the SEC for the quarter ended March 31, 2024).
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10.17+ Employment Agreement, dated March 5, 2024, among Trevor Thatcher, Sarcos Corp. and the Company
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on
March 6, 2024).

10.18+ Employment Agreement, dated January 11, 2024, between the Company, Sarcos Corp. and Matthew Vogt
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC
for the year ended December 31, 2023).

10.19+ Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, dated December 26, 2024, among Benjamin G. Wolff, Sarcos
Corp. and the Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Current Report on Form
8-K filed with the SEC on December 27, 2024).

10.20+ Peterson Offer Letter, between the Company, Sarcos Corp. and Laura Peterson, dated January 17, 2024
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on
January 19, 2024).

10.21+ Separation Agreement and Release, dated as of March 14, 2024, among the Company, Sarcos Corp. and
Andrew Hamer (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed
with the SEC on March 26, 2024).

10.22+ Retention Bonus Letter Agreement, dated January 19, 2024, among Denis Garagic, Sarcos Corp. and the
Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed
with the SEC for the quarter ended March 31, 2024).

10.23+ Retention Bonus Letter Agreement, dated January 19, 2024, among Andrew Hamer, Sarcos Corp. and the
Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed
with the SEC for the quarter ended March 31, 2024).

10.24+ Retention Bonus Letter Agreement, dated January 19, 2024, among Stephen Sonne, Sarcos Corp. and the
Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.11 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed
with the SEC for the quarter ended March 31, 2024).

10.25+ Retention Bonus Letter Agreement, dated March 19, 2024, among Matthew Vogt, Sarcos Corp. and the
Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed
with the SEC for the quarter ended March 31, 2024).

10.26+ Amendment to Option Agreements, dated April 16, 2024, by and between the Company and Denis Garagic
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.13 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the
SEC for the quarter ended March 31, 2024).

10.27+ Amendment to Option Agreements, dated April 16, 2024, by and between the Company and Stephen Sonne
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.14 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the
SEC for the quarter ended March 31, 2024).

10.28+ Amendment to Option Agreements, dated April 16, 2024, by and between the Company and Trevor Thatcher
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.15 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the
SEC for the quarter ended March 31, 2024).

10.29+ Amendment to Option Agreements, dated April 16, 2024, by and between the Company and Matthew Vogt
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.16 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the
SEC for the quarter ended March 31, 2024).

10.30 Open Market Sale AgreementSM, dated November 13, 2024, by and between the Company and Jefferies LLC
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-K filed with the
SEC for the quarter ended September 30, 2024).

10.31 Form of Investor Purchase Agreement, dated October 31, 2024 entered into by and between the Company and
the Purchasers (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed
with the SEC on October 31, 2024).

10.32 Form of Insiders Purchase Agreement, dated October 31, 2024 entered into by and between the Company and
the Purchasers (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed
with the SEC on October 31, 2024).

10.33 Form of Lock-Up Agreement entered into by and between the Company and the Purchasers (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on October 31,
2024).

10.34 Placement Agent Agreement, dated October 31, 2024 entered into by and between the Company and
A.G.P./Alliance Global Partners (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Company's Current Report
on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on October 31, 2024).
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16.1 Letter from Ernst & Young LLP to the Securities and Exchange Commission dated April 9, 2024 (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 16.1 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on April 9,
2024).

19*† Insider Trading Policy.
21* List of Subsidiaries.
23.1* Consent of KPMG LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
23.2* Consent of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
24* Power of Attorney (included on the signature page)
31.1* Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) under the Securities

Exchange Act of 1934, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
31.2* Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) under the Securities

Exchange Act of 1934, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
32.1** Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to

Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
32.2** Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section

906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
97 Compensation Recovery Policy (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 97 to the Company's Annual Report on

Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2023)
101.INS Inline XBRL Instance Document – the instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data File because

XBRL tags are embedded within the Inline XBRL document.
101.SCH Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema With Embedded Linkbase Documents
104 Cover Page Interactive Data File (embedded within the Inline XBRL document)

* Filed herewith.

** Furnished herewith

+ Indicates management contract or compensatory plan.

† Schedules and exhibits to this Exhibit omitted pursuant to Regulation S-K Item 601(b)(2). The Registrant agrees to furnish
supplementally a copy of any omitted schedule or exhibit to the SEC upon request.
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Item 16. Form 10-K Summary

None.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the Registrant has duly caused this
Report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

PALLADYNE AI CORP.

Date: February 20, 2025 By: /s/ Benjamin G. Wolff
Benjamin G. Wolff
President and Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive
Officer)

Date: February 20, 2025 By: /s/ Trevor Thatcher
Trevor Thatcher
Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial and Accounting
Officer)
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POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints Benjamin G.
Wolff and Trevor Thatcher and each one of them, as his or her true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, with full power of substitution
and resubstitution, for him or her and in their name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign any amendments to this Annual Report
on Form 10-K and to file the same, with Exhibits thereto and other documents in connection therewith with the Securities and Exchange
Commission, hereby ratifying and confirming all that each of said attorneys-in-fact, or substitute or substitutes may do or cause to be done
by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, this Annual Report on Form 10-K has been signed below
by the following persons on behalf of the Registrant in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date

/s/Benjamin G. Wolff President, Chief Executive Officer and Director February 20, 2025
Benjamin G. Wolff (Principal Executive Officer)

/s/ Trevor Thatcher Chief Financial Officer February 20, 2025
Trevor Thatcher (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

/s/ Dennis Weibling Chairman of the Board February 20, 2025
Dennis Weibling

/s/ Brian D. Finn Director February 20, 2025
Brian D. Finn

/s/ Matthew Shigenobu Muta Director February 20, 2025
Matthew Shigenobu Muta

/s/ Eric T. Olson Director February 20, 2025
Eric T. Olson

/s/ Laura J. Peterson Director February 20, 2025
Laura J. Peterson
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